THE TRUMP FORTUNE
(Estimates as of March 1, 2020)
ASSET | VALUE | DEPT | TRUMP’S STAKE | TRUMP’S EQUITY |
555 California St. (San Francisco) | $2.3 billion | $548 million | 30% | $517 million |
1290 Ave. of the Americas (NYC) | $2.5 billion | $950 million | 30% | $457 million |
40 Wall St. (NYC) | $471 million | $141 million | 100% | $330 million |
Trump Tower (NYC) | $330 million | $100 million | 100% | $230 million |
6 East 57th St. (NYC) | $211 million | $0 | 100% | $211 million |
Ten U.S. golf clubs | $210 million | $18 million | 100% | $192 million |
Mar-a-Lago (Palm Beach, Fla.) | $170 million | $0 | 100% | $170 million |
Trump Park Ave. (NYC) | $173 million | $10 million | 100% | $163 million |
Cash | $160 million | $0 | 100% | $160 million |
Trump National Doral Miami | $209 million | $125 million | 100% | $84 million |
Hotel management and licensing | $80 million | $0 | Various | $80 million |
Scotland and Ireland golf clubs | $79 million | $0 | 100% | $79 million |
Trump Int’l Hotel Las Vegas | $136 million | $0 | 50% | $68 million |
Trump Tower penthouse (NYC) | $52 million | $0 | 100% | $52 million |
Trump Parc East (NYC) | $30 million | $0 | 100% | $30 million |
Winery (Charlottesville, Va.) | $30 million | $0 | 100% | $30 million |
Estate (Bedford, N.Y.) | $30 million | $0 | 100% | $30 million |
Two airplanes and two helicopters | $27 million | $0 | 100% | $27 million |
Palm Beach, Fla., houses | $36 million | $11 million | 100% | $25 million |
Trump Plaza (NYC) | $37 million | $13 million | 100% | $24 million |
Trump World Tower (NYC) | $24 million | $0 | 100% | $24 million |
Trump Int’l Hotel Washington, D.C. | $200 million | $170 million | 77.5% | $23 million |
Caribbean estate (St. Martin) | $13 million | $0 | 100% | $13 million |
Undeveloped lots in California | $12 million | $0 | 100% | $12 million |
Trump Parc (NYC) | $11 million | $0 | 100% | $11 million |
Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower (NYC) | $14 million | $6.5 million | 100% | $7.5 million |
Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower Chicago | $96 million | $95 million | 100% | $1 million |
Virginia homes | $1.5 million | $0 | 100% | $1.5 million |
Product licensing | $500,000 | $0 | 100% | $500,000 |
Total assets (attributable to Trump): $4.2 billion
Total debt (attributable to Trump): $1.1 billion
NET WORTH: $3.1 billion
Source: Dan Alexander for Forbes
THE MULTIBILLION-DOLLAR PRESIDENCY
Donald Trump elected to donate his $400,000 annual salary as president. He doesn’t need the government check. By the time Trump’s first two years in office were over, his businesses had already collected an estimated $1.2 billion in revenue. That put the president on pace to haul in $2.4 billion of revenue by the end of his first term and $4.9 billion by the end of his potential second term. Here, for the first time ever, is a look at all the money flowing into the president’s business.
ASSET | 2017-2018 REVENUE (EST.) | ON PACE TO HIT AFTER ONE TERM IN OFFICE | ON PACE TO HIT AFTER TWO TERMS IN OFFICE |
U.S. golf clubs | $216 million | $432 million | $864 million |
Trump National Doral Miami | $151 million | $301 million | $603 million |
1290 Ave. of the Americas (NYC) | $108 million | $217 million | $433 million |
40 Wall St. (NYC) | $84 million | $168 million | $336 million |
Trump Int’l Hotel Washington, D.C. | $81 million | $163 million | $325 million |
Real estate management and licensing | $81 million | $162 million | $324 million |
Scotland and Ireland golf clubs | $80 million | $159 million | $318 million |
555 California St. (San Francisco) | $78 million | $156 million | $311 million |
Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower Chicago | $72 million | $144 million | $288 million |
Trump Tower (NYC) | $69 million | $137 million | $275 million |
Mar-a-Lago (Palm Beach, Fla.) | $48 million | $96 million | $191 million |
6 East 57th St. (NYC) | $26 million | $52 million | $104 million |
Trump Int’l Hotel Las Vegas | $26 million | $52 million | $104 million |
Other | $25 million | $50 million | $100 million |
Skating rink and carousel (NYC) | $19 million | $37 million | $75 million |
Restaurants | $8 million | $16 million | $33 million |
Trump Park Avenue (NYC) | $8 million | $16 million | $32 million |
Trump Plaza (NYC) | $5 million | $11 million | $21 million |
Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower (NYC) | $5 million | $9 million | $18 million |
Real estate brokerage | $4 million | $8 million | $16 million |
Trump Parc East (NYC) | $4 million | $8 million | $16 million |
Trump World Tower (NYC) | $2 million | $5 million | $9 million |
Trump Parc (NYC) | $1 million | $2 million | $5 million |
TOTAL | $1.2 billion | $2.4 billion | $4.9 billion |
Note: For buildings in which Donald Trump holds a stake of less than 100%, estimates represent revenue attributable to the president.
PRESIDENTIAL PROFITS (2017)
In 2017, President Trump hauled in an estimated $150 million of profit from operations at his various businesses. A serious haul, even though an estimated $42 million of it covered interest payments. Below, a first-of-its-kind look into how the president’s properties fared during his first year in office.
PROPERTY | EST. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS | EST. INTEREST EXPENSE |
1290 Ave. of the Americas (NYC) | $28 million | $10 million |
U.S. golf clubs | $22 million | $600,000 |
40 Wall St. (NYC) | $20 million | $6 million |
555 California St. (San Francisco) | $20 million | $9 million |
Trump Tower (NYC) | $14 million | $4.2 million |
Hotel management and licensing | $12 million | $0 |
6 East 57th St. (NYC) | $11 million | $50,000 |
Mar-a-Lago (Palm Beach, Fla.) | $6 million | $0 |
Trump National Doral Miami | $4.3 million | $4 million |
Trump Int’l Hotel Washington, D.C. | $4 million | $4.4 million |
Trump Park Avenue (NYC) | $3.1 million | $400,000 |
Trump Int’l Hotel Las Vegas | $2.6 million | $900,000 |
Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower (Chicago) | $2.5 million | $1.6 million |
Trump Plaza (NYC) | $1.7 million | $600,000 |
Spring Creek Towers (NYC) | $1.4 million | $800,000 |
Winery (Charlottesville, Va.) | $1 million | $0 |
Trump World Tower (NYC) | $1 million | $0 |
Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower (NYC) | $900,000 | $300,000 |
Trump Parc East (NYC) | $600,000 | $0 |
Product licensing | $500,000 | $0 |
Trump Parc (NYC) | $500,000 | $0 |
Palm Beach, Fla., houses | $0 | $5,000 |
Estate (Westchester County, N.Y.) | $0 | $250,000 |
Trump Int’l Golf Links (Scotland) | - $1.7 million | $0 |
Trump Int’l Golf Links (Ireland) | - $2.1 million | $0 |
Trump Turnberry (Scotland) | - $4 million | $0 |
TOTAL | $150 million | $42 million |
Note: For buildings in which Donald Trump holds a stake of less than 100%, estimates represent profits attributable to the president.
PRESIDENTIAL PROFITS (2018)
By Trump’s second year in office, his last name was more famous than ever. That wasn’t necessarily a good thing for his business. Fewer people paid him less money to license the Trump brand for products and properties. But Trump got a boost from two buildings without his name on them: 1290 Avenue of the Americas, in New York City, and 555 California Street, in San Francisco. His business also managed to juice profits at Doral even though revenues stayed relatively flat.
PROPERTY | EST. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS | EST. INTEREST EXPENSE |
1290 Ave. of the Americas (NYC) | $32 million | $10 million |
555 California St. (San Francisco) | $23 million | $9 million |
40 Wall St. (NYC) | $21 million | $6 million |
U.S. golf clubs | $21 million | $600,000 |
Trump Tower (NYC) | $15 million | $4.2 million |
6 East 57th St. (NYC) | $11 million | $0 |
Trump National Doral Miami | $10 million | $5 million |
Hotel management and licensing | $8 million | $0 |
Trump Int’l Hotel Las Vegas | $6 million | $200,000 |
Mar-a-Lago (Palm Beach, Fla.) | $5 million | $0 |
Trump Int’l Hotel Washington, D.C. | $4 million | $6 million |
Trump Park Avenue (NYC) | $3.1 million | $350,000 |
Trump Plaza (NYC) | $1.7 million | $500,000 |
Trump World Tower (NYC) | $1 million | $0 |
Winery (Charlottesville, Va.) | $1 million | $0 |
Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower (Chicago) | $900,000 | $2 million |
Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower (NYC) | $800,000 | $300,000 |
Trump Parc East (NYC) | $700,000 | $0 |
Spring Creek Towers (NYC) | $500,000 | $350,000 |
Trump Parc (NYC) | $500,000 | $0 |
Palm Beach, Fla., houses | $200,000 | $250,000 |
Product licensing | $100,000 | $0 |
Estate (Westchester County, N.Y.) | $0 | $250,000 |
Trump Int’l Golf Links (Scotland) | - $1.4 million | $0 |
Trump Int’l Golf Links (Ireland) | - $1.7 million | $0 |
Trump Turnberry (Scotland) | - $3.5 million | $0 |
TOTAL | $161 million | $43 million |
Note: For buildings in which Donald Trump holds a stake of less than 100%, estimates represent profits attributable to the president.
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At a time when journalism is under fire, I believe it is important for reporters to show their work. To that end, I have included an unusual number of endnotes throughout the book. As you will see, this account is based primarily upon documents, buttressed by interviews. It includes hundreds of financial figures. All estimates for the value of assets are as of March 1, 2020, unless otherwise indicated. Outside fact-checkers spent months reviewing every line of the book. The White House received a detailed list of questions before publication. A spokesperson responded, “These are all questions for Trump Org.” The Trump Organization did not respond to requests for comment.
Prologue
In the heart of San Francisco’s Financial District, a few blocks from the Transamerica Pyramid Center that defines the city’s skyline, sits a 52-story tower, the kind you might find in any major city. Its name, 555 California Street, is as forgettable as its appearance, all brown and black and boring. Inside, a team of security guards watches over the elevator banks in the lobby, checking IDs. They are protecting more than just office space.
To get past them and into the heart of the building, I signed up for a desk in a coworking space on the 49th floor before arriving. Once there, I ride down to a different floor, the 43rd, and walk off the elevator. Before me stands a pristine office with shiny concrete floors, subdued gray couches, empty chairs, and a sign that spells out “Qatar Investment Authority Advisory (USA) Inc.” and, in smaller type, “A subsidiary of the Qatar Investment Authority.” Nothing inside the place looks as if it has been touched. There is a marble welcome desk but no one to welcome visitors. On top of the counter rests a plant that looks like it has been dead for months.
I rap my knuckles on the glass doors to see if anyone is inside. No one answers, even though it’s the middle of the afternoon. The next day, in the morning, I return to the same scene. Again I knock. And again no one answers.
Why would anyone, much less an entity that serves as an arm of the Qatari government, bother outfitting an empty office in an expensive San Francisco skyscraper? Well, consider who owns the building. The lobby features signs for Vornado Realty Trust, the publicly traded firm, with innumerable shareholders, that has a 70% stake in the tower.1 The other 30% belongs to a single man: Donald J. Trump, the president of the United States.2 His interest here is worth an estimated $517 million after debt—making it the most valuable asset in his entire portfolio. It’s worth more than twice as much as Trump Tower, six times as much as Trump’s Doral golf resort in Miami, 17 times as much as his hotel in Washington, D.C.3
The amount Qatar pays in rent remains a mystery. Odds are it adds up to a sum most billionaires not named Trump would hardly notice. According to a Vornado document, the office is just 5,557 square feet.4 If the Qataris are paying the average rate in the building, that would amount to $450,000 a year, and Trump’s 30% would total $135,000.5
The money does not flow directly. Instead, it appears to go from the U.S. subsidiary6 of the Qatar Investment Authority, a sovereign wealth fund, to HWA 555 Owners LLC. According to filings Trump sent to federal ethics officials, the Donald J. Trump Revocable Trust owns 30% of HWA 555 Owners LLC.7 And that trust, according to documents the Trump Organization submitted to authorities in Washington, D.C., was set up “to hold assets for the exclusive benefit of Donald J. Trump.”8 Trump, in other words, personally holds 30% of the space the Qataris are leasing. Strip away the layers and it boils down to just the sort of arrangement the founding fathers feared. A foreign government, it seems, has been secretly paying the president of the United States for more than a year. Yet, with so many other scandals brewing, this one has managed to go entirely undetected—until now.
• • •
IN ORDER TO understand why Qatar might want to funnel cash to the president, it’s important to first understand U.S.-Qatari relations. A peninsula hanging off Saudi Arabia, smaller than the state of Connecticut,9 Qatar has played an outsize role in global politics for one reason: money.10 There are 77% more natural gas reserves sitting under11 Qatar than under the entire United States, helping make Qatar, on a per capita basis,12 the second-richest nation on earth.
Although Qatar doesn’t share many American values—monarchs rule13 the country, and its labor abuses are legendary14—it has long been an ally of the United States. Qatari troops fought alongside Americans in the Gulf War. Afterward, the tiny nation spent more than $8 billion on a military base hosting American troops near15 Doha, the Qatari capital, which has been a key center for operations in Afghanistan and Syria.16
America has other allies in the region, of course, including Saudi Arabia17 and the United Arab Emirates.18 But for years, the allies have been sparring among themselves. In 2014, Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates, and Bahrain pulled their ambassadors from Qatar, accusing the country of backing terrorists.19 In May 2017, Trump took his first trip overseas as president,20 visiting Saudi Arabia, a nation that had recently pumped more than $270,00021 into the Trump International Hotel. In early June, the Saudis and several other Middle Eastern nations collectively cut off diplomatic ties with Qatar.22 Saudi Arabia also shut down its border with its neighbor, turning Qatar into a virtual island.23
President Trump left little doubt about whose side he was on in the dispute. “During my recent trip to the Middle East I stated that there can no longer be funding of Radical Ideology,” he tweeted in June 2017. “Leaders pointed to Qatar—look!”24
Qatar denied the charges and worked to defend its reputation,25 shelling out hundreds of thousands of dollars to lobbyists to vouch for the embattled nation in Washington.26 The Qataris also27 struck deals with American companies like Boeing and Raytheon. And, in a move that managed to evade detection, they figured out how to rent space inside Trump’s most valuable property, apparently directing money to the president of the United States.
• • •
THE QATARIS FINISHED outfitting their new office space on the 43rd floor sometime after February 2018, when the Saudi dispute was still raging, according to someone who worked inside the skyscraper.28 In August 2018, Trump’s partner Vornado filed a document with San Francisco officials about work being done on the premises, describing the Qatar Investment Authority Advisory (USA) Inc. as a “lessee.”29 Construction crews built out an office, complete with intricate white latticework in the entryway. After the hammers stopped banging, however, the space went unusually quiet.
“I never saw a single person enter the office other than construction,” the person who worked in the building explained in a text message. “I travel a lot so could have missed it but definitely saw people in other offices.
“Always thought it was strange,” the source added.30
Also strange: the lobby’s long list of tenants made no mention of the Qatar Investment Authority. The website for the Qatar Investment Authority listed an office in New York,31 but it didn’t say anything about one in San Francisco.
When asked about this deal and others, a spokesperson for the White House replied in an email, “These are all questions for Trump Org. Not the White House.”32 For its part, the Trump Organization did not respond to a long list of questions. Spokespeople for Vornado and the Qatar Investment Authority declined to comment.33 It’s unclear what, if anything, goes on inside the space that the Qatar Investment Authority is leasing. Regardless, the arrangement may be a violation of the U.S. Constitution, which forbids presidents from accepting “emoluments”—compensation—from foreign governments.34 The president’s legal team has previously argued that when a foreign government pays the president at his Washington, D.C., hotel, it’s legal, because the trade constitutes a “value-for-value exchange”35—Trump gets money, and the officials get a place to stay. In the San Francisco office tower, however, it’s harder to make that case. Trump apparently still receives the money, and the Qatar Investment Authority gets an empty office space that it does not seem to need.
Close to the time36 that workers were renovating the 43rd floor, the president’s attitude toward the Gulf nation changed. In April 2018, Trump welcomed Sheikh Tamim bin Hamad Al-Thani, the ruler of Qatar,37 to the Oval Office. On this visit, the U.S. president commended Qatar for fighting against terrorism funding.38
A year later, Al-Thani returned to Washington. This time, Trump was ready with a welcome party inside, of all places, the Treasury Department’s Cash Room,39 which once stored America’s gold, silver, and dollar bills.40 Steven Mnuchin, secretary of the Treasury, kicked off the dinner with a toast. “This room,” he said, “is a fitting tribute to the economic and security partnership between our two nations.”41
Encircling the tables, adorned with royal-blue cloths, sat 40-odd business leaders,42 about a third of whom held personal fortunes of over $1 billion.43 Some of the names on the guest list were the sort of people you might expect at a function like this—corporate titans with cash-fueled relationships in Qatar. Dennis Muilenburg, then the CEO of Boeing, was selling five 777 Freighters to Qatar’s national airline. Raytheon CEO Thomas Kennedy was ready to ship off a couple of missile systems. Chevron Phillips Chemical CEO Mark Lashier was teaming up with the Qataris on a new petrochemicals complex.44
But there were other businessmen there with a more unorthodox connection to Qatar. Their businesses helped link the Qatari government to the president’s own family. Billionaire45 Bruce Flatt of Brookfield Asset Management was there.46 Brookfield’s real estate arm, Brookfield Property Partners, invested in a fund that paid $1.3 billion to lease47 666 Fifth Avenue, a troubled Manhattan skyscraper owned by the family of Trump’s son-in-law, Jared Kushner. The largest outside shareholder48 in Brookfield Property Partners is the Qatar Investment Authority. Also on the guest list:49 Vornado CEO Steven Roth, Trump’s partner in the San Francisco tower where the Qatar Investment Authority had leased office space.
Given the business ties, Flatt and Roth had reason to recognize a few faces among the official Qatari delegation. The CEO of the Qatar Investment Authority, Mansoor bin Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud, was there. As was the chairman, Sheikh Mohammed bin Abdulrahman Al-Thani, and two other directors, Saad Sherida Al-Kaabi and Ali Shareef Al-Emadi.50 In all, more than one-third51 of the Qatar Investment Authority’s board of directors had assembled inside the Cash Room.
President Trump stood up to give remarks. “I have to say that the investments that you make in the United States,” he told his guests, “are very much appreciated.”52
• • •
DONALD TRUMP NEVER REALLY got out of business. Sure, he delegated day-to-day responsibilities to his sons Eric and Don Jr. upon taking office. Every business owner hands over work to subordinates, especially when they get preoccupied with other interests. But President Trump did not sell his companies. Nor did he give them away. He remains the owner of over 100 different entities,53 which, taken together, make up the Trump Organization, one of the most unusual businesses in America.
Inside that business lie hundreds of secrets that, thanks to lax disclosure laws and a president uninterested in transparency, have remained buried throughout Trump’s tenure in the White House. Among the mysteries: Who is paying the president? What are the revenues and profits of his companies? Which of his businesses are under distress, and which are thriving? How much is Trump gaining—or losing—on the presidency? This book cracks open the shell corporations, unearths new documents, and exposes hundreds of millions of dollars flowing between President Trump and entities around the world. It lasers in on a five-year period, from the beginning of Trump’s campaign in 2015 to the ramp-up of his reelection campaign in 2020, offering the most complete financial investigation of President Trump’s business ever published.
It also investigates Trump’s associates. The president’s disregard for norms set the tone at the top of the federal government, sparking a trickle-down ethics crisis with no precedent in modern American history. Trump appointed a cadre of tycoons who had long been a part of his inner circle—including Jared Kushner, Ivanka Trump, and Wilbur Ross—to some of the most powerful positions in America. With the president as their guide, they proceeded to bust through barriers meant to separate their financial holdings from their government roles.
All this could have been prevented. Before Donald Trump took office, most people figured he would divest his assets and assume the presidency with clean hands. Instead, he held on to everything—the office buildings, residential units, golf courses, personal mansions, licensing ventures, private planes54—and opened it all up to years of conflicts and consequences. What happens to a multibillion-dollar business when its leader ascends to the presidency of the United States? And what happens to American democracy when the nation’s leader is a conflict-ridden businessman? No one knew at the time Trump took office, because no one had ever tried such a thing. But Trump took the risk, launching an experiment that has unfolded over the past few years, with results that his business has hidden from the public.
Midway through Trump’s first term, the president’s businesses had hauled in an estimated $1.2 billion in revenue and produced roughly $311 million in profits from operations. The entities paying that money included political groups, powerful corporations, the U.S. government, and foreign nations. Despite an influx of new customers, however, Trump was worth less55 three years into his tenure than he was at the time he took office. His name became more powerful than it ever was—but it also became more polarizing. For every Qatari leader looking to pay Trump a few hundred thousand dollars, there are a few million critics uninterested in paying him anything. Trump’s decision to keep hold of his business empire proved to be a bad bet that poisoned his properties and, more important, his presidency.
1
Art of the Self-Deal
THE RISE OF DONALD TRUMP
Donald Trump sits in his New York City office, behind an oversize desk cluttered with magazines. Almost all of them feature him on the cover. It’s September 21, 2015, and Trump has surged to an early lead in the Republican primaries.1 But while everyone else is talking about his budding candidacy, Trump wants to talk about money. His own money.
The annual Forbes 400 list of America’s richest people is days from hitting the press, and Trump is slated to appear with a net worth of roughly $4 billion.2 “You’re so low, it’s ridiculous,” he tells three Forbes journalists, Randall Lane, Kerry Dolan, and Chase Peterson-Withorn. “I mean, I don’t care. You’re not going to put this, so it doesn’t matter. I’m worth much more than $10 billion.3
“I like Steve Forbes, but it may be because he ran for president,” Trump says at one point, referring to the former Republican candidate who now serves as honorary editor in chief of the magazine4 but has no role in deciding where Trump ranks on the list. “He spent most of his money on running for president, and he failed—to put it mildly. He got zero percent of the vote. I have almost 40 percent of the vote, and I’ve spent nothing.”
Not quite nothing, but close to it. Trump, who has invested just $1.9 million in his campaign so far,5 doesn’t need TV ads, yard signs, or campaign buttons to attract attention. He never has. For years, Trump has been his own spokesperson and, when coverage hasn’t gone his way, his own attack dog. “You’re going to look bad,” he says. “And look, all I can say is Forbes is a bankrupt magazine that doesn’t know what they’re talking about, okay. That’s all I’m going to say. Because it’s embarrassing to me.”
It’s hard to think of anyone else in the world who would be embarrassed by a $4 billion fortune, but Donald Trump is one of a kind. Which is why, on this September day, in the midst of one of the most hectic campaigns in American history, he has cleared his schedule to offer Forbes an asset-by-asset breakdown of his personal fortune. So what if, as Lane notes in a subsequent story, Trump has a call with Stephen Colbert’s show at the same time? “We’ll call him back.” Or if rival candidate Scott Walker drops out mid-conversation? “See if you can get his one vote.”
Trump jumps into the numbers, lobbying for a richer valuation on his most famous skyscraper, Trump Tower, which Forbes has pegged at roughly $470 million. He points to the Crown Building, a stately, terraced edifice on the other side of Fifth Avenue that sold for $1.8 billion five months earlier.6 “This is bigger,” he says, even though the space he owns is actually 25% smaller.7
Trump Tower is making annual profits of “$80, $90 million this year,” he tells the Forbes staffers. Less than 30 seconds later the profits are up to “$89, $90 million net.” In fact, Trump Tower is on pace to make about $15 million in 2015.8 Plenty of money, to be sure, but a long way from $90 million.
Whatever. Trump brings up 40 Wall Street, a skyscraper in Lower Manhattan.9 “It’s a 78-story building,” he says of the 63-story building. “It’s fully rented,” he adds, even though documents show that 5% remained vacant as of a few months ago.10 “We’re going to make $64 million,” he boasts, “after debt service.” He is actually going to make $11.9 million—before debt service.11 “If I wanted to sell 40 Wall Street, I’d get $750 [million] for it tomorrow,” Trump says, failing to mention that his lender ran the numbers on that exact same hypothetical three months earlier and came up with an estimate $210 million short of Trump’s figure.12
He addresses his liquid assets. “About three years ago,” he says, “when the market was low, I said, ‘You know what? I’ll buy stock.’ For the first time in my life. I never bought a stock in my life.” Except he has. Lots of times. He bragged about his stock trades in his 1987 bestseller Trump: The Art of the Deal.13 He bought roughly 27% of a department store chain named Alexander’s in the late 1980s14 and eventually got a seat on the company’s board. In the 1990s and 2000s, he owned more than 35% of the shares in a publicly traded casino company, which he created and named after himself.15
“We have $793 million in cash,” Trump says, apparently unaware that just a year before this, his executives welcomed a Forbes reporter into his offices to show documents detailing $307 million.16 Asked how he added nearly $500 million in one year, Trump points to the sale of his interest in the Miss Universe competition, which brought in an estimated $15 million.17 Can he provide any additional evidence? “Yeah, I guess we could,” he says, then never does.
His phone rings. “Ivanka, my little Ivanka,” he says, asking his eldest daughter to come say hello. Nine minutes later, she walks through the door: “Hiiii!”
“I was on a construction call with the Doral folks,” she tells her father, conveniently segueing into a discussion of how much the Miami golf resort is worth. “Forbes actually did a very nice profile on that project.” The magazine now has it down for $119 million. “That’s a joke,” Ivanka counters, noting that the reporter who wrote the story a couple of years earlier, which appeared in the lifestyle spinoff of Forbes, suggested a much higher figure. She has a point. The earlier story did in fact say the land at Doral was worth “close to $1 billion.”18
But it’s not. That reporter had apparently fallen for Trump math. Ivanka explains that a 12-acre property sold for $40 million, or $3.3 million an acre, which would suggest that the 800-acre Doral is surely worth upward of $1 billion. The Forbes staffers inside Trump’s office on this day, however, are not falling for the same trick. They are professional number crunchers, each of whom has spent years figuring out the fortunes of billionaires. They understand that Trump purchased the property three years ago, for just $150 million.19 A renovation has not made the place six times as valuable. A valuation the Trump Organization will later show the magazine predicts Doral would be worth $433 million once all the work is done. Then there are the liabilities. “We have like no debt on it,” Ivanka says, ignoring two Deutsche Bank loans totaling $125 million.20
Allen Weisselberg, chief financial officer of the Trump Organization, gets in on the game too, talking up the value of the Mar-a-Lago club. “There was a sale—here’s the article that was in the Palm Beach Daily News,” he says, grabbing a printed article about a nearby property that he claims includes 8.8 acres. “It was a combined sale for $116.1 million. Not our property, another property in Palm Beach. But they don’t have half of what we have on our property.21
“We have about 19 acres—you do the multiplication,” Weisselberg says. Plus, Trump invested $14 million to build the grand ballroom, another $4 million to install cabanas near the water, and $700,000 to add a tennis facility, he says. “Total of $267 [million].”
But Trump’s estate cannot be subdivided into lots for mega-mansions. It’s a mere trophy for a rich guy, not a potential gold mine for a developer. The result? Mar-a-Lago is worth about $100 million less than what Weisselberg is claiming.22
Amid this onslaught, Trump turns on the charm, asking if his visitors would like to see his penthouse.23 “I don’t show this to anybody—I’ve never brought Forbes up here.” Other than that time, 15 years earlier, when a Forbes photographer went there, as Lane later points out.24 Architectural Digest got its own tour, back in 1985.25 People would, too, for a cover story that would hit newsstands in less than two weeks.26 And 60 Minutes would, for an interview airing that Sunday.27 So would, well, never mind.
“This is the best apartment ever built, they say,” Trump says, gazing out at the sweeping views of Manhattan. “They just sold the one over here for $225 [million],” he adds, nodding to another apartment on the skyline. “You have this marked down at $90 [million].” How many square feet is it? “Thirty-three thousand, plus the roof,” Trump says. “The roof is like 15 or something—15,000.” So 48,000 total, in Trump’s mind.
A few minutes after opening the doors to his palace, Trump has to get back to running for president. “Call me if you want—feel free,” he says. “And I promise I won’t say it’s a horrible, bankrupt . . .” Everyone laughs, and Trump marches on his way. Forbes ends up estimating the penthouse is 30,000 square feet and juices the valuation to $100 million.28
A year and a half later,29 however, one of the reporters standing with Trump today, Peterson-Withorn, will take a closer look at property records. They’ll show that Trump’s penthouse is in fact only 11,000 square feet. In other words, it’s worth $65 million or so—about a quarter of the figures Trump has been throwing around, and 35% less than what Forbes published.30 It’s tough to catch every lie, something Trump knows well.
A former Trump lawyer named Thomas Wells once noticed that every time a new story mentioned Trump’s penthouse, there seemed to be a different number of rooms. In one article, it would have eight. In another, 16. Then 20, even 30. Wells later recalled that he finally asked Trump directly: How many rooms did his apartment really have? His response: “However many they will print.”31
• • •
DONALD TRUMP IS a lot of things. He’s a tough negotiator. He’s a sweet-talker. He beats around the bush. He cuts through the crap. He’s unfathomably rich. And inexplicably cheap. But in order to really understand our 45th president, you have to start with the man who gave him his name, Fred Trump, who originally developed the Trump way of doing business, showing his son how to profit from politics and manipulate the media. A portrait of Donald Trump’s father sits in the Oval Office,32 just behind the Resolute Desk, constantly peering over the president’s shoulder.
Unlike Donald Trump, Fred was a self-made man. When he was 12 years old, his own father died during the 1918 Spanish influenza epidemic, according to Gwenda Blair, who chronicled the first family’s history in her book The Trumps: Three Generations of Builders and a President. Fred stayed in school long enough to get his high school diploma, then with his mother formed a construction company, E. Trump & Son, when he was still too young to start one on his own. He worked long hours and built a collection of homes on the edge of New York City.33 By the time Franklin D. Roosevelt took office in 1933, promising a New Deal for America,34 Fred Trump was 27 years old and in exactly the right industry to forge a fortune.
The foundation for Fred Trump’s business empire was a government program. In 1934, FDR led an effort to create the Federal Housing Administration, which put the government’s guarantee behind home loans, allowing banks to take greater risks.35 If borrowers couldn’t pay everything back, Uncle Sam would cover the losses. Cash flooded into the housing market, much of it going to builders like Fred Trump. By 1943 he had constructed at least 2,000 homes in Brooklyn, enough to make him a millionaire.
World War II provided additional opportunities, especially when soldiers started coming home. To ensure there were enough places for them to live, the government helped builders secure financing. In turn, developers had to limit rents based on their estimated costs of construction. If they didn’t anticipate spending much to build a place, they couldn’t charge much to rent it out. Fred Trump’s projected costs, however, did not match his actual costs. At one housing complex in Brooklyn, he got a $16 million loan, allegedly $4 million more than he actually needed to build the project. He held on to the extra cash and apparently used the inflated estimates to justify charging America’s veterans more in rent. Never officially accused of a crime, he nonetheless got a tongue-lashing on Capitol Hill.36
What made Fred Trump so successful, in addition to his relentless work ethic, was a knack for pushing the limits of the law. In 1960, the state of New York created a new program, also meant to jolt the housing industry.37 Like FDR’s initiatives, the New York program involved builders estimating how much projects would cost. It then allowed them to take a percentage of that cost as a builder’s fee, as Blair explains. Fred Trump submitted a bulked-up estimate, claiming his work would cost $8 million more than it actually did, thereby increasing his fee by $600,000.
He made more money from another scheme. Fred Trump got financing from the state, then used his funds to pay contractors for various expenses on his projects. One of the contractors was the Boro Equipment Company. Boro had exceptionally high prices, charging many times the market rate for dump trucks, backhoes, bulldozers, and so on. But the typically frugal Trump did business with Boro anyway. Why? Because he owned the company.38
On January 27, 1966, 12 years after facing the U.S. Senate Committee on Banking and Currency for questionable estimates that produced big gains,39 Fred Trump appeared before the New York State Investigation Commission for similar shenanigans. One commissioner wondered how to stop Trump from exploiting the government in the future: “Is there any way of preventing a man who does business in that way from getting another contract from the state?”40
• • •
WHEN DONALD TRUMP was three years old, his father gave him and his siblings an unusual gift. Not trucks or trains or dolls, but a piece of land—40 acres near the Brooklyn waterfront. There wasn’t much the kids could do with this new gift, if they even knew it had been given to them. But Fred Trump, who bought the parcel for about $180,000, had a plan.41 Around 1949, he began building 1,860 apartments on the land.42 Since the plot technically belonged to his kids, he then paid them rent of $60,000 a year.43 By turning his children into his landlords, Fred Trump had opened up a spigot that would rain cash on his heirs for decades while avoiding the gift and estate taxes that usually accompany such transfers of wealth.
Thus, Donald Trump was collecting an estimated $1,000 a month from his father as a three-year-old.44 Donald turned out to be a troublesome kid. When he was in second grade, he punched his teacher in the face, “because I didn’t think he knew anything about music,” Trump explained in The Art of the Deal. Six years later, his father effectively kicked him out of the house, sending him to a military boarding school.
“I was a good enough student at the academy,” Trump said years later, “although I can’t say I ever worked very hard. I was lucky that it came relatively easily to me, because I was never all that interested in schoolwork. I understood early on that the whole academic thing was only a preliminary to the main event—which was going to be whatever I did after I graduated from college.”45
What he did, after getting a degree at the University of Pennsylvania,46 was go home to the father who had sent him away years earlier. In 1972, when Donald Trump was in his midtwenties, Fred Trump introduced him to the wonders of public financing. Together they created a company to buy a senior-living facility in East Orange, New Jersey. The state contributed $7.8 million in financing, Fred Trump invested nearly $900,000, and Donald Trump put up nothing. He got a 25% stake anyway.
The younger Trump then followed his father’s playbook to siphon more money from the project, creating a second company, which he owned outright. The father-son venture proceeded to pay the son-only venture to manage the building, handing over as much as $4,000 a month. Never mind that the only people managing anything were Fred Trump’s employees. Donald Trump got the payout, along with additional money by doing things like renting air-conditioning units. There was a $25,000 “consulting” fee as well, which had no clear purpose. No purpose, that is, other than shifting more money tax-free. Annual gifts of $6,00047 around Christmastime helped, too.
In 1973, at age 27, Donald Trump got his first taste of the limelight, though not for glamorous reasons. The U.S. Department of Justice sued him, his father, and their business for allegedly discriminating against black people.48 The younger Trump called the claims “ridiculous,” but the evidence was damning. According to FBI files, a rental agent at the Trump family’s Shore Haven Apartments said that the neighborhood was safe and clean, “in part because it was controlled by the Mafia, but also because there are no blacks in the immediate area.” One of Fred Trump’s rental supervisors explained that the lack of diversity was intentional. “Fred Trump told me not to rent to blacks,” he informed an FBI agent. “He also wanted me to get rid of the blacks that were in the building.”49
The Trumps’ lawyers advised settling. But hanging out in a swanky New York City joint called Le Club, young Donald Trump met a man named Roy Cohn.50 Cohn had made his name working alongside the infamous senator Joseph McCarthy, but he made his career as an attorney for big businessmen and reputed mobsters.51
“I don’t like lawyers,” Trump told Cohn. “I think all they do is delay deals, instead of making deals, and every answer they give you is no, and they are always looking to settle instead of fights.”
“Is this just an academic conversation?” Cohn asked.
“No, it’s not academic at all,” Trump said. “It so happens that the government has just filed suit against our company and many others, under the Civil Rights Act, saying that we discriminated against blacks in some of our housing developments.”
“My view is tell them to go to hell,” Cohn replied.52
That was Trump’s view as well. Together, he and Cohn cooked up a $100 million countersuit against the Justice Department,53 which a judge promptly dismissed, according to news reports from the time. The Trumps then settled, promising to change their company practices but not admitting wrongdoing. From a legal standpoint, they ended up exactly where the attorneys had advised them to go from the start. But from a reputational standpoint, the Trumps landed in a better spot, having pushed a counternarrative. They weren’t racist; the Department of Justice was just overzealous.
In the mid-1970s, Donald Trump got his second chance in the spotlight, this time with a flashy new real estate deal. Fred Trump had made his money in the outer boroughs of New York City, but Donald Trump wanted to make his in the center of it all. So while still in his twenties, he proposed fixing up a struggling hotel next to Grand Central Terminal.54 Fred Trump lent him money and served as a backstop.55
It must have provided some comfort that his son’s deal embraced a familiar formula, squeezing profits from politics. In early 1975, the city of New York adopted something called the Business Investment Incentive Policy, designed to give businesspeople tax breaks for making dramatic investments.56 Donald Trump made it clear that he would fix up the hotel only if he got $50 million or so in incentives.57
He faced opposition, including from three New York legislators who held a news conference to protest the plan.58 But it’s hard to outshine a guy like Donald Trump, who crashed the event, reminded everyone that the hotel would continue to decay if he did not get his tax breaks, and ultimately won.59 Not even 30 years old, he had a deal to replace the Commodore Hotel with the Grand Hyatt New York. It was, by any measure, an impressive achievement—even for a young man with a rich father.
It would have been a more impressive accomplishment, of course, if Trump had done it all on his own. So he began spinning a myth, one he fine-tuned over the ensuing decades, that he was a self-made man with a golden touch. “He is tall, lean and blond, with dazzling white teeth, and he looks ever so much like Robert Redford,” began a 1976 profile in The New York Times. “He rides around town in a chauffeured silver Cadillac with his initials, DJT, on the plates. He dates slinky fashion models, belongs to the most elegant clubs and, at only 30 years of age, estimates that he is worth ‘more than $200 million.’”60
Trump’s net worth became a part of his persona, a marker of his success. In 1982, he got a chance to independently validate the figure when Forbes launched its inaugural list of the richest people in America.61 Trump invited reporter Jonathan Greenberg to his office on Fifth Avenue, where he told him he had just purchased a property at the bottom of Central Park for $13 million.62 As if on cue, a broker called Trump, offering $100 million for the building. Trump turned it down.
Most tycoons did not want to be on the Forbes list. Trump was an exception. How had he gained $87 million on that Central Park property? He hadn’t. Trump purchased the building for $65 million, all of it borrowed.63 The $100 million offer, Greenberg suspected, was a ruse. So was Trump’s claim that he already owned 80% of the family fortune. Greenberg fell for that one,64 at least in part. Forbes ended up attributing 50% of the Trump family empire to Donald Trump, a share worth an estimated $100 million,65 enough to qualify him for a spot on the ranking.
Trump’s true net worth at the time was closer to zero.66 In addition to the property near Central Park and a partial stake in the Grand Hyatt New York, he owned bits of his father’s outer-borough buildings, an unfinished project on Fifth Avenue, a Mercedes-Benz, and about $400,000 in cash, according to an October 1981 report with the New Jersey Casino Control Commission. He also owed his father $7.5 million, money he was using to help make payments on a $35 million line of credit with Chase Manhattan Bank.67
To help with his mythmaking, Trump brought in outside help. One day, Greenberg was working at his desk when his phone rang. He picked up the receiver. “This is Roy—Roy Cohn,” the person on the other end of the line told him. “You can’t quote me. But Donny tells me you’re putting together this list of rich people. He says you’ve got him down for just $200 million. That’s way too low, way too low. Listen, I’m Donny’s personal lawyer, but he said I could talk to you about this. I am sitting here looking at his current bank statement. It shows he’s got more than $500 million in liquid assets, just cash. That’s just Donald, nothing to do with Fred, and it’s just cash.”68
Two years later, Greenberg got a call from another person at the Trump Organization, John Barron. “I’d like to talk to you off the record, if I can,” Barron said, explaining that the financial arrangement between Fred Trump and his son Donald had changed. “You can really use Donald Trump now, and you can just consolidate it.” Asked whether the money had been transferred for tax purposes, Barron confirmed, “Correct. Correct. That’s correct.”69 In 1985, Forbes removed Fred Trump from the list and attributed the entire family fortune, estimated at more than $600 million, to Donald Trump alone.70
There was just one problem: John Barron wasn’t a real person. He was an alter ego Trump used to dupe people on the phone. Trump wasn’t worth $600 million. At 39, he had begun to break out on his own, but his father remained firmly in control of the family fortune.71 Even the idea of using a fake persona apparently came from Fred Trump. Donald’s father had been known for employing a similar trick, making calls as “Mr. Green.”72
• • •
HAVING ESTABLISHED A reputation as one of America’s richest business tycoons, Donald Trump went on a spending spree, with money he didn’t have. At first the strategy worked. Leveraging funds from his father and a $130 million loan from five banks, he built Trump Tower, a dazzling skyscraper on Fifth Avenue.73 Celebrities like Johnny Carson and Steven Spielberg got places alongside Trump,74 who kept the penthouse for himself and still generated a reported $275 million from condo sales.75 The commercial space rented to high-end retailers like Harry Winston and Cartier.76 Trump got a $100 million tax break, too77—not that he really needed it. “We got the highest rents ever, anywhere,” says Barbara Res, a former Trump executive who helped build the place. “I mean, it was just amazing what he was getting for a square foot.”78
Emboldened, Trump chased after more deals. He bought a second-tier professional football team, the New Jersey Generals, for $7 million in 1983.79 He picked up a 282-foot yacht that had once belonged to a Saudi arms dealer, handing over roughly $30 million.80 He doled out so much money to politicians that a 1986 report listing big political donors in New York City put him and his father at the top of the list.81 He purchased Mar-a-Lago for about $10 million.82 Eastern Airlines Shuttle cost him another $365 million.83 He sold $675 million in bonds to finance big ambitions in Atlantic City,84 where his parents had reportedly honeymooned.85 The jewel in his debt-fueled empire, however, was the Plaza Hotel, a $407 million vanity project that even Trump admitted made little sense.86
“I haven’t purchased a building,” he explained in an advertisement celebrating the deal. “I have purchased a masterpiece—the Mona Lisa. For the first time in my life, I have knowingly made a deal which was not economic—for I can never justify the price I paid, no matter how successful the Plaza becomes.”87
The problem with throwing around other people’s money is that eventually they expect you to pay it back. By 1990, Trump was short on cash. He had amassed $3.4 billion of debt on an estimated $3.6 billion in assets. To cover payments on his Atlantic City bonds, he borrowed $20 million from banks. Shortly thereafter, he borrowed another $45 million. The situation got so dire that, after examining Trump’s financial picture, one New Jersey regulator concluded, “The possibility of a complete financial collapse of the Trump Organization is not out of the question.”88
Desperate, Trump made a move toward a pile of assets he had always counted on—his father’s. In 1990, Donald sent Fred, then 85 years old, a paper the elder Trump had never seen before, according to The New York Times. The document would have changed Fred’s will, protecting Donald’s inheritance from his creditors while also strengthening his grip on his father’s estate. Fearing the document could allow his son to risk the family fortune amid his efforts to save his own, Fred Trump ordered up a new document, removing Donald’s singular control of his estate.89
At the same time, he worked to bail out his son. Fred sent one of his lawyers to Atlantic City, where Donald had an interest payment coming due. To provide some liquidity for his son’s casino operation, Fred’s lawyer went to a blackjack table and bought 670 gray chips, worth $5,000 apiece, or $3.35 million in total. He had no intention of playing cards. The lawyer instead slipped the chips into a small case.90 The next day, Fred Trump wired another $150,000, and his lawyer got another 30 chips. In effect, Fred Trump had given his son a loan of $3.5 million. “In 13 years of casino gaming in Atlantic City,” a member of the New Jersey Casino Control Commission remarked at the time, “this transaction is probably the most unique singular action that has ever taken place, out of tens of billions of dollars that have been moved around Atlantic City one way or another.”91
The unusual transactions didn’t stop there. In 1992, the Trump family created a new company called All County Building Supply & Maintenance, according to The New York Times. All County was a purchasing agent for Fred Trump’s apartments, which bought supplies and materials. Or at least that’s the way it appeared. But in fact, All County was not really buying supplies—it was merely marking up the cost of already negotiated deals. And since All County’s owners were Fred Trump’s heirs, the young Trumps earned a tidy profit without doing much of anything.92 Boiled down, All County was a sophisticated way of transferring millions of dollars, free of estate or gift taxes.
Fred Trump’s largesse could only help his son so much. In July 1991, seven months after Fred bought chips at one casino, another casino declared bankruptcy. One of the largest creditors for the Trump Taj Mahal was an insurance company represented by a bankruptcy specialist named Wilbur Ross.93 Along with bondholder Carl Icahn, Ross decided to treat Trump more kindly than unpaid creditors sometimes do. Rather than wipe out Trump, Ross and Icahn backed a plan that left him with 50% of the casino.94 It was a stroke of luck for Trump—one he never forgot. Shortly after he was elected president, Trump announced roles in the new administration for Icahn and Ross.
• • •
IN JUNE OF 1995,95 Donald Trump showed up ready to make a splash at the New York Stock Exchange. Wearing a blue suit and a red power tie, with his second wife, Marla Maples, hanging on his arm, he was in full comeback mode, ready to launch a public company. “This is such a big day for us,”96 Trump said, basking in the thought of his new corporation, Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts, trading on the world’s most important stock exchange. Plenty of others agreed, and they shelled out a total of $140 million that day for a piece of the Donald.97
At 48 years old, Trump was new to running a public company. He had spent his whole life helming private businesses, with one clear objective: adding to his own personal fortune. Now he was legally required to look out for others. As the head of a public enterprise, he was presumably in charge of thousands of people’s personal savings—some of whom invested directly, while others bought in through vehicles like mutual funds or pensions. If Trump made money, so would, say, teachers in Iowa and nurses in Arizona. If he lost money, they did, too. Like any partnership, this one came with a certain set of expectations.
But Trump, as his investors soon found out, did not seem to care about those expectations. At the start, Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts—with the ticker symbol DJT98—owned one gambling haven in Atlantic City.99 Trump owned another two outside of the public company, including the Trump Taj Mahal, which was drowning in debt. In April 1996, Trump’s public company purchased the Taj Mahal in a deal that valued Trump’s 50% interest at $40.5 million.100 His debt problems were now other people’s debt problems.
There was more money for Trump. As part of the deal, the public company also handed over $61 million in cash and stock to buy land that Trump owned, paying about 19 times as much as it cost to lease that land annually.101 Two months later, in June 1996,102 Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts announced it was buying Trump’s third Atlantic City casino for roughly $500 million. Richard Sokol, an analyst familiar with the stock, estimated the property was actually worth about $100 million less.103 By that math, Trump, who owned 100% of the private casino104 and about 25% of the public company,105 had taken $75 million of shareholder money for himself. Investors fled, sending shares spiraling 37%.106
In less than one year, Donald Trump had shifted more than $175 million from a publicly traded company into his own private holdings. The deals bolstered his personal balance sheet, but they ruined the company’s. Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts suddenly owed 47% more interest per year than it produced in operating profit.107
With the company reeling and investors out millions of dollars, Trump proceeded to drain the business of what little cash remained. In 1996, the year he torpedoed the company’s balance sheet, Trump collected a $1 million salary and a $5 million bonus.108 As an extra reward, the company also forgave a $3 million personal loan.109 From 1995 to 2004, Trump took home a collective $17 million in salary and bonuses.110
In addition, he racked up another $3.9 million in expense reimbursements, according to an analysis of documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.111 The company shelled out $13 million to do things like rent space in Trump Tower, use Trump’s personal airplane, and take high rollers to Trump’s other properties.112 When, after all this self-dealing, Trump still found himself strapped for cash, he treated the company like his personal piggy bank, taking out an $11 million loan in mid-1998, then borrowing another $13.5 million in October.113
Then there were the fees. A “services agreement” paid a Trump-owned company $1.3 million in 1995. What Trump did to earn that money was not entirely clear. The agreement itself specified that his company was “not required to devote any prescribed time” to its responsibilities in order to collect the fee.114 Trump got another slice of money based on the performance of Trump Marina, one of the three Atlantic City casinos. According to that arrangement, if the company underperformed, Trump had to pay the funds back “promptly.”115 It did underperform, and he never paid the money back, instead forcing the company to credit the absconded funds against later earnings. In the 10 years after Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts went public, Trump got a total of $15 million in fees.
Add up the cash payments—salaries, rents, fees, and so on—and Donald Trump made roughly $50 million from 1995 to 2004, on top of the more than $175 million he moved from the public company to his private holdings through dealmaking. Meanwhile, thanks to crippling interest payments, the company lost $647 million.116 In 2004, Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts declared bankruptcy.117 The investors who had trusted in Trump got crushed.
• • •
IN ORDER TO understand how anyone could have let this happen, it helps to look at the company’s board of directors. The job of any board is to make sure everyone is acting in the best interests of the enterprise. But the board of Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts only had five members, including Trump and one of his employees.118 Two of the other directors, who were supposed to be independent, had previously served on the boards of Trump entities. The last one had been a senior vice president at Chase Manhattan Bank, one of Trump’s preferred lenders early in his career.119
No surprise, then, that the group responsible for reining in Trump’s excesses instead let them multiply. After the board signed off on the roughly $500 million purchase of Trump’s Castle casino, the one that amounted to an estimated $75 million heist, a group of shareholders sued. Trump fought them in court for five years before finally agreeing to settle without admitting wrongdoing.
The settlement offered some level of justice. Trump had to hand over half of his interest in the Miss Universe competition to the company. Oh well. By forcing his own investors to tangle with him in court for a half decade, Trump bought himself enough time to allow the rest of his business empire to recover. When he finally settled, in 2001, Forbes estimated he was worth $1.4 billion more than he had been when he took the money in the first place.120
The settlement also called for changes to the board of directors. The company had to install a special committee, made up of only outside board members, to approve every significant transaction it did with Trump. The company also added a new director, Robert McGuire, a former federal prosecutor who had also been head of the New York City Police Department.
Even McGuire, however, had financial ties to Trump, which do not appear to have been previously reported. In his spare time, McGuire served as president of the Police Athletic League,121 a nonprofit that runs summer camps and after-school programs for kids.122 Donald Trump happened to sit on the board of directors for the charity.123 The year McGuire joined the board of Trump’s casino company, Trump’s charitable foundation donated $25,000 to the Police Athletic League.124 The money kept flowing year after year, adding up to more than $800,000 from 2001 to 2014.125 Over that span, the Police Athletic League, McGuire’s pet cause, received more money from the Donald J. Trump Foundation than any other charity. Attempts to reach McGuire proved unsuccessful.
It seems unlikely that Trump made the donations to the Police Athletic League solely to corrupt the newest board member at his casino company. After all, Trump already sat on the board of the charity the year McGuire became a director for the casino company. Nonetheless, Trump’s donations to the charity certainly raise the question of whether his generosity had something to do with his business interests, especially given the history of the Donald J. Trump Foundation.
As David Fahrenthold of The Washington Post first documented, Trump operated his nonprofit foundation as if it were an arm of his for-profit business. With foundation dollars, he settled a lawsuit, fixed up a fountain outside a Trump hotel,126 purchased portraits of himself, and donated to a political group tied to a Florida attorney general at a time when she was weighing whether or not to investigate one of his businesses.127 He apparently even employed his foundation in a scheme that shifted money from his son’s kids-cancer charity to his own business.128
In 2007, Donald Trump stopped donating much of his own cash to the foundation and instead collected the majority from outsiders. Billionaire WWE cofounder Vince McMahon and his wife, Linda, gave $4 million that year, almost all the money in the foundation. Trump, who later named Linda to his cabinet, then took those funds and doled them out as if they were his own. By 2009 he was not donating anything to the foundation but only giving away other people’s money and claiming the credit for himself.129
• • •
TRUMP’S CRITICS LIKE to say that he is not a billionaire and that all the money he has came from his father. They are wrong. The truth is, Trump received at least $413 million in today’s dollars from his father, according to The New York Times, which won a Pulitzer Prize for its investigation of tens of thousands of pages of Fred Trump’s financial documents.130 If he had simply taken that money and invested in the S&P 500, Donald Trump would have been worth $2 billion by March 1, 2020.131
Instead, Trump was worth an estimated $3.1 billion, making him one of the few billionaire heirs to actually outperform the market over the course of his life.132 The bulk of his gains come from just three deals. First, there’s Trump Tower, his 1983 home run where, even after he sold off everything but the commercial space and penthouse, Trump’s assets are still worth an estimated $282 million net of debt. Second, there’s 40 Wall Street, which Trump bought and fixed up for a reported $35 million.133 It’s now worth an estimated $329 million after debt. Most important, there’s his 30% interests in two skyscrapers—1290 Avenue of the Americas, in New York, and 555 California Street, in San Francisco—that Trump did not want but his business partners forced him to take in 2006 as part of a complicated exchange. The value of Trump’s interests in those buildings has since shot up an estimated $895 million.134
Trump might not own any of those today if he had not escaped his debt nightmare of the 1990s. But he did, cutting deals with creditors and heaving piles of debt onto investors in his public company while managing to extract big money for himself. Look at the history of Donald Trump’s fortune and it tells a different tale than he does. Trump is not much of an innovator, nor a corporate leader, nor even a negotiator. But he does have a talent, inherited from his father, for skirting the rules and siphoning money, especially by moving funds from one entity he controls into another.
On June 16, 2015, Donald Trump launched a campaign to put himself in control of the biggest entity on the planet, the United States of America. “Ladies and gentlemen,” he announced in the marble-lined atrium of Trump Tower. “I am officially running for president.”135
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Moscow Money
TRUMP, PUTIN, AND THE 2016 PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION
It’s October 28, 2015, and 14 million people are tuned in to the third Republican presidential debate.1 “Mr. Trump, let’s talk a little bit about bankruptcies,” says moderator Becky Quick, training her gaze on the billionaire at center stage. “Your Atlantic City casinos filed for bankruptcy four times. In fact, Fitch, the ratings agency, even said they were serial filers for all of this. You said you did great with Atlantic City—and you did.”
Trump purses his lips and grabs hold of the podium. “But some of the individuals,” Quick continues, “the bondholders, some of the contractors who worked for you, didn’t fare so well. Bankruptcy is a broken promise. Why should the voters believe the promises that you’re telling them right now?”
Well, Trump explains, lots of rich people use bankruptcy protection at one point or another. “I’ve used [bankruptcy] to my advantage as a businessman—for my family, for myself.” He shrugs. “Hundreds of companies I’ve opened—I’ve used it three times, maybe four times. Came out great, but I guess I’m supposed to come out great. That’s what I could do for the country.”2 It’s an effective answer, one that leaves viewers with the impression that Trump is ready to give up his life in business and employ his rough-and-tumble tactics on behalf of the American people.
But the truth is that Donald Trump is not yet ready to give up his business. As he stands onstage answering questions before millions of people, his associates are secretly pursuing a business deal in Russia, one that opens his campaign up to unprecedented conflicts of interest. Just hours before the debate, Trump’s lawyer received an email with a letter of intent, laying out a plan for a soaring skyscraper named Trump Moscow.3
Doing such a deal would make Trump a decent chunk of change—an estimated $35 million up front and about $2.6 million in yearly fees if everything went well—but it would also expose his business to the whims of Russian officials. “You will need a lot of governmental approval for all the projects in Moscow,” explains Anna Shepeleva, director of research in the Moscow office of real estate firm CBRE.4 Most politicians would never consider putting themselves in such a position, dependent on a foreign adversary for financial favors at a time when they are running for office in the United States. But Trump is not like most politicians. At his core, he is a businessman. While he wanted the U.S. presidency, he also wanted a Russian tower. So when he got the chance to look at the document from the developer in Russia, he flipped to the signature page, grabbed a thick pen, and affixed his famous name to the agreement.5
• • •
IT WAS THE CULMINATION of a decades-long effort to build in Russia. “The idea got off the ground after I sat next to the Soviet ambassador, Yuri Dubinin, at a luncheon held by Leonard Lauder, a great businessman who is the son of Estee Lauder,” Trump wrote in his 1987 book. “Dubinin’s daughter, it turned out, had read about Trump Tower and knew all about it. One thing led to another, and now I’m talking about building a large luxury hotel across the street from the Kremlin, in partnership with the Soviet government.”6
That plan fell through, as did several later attempts.7 In 2013, Trump finally got a deal in Russia. It was not for a building, but for a beauty pageant. A Russian billionaire named Aras Agalarov and his pop-star son Emin decided to host the Miss Universe competition in Moscow.8 Trump, part owner of the pageant, boarded a plane and invited Vladimir Putin to meet him at the event.9 The Russian president apparently turned down the invitation.10
It was quite a show anyway. Techno beats pulsed through the concert hall as 86 women pranced onstage, put their hands on their hips, flashed diamond smiles, and screamed the names of their home countries. Miss Venezuela walked away with the tiara, but Trump walked away with the money, an estimated $3 million.11
He kept his eye on a bigger prize. “I had a great weekend with you and your family,” Trump tweeted at Aras Agalarov. “You have done a FANTASTIC job. TRUMP TOWER-MOSCOW is next.”12 Indeed, the very next month, the Trumps and the Agalarovs signed a preliminary agreement to turn Trump’s dream of a tower in Russia into a reality.13
The terms of the deal, as outlined in Robert Mueller’s report on Russian interference in the 2016 election, were straightforward. It called for 800 apartments, with 3.5% of all sales going to the Trump Organization.14 At the time, luxury apartments were selling for as much as $8.3 million in pricy parts of Moscow.15 But according to Emin Agalarov, the Trump project would have commanded far less, since it would have been a half hour outside of the city’s center and only partially finished at the time of the sale.16 Still, Emin says, Trump would have made about $17.5 million in all.17
Ivanka Trump traveled to Moscow two months later, in February 2014.18 “We spent some time in my office,” Emin explained in an email. “I showed her the plans for the future, and we looked at the site of construction zone from my window.”19
Around the same time, 500 miles to the southwest and far out of view from Agalarov’s window, crowds filled Independence Square in Kiev, Ukraine. They were protesting Ukrainian leader Viktor Yanukovych, a pro-Russian politician who had risen to power with help from an American consultant named Paul Manafort. Politics provided both men with a life of luxury. The Ukrainian president took up residence in an opulent mansion with a garageful of antique cars and a personal zoo.20 Manafort, meanwhile, earned more than $60 million and laundered enough of it back to the United States to make purchases of $1.4 million at a clothing store and another $1 million with a rug merchant.21
As allegations of corruption arose, protesters turned out en masse, hurling Molotov cocktails. The government allegedly responded with sniper fire. The United States sided with the protesters, while Putin backed the president. On February 22, 2014, as the demonstrations spiraled out of control, the Russian leader reportedly held a late-night council to help Yanukovych flee his country. At the end of the meeting, Putin issued an order to his bleary-eyed deputies: “We must start working on returning Crimea”—a territory the Soviets had ceded to Ukraine in 1954—“to Russia.”22
Unmarked soldiers soon showed up at airports, military bases, and government buildings in Crimea, according to reports.23 By the time everyone realized they were working with the Russian government, Putin was already in control. A referendum followed, and Russia claimed Crimea.24
World leaders cried foul. The presidents of the European Council and the European Commission issued a joint statement, calling the move “illegal and illegitimate.”25 David Cameron of the United Kingdom declared, “Russia has acted in flagrant breach of international law.”26 And Vice President Joe Biden derided the action as “nothing more than a land grab.”27 Not wanting to spark a violent confrontation out of a mostly bloodless takeover, however, the United States responded with weapons of economics rather than war. On March 17, President Obama announced sanctions against the Russians.28 Three days later, he targeted Putin personally, leveling additional measures against four oligarchs in his “inner circle.”29
The sanctions added to the troubles of the Russian economy, already facing a devastating fall in oil prices. Russia’s oligarchs—many of whom got rich by grabbing assets when the Soviet Union collapsed and stayed rich by making peace with Putin30—lost billions of dollars.31 The Russian recession crippled Moscow’s property market, slashing the price of residential real estate by 35% in dollar terms.32 Emin Agalarov estimates that Trump’s potential payout from his Moscow partnership would have been cut in half. And that’s if the project even happened at all, which seemed increasingly unlikely. Agalarov says, “It was fizzling out from the start.”33
The fallout rippled through the global economy, also hitting Trump closer to home. At the start of 2014, Trump owned 47 luxury condos in New York City, worth an estimated $270 million, according to a review of property records.34 Russians had been buying units like his all over Manhattan for years, helping drive up prices. But that largely stopped after the sanctions set in. Donald Trump acknowledged the situation in December 2014. In an onstage interview in Washington, D.C., with fellow billionaire David Rubenstein, Trump predicted that the latest condo developments in New York City would fail. He offered a single explanation: “I mean, Russia has been taken out of it over the last year, as you know. Russia is gone. And a lot of these Russians that were buying these apartments are no longer buying apartments, and they’ve got bigger problems.”35
Their problems might explain why Russia was so interested in upending American politics. In the summer of 2014, as the sanctions set in, four Russians filed applications to get inside the United States, claiming on the forms that they were just friends on a vacation. In fact, they were secret operatives, working for an organization intent on waging “information warfare” against the United States.36 The mission was to sow chaos in the 2016 presidential election.
They allegedly traveled across the country, to California, Nevada, New Mexico, Texas, Colorado, Illinois, Michigan, Louisiana, and New York, gathering information as they went.37 Their organization created accounts on Facebook and Twitter that promoted views across the political spectrum. There was an immigration group called “Secured Borders,” a Black Lives Matter group called “Blacktivist,” and a religious group named “United Muslims of America.”38 According to an indictment later filed as part of Robert Mueller’s probe into Russian interference, they criticized establishment candidates like Marco Rubio, Ted Cruz, and Hillary Clinton, while hailing the revolutionaries—Bernie Sanders and Donald Trump.39
Spewing hate online is a quick way to gain an audience, and before long, the Russian accounts had hundreds of thousands of followers. To fund the efforts, companies controlled by a Russian oligarch connected to Putin allegedly shelled out more than $1.25 million a month. It was enough to employ hundreds of content creators and computer professionals,40 as well as to purchase more than 3,500 ads on Facebook for roughly $100,000. The return on those investments was staggering. Facebook ultimately said the Russian accounts reached at least 29 million people, and maybe as many as 126 million41—or nearly 40% of the U.S. population.
As with the Crimean takeover, it wasn’t until it was all over that anyone got a full sense of what had happened. The Trump campaign did not create Russia’s disinformation factory, but it unknowingly promoted it. In fact, the Russian accounts got cited or retweeted by Trump advisers Kellyanne Conway, Brad Parscale, and Michael Flynn. Trump’s children Eric and Don Jr. spread the propaganda, too, as did Donald Trump himself.42
• • •
MEANWHILE, TRUMP pressed ahead with another secret operation, to erect a different skyscraper in Moscow.43 Yes, the Agalarov plan had fizzled out, but after Trump announced that he was running for president, other opportunists jumped in.
Among them: Giorgi Rtskhiladze, who had once made money moving American products like computers into Moscow and cigarettes into the former Soviet republic of Georgia. Eventually Rtskhiladze decided to import Trump as well, with a deal for a Trump tower in Batumi, Georgia—giving the Trump Organization a toehold in the former Soviet Union.44 But as Trump’s presidential campaign heated up, Rtskhiladze got involved with a new potential Trump project, this time in Russia. On September 22, 2015—one day after the Trump Tower meeting with Forbes staffers—Trump’s lawyer, Michael Cohen, sent Rtskhiladze a design study for the new building. “I look forward to your reply about this spectacular project in Moscow,” Cohen wrote.45
Rtskhiladze, who had previously traveled to the former Soviet Union with Cohen,46 passed along the message to one of his friends in Moscow,47 who he said had initially asked him to reach out to the Trump Organization about a potential deal.48 “If we could organize the meeting in New York at the highest level of the Russian government and Mr. Trump,” Rtskhiladze told his friend, “this project would definitely receive worldwide attention.”49 He didn’t know how right he was.
But ultimately, Cohen decided to move forward with a third dealmaker, not the Agalarovs or Rtskhiladze but Felix Sater. Sater had also previously worked with the Trump Organization and he had deep ties inside Russia. Born in Moscow and raised in Brooklyn, Sater was once a Wall Street whiz kid. That chapter of his life ended when he got angry at a bar, grabbed a margarita glass, and smashed it into another man’s face. Convicted of assault, he was sent to prison for 15 months.50 When he got out, he had a family to feed and no way to get a job on Wall Street again, so he found a different way of making money. Sater got caught up in a Mafia-tied pump-and-dump scheme, and in 1998 he pled guilty to racketeering.51
He avoided a second stint in prison by cooperating with federal investigators, supplying information on Italian mobsters, North Korea’s nuclear program, and Osama bin Laden’s hideout. Meanwhile, he hustled for real estate deals and wound up working with the Trump Organization in Arizona, Florida, and New York.52 For a time, he even occupied an office on the 26th floor of Trump Tower, not far from the desk of Donald Trump.53
To Sater, the 2016 presidential campaign was just another opportunity to make money off the Trump name, acting as a middleman between his contacts in Russia and the Trump Organization in New York. “Let me ask you a question,” he says. “Who fucking thought he was going to get elected?”54 Apparently not even Trump. “He thought he was going to lose,” says one of the president’s business partners and best friends, billionaire Phil Ruffin.55 But even if he did lose, Trump had the sense that a presidential run could help his business, given his position in the polls. “I’m at 33 and the next highest is at 11,” he said in September 2015, three months after entering the race. “You know, in a certain way, that’s brand value.”56
Within days of that September 2015 statement, Cohen and Sater were exchanging drafts of the document Trump ultimately signed. The first version described lucrative terms—1.8 million square feet of residential condos, with at least 5% of all sales going to Donald Trump.57 Assuming they sold for as much as other high-end units in Moscow, Trump could have reaped $110 million.58 By the time he actually signed it, the artist of the deal had gotten whittled down to a possible $35 million or so up front,59 plus a couple million in annual fees. Despite the diminished potential payout, however, Trump stayed involved. “To be clear,” Cohen later testified before Congress, “Mr. Trump knew of and directed the Trump Moscow negotiations throughout the campaign.”60 Sater, who worked through Cohen, says he had no doubt that Trump knew all about the plans: “Every. Single. Word.”61 With the boss’s support, they got to work trying to pull together the pieces.
First, the land. “Meeting with Andrey Molchanov on Wednesday to do Trump Moscow on his site,” Sater emailed Cohen on October 9, 2015. “Best, biggest site in Moscow.”62 Also one of the most perilous. Andrey Molchanov, who studied in St. Petersburg,63 had gotten rich after reportedly buying a city-owned construction company64 the year he graduated from college.65 At the time, Vladimir Putin was working inside city hall in St. Petersburg.66 As Putin ascended in politics, Molchanov ascended in business, receiving financing, contracts, and special treatment from the Russian government.67 Meanwhile, Molchanov’s stepfather reportedly served as vice governor of the local region,68 where he was, according to a confidential U.S. diplomatic cable, “widely rumored to be corrupt.”
Second, the financing. “[Andrey Kostin], who is Putin’s top finance guy and CEO of 2nd-largest bank in Russia is on board and has indicated he would finance Trump Moscow,” Sater emailed Cohen three days later. “This is major for us, not only the financing aspect but Kostin’s position in Russia, extremely powerful and respected. Now all we need is Putin on board and we are golden.”69 Sater did not mention that Kostin’s bank, VTB, had been sanctioned by the U.S. government in response to the Crimea takeover.70 Nor did he mention that he had not really secured Kostin’s blessing, having only heard through an emissary that representatives of the bank would be interested in looking at the deal.71 VTB, for its part, says it never held negotiations related to Trump Moscow.72
Third, the marketing. In hopes of luring rich Russians (and boosting the prices they would pay), Sater says he was hoping to give away the penthouse to Vladimir Putin.73 He claims he would have built whatever the Russian president wanted. “It didn’t matter,” he says. “Oh, you’re only approving a 100-story building? Hey, Vladimir, if you approve 120 stories, we’ll give you the top two.”74
Fourth, the partners. Officially, Trump’s local partner was a second-tier developer named Andrey Rozov.75 Unofficially, Sater was trying to bring on two of Vladimir Putin’s closest cronies, Arkady and Boris Rotenberg.76 Together, the two brothers made up 50% of the four “inner circle” oligarchs the Obama administration had sanctioned in response to the Crimea takeover.77 The Rotenbergs, according to Sater’s plan, would have put up the real money for Trump Moscow. “We would have gone to them and asked them for four or five hundred million dollars, cash,” Sater says.78 On November 3, 2015—shortly after Cohen sent back the letter of intent with Donald Trump’s signature on it—Sater was on board a plane to the Bahamas to meet up with Rozov and a business partner of the Rotenbergs. Between hanging out and soaking up the sun, Sater talked up the project to the Rotenbergs’ partner, whose name he refuses to divulge.
The real estate deal and Trump’s campaign got muddled into one bizarre mix of politics and business. In Sater’s view, Putin’s approval would benefit Trump in both arenas. Just as he was about to kick off his time in the Bahamas, Sater emailed Cohen to suggest he get a clip of Obama criticizing the strength of the Republican field, in hopes that it would somehow set Trump apart. “Michael, we can own this story,” Sater wrote in an email. “Donald doesn’t stare down. He negotiates and understands the economic issues and Putin only wants to deal with a pragmatic leader, and a successful businessman is a good candidate for someone who knows how to negotiate. Business, politics, whatever it all is the same for someone who knows how to deal.”79
• • •
SATER IS PRONE TO big talk. The reality is that he never secured a plot of land,80 he didn’t have the financing lined up, the Rotenbergs never signed on to the deal,81 and Putin wasn’t exactly picking out furniture for his new penthouse.82 By December, Cohen was getting skeptical. “No response from Russia?” he texted Sater, who assured him that an invitation to the former Soviet country was coming soon.83
It wasn’t the answer Cohen wanted to hear. “The second I get back to NYC,” he texted, “I am on my own and will demand that you cease from all conversation regarding this project, and I will send a termination letter regarding the [letter of intent]. I will not let you fuck with my job and playing point person. I still have no numbers from anyone who is allegedly involved in this deal other than the fact I will have whatever invite I need within 48 hours. Not you or anyone you know will embarrass me in front of Mr. T when he asks me what is happening.”
“I’m not going to argue with you—what’s the point,” Sater told Cohen. “As they say in politics, if you want a friend, buy a dog. I guess they are right. Except I’m not in politics. I’m just a hard-headed Russian kid from Brooklyn.”
The next day, Sater said he found an invitation from Russia in his spam folder. “Michael, this is through Putin’s administration, and nothing gets done there without approval from the top,” he texted. “The meetings in Moscow will be with ministers—in U.S., that’s cabinet level, and with Putin’s top administration people. This most likely will include Dmitry Peskov, Putin’s press secretary, to discuss goals, meeting agenda and meeting time between Putin and Trump.”
The invitation came on official letterhead—not from Kostin’s VTB Bank, as Cohen was expecting, but from a financial institution named Genbank,84 which was later taken over by Bank Rossiya,85 which the U.S. Treasury Department describes as the “personal bank for senior officials of the Russian Federation.”86
Cohen was not impressed. “First it was a government invite, then VTB and then some third-rate bank,” he texted Sater. “It’s like being invited by Independence Savings Bank. Let me do this on my own. After almost two months of waiting, you send me some bullshit letter from a third-tier bank, and you think I’m going to walk into the boss’ office and tell him I’m going there for this? Tell them no thank you, and I will take it from here.”
“Michael, a lot of work has been done, and it’s not a 3[rd]-rate anything. You are going to be meeting VTB chairman and a minister and Putin’s press secretary. If you want to wait till the 12th, you will get the invite from VTB directly. This was done to speed up the process.”
“I’m calling bullshit again,” Cohen responded. “Let me do this on my own.”
“People went all the way to the boss for this, and using them as disposable scumbags is not a way to operate. Please don’t do this, Michael.”
“We’re done. Enough. I told you last week that you thinking you are running point in this is inaccurate. You are putting my job in jeopardy and making me look incompetent. I gave you two months and the best you send me is some bullshit fucking garbage invite by some no-name clerk at a third-tier bank. So I am telling you enough as of right now. Enough! I will handle this myself. They are not disposable scumbags. They are no one, and not a single person I know knows of this bank, and each of the people I have asked does real business in Moscow. Do you think I’m a moron? Do not call or speak to another person regarding MY project.”87
Two weeks later, Cohen sent an email directly to Putin’s press secretary, according to the Mueller report. “Dear Mr. Peskov,” it began. “Over the past few months, I have been working with a company based in Russia regarding the development of a Trump Tower-Moscow project in Moscow City. Without getting into lengthy specifics, the communication between our two sides has stalled. As this project is too important, I am hereby requesting your assistance. I respectfully request someone, preferably you, contact me so that I might discuss the specifics as well as arranging meetings with the appropriate individuals. I thank you in advance for your assistance and look forward to hearing from you soon.” Just like that, the Russian government had documentary evidence that Donald Trump was pursuing a business deal in Russia—while the American people remained in the dark. It was the kind of material that might allow Putin to exert leverage over Trump.
And the Russian leader was about to get even more. Six days after he sent the email, on January 20, 2016, Michael Cohen had a call with Elena Poliakova, Peskov’s assistant. She peppered him with questions and took notes. Cohen, either unaware or unbothered by the fact that he was giving the Russian government potentially compromising information, walked away impressed. He told Trump about the phone call, remarking that he wished the Trump Organization had assistants as good as the Kremlin’s.88
The very next day, Sater got back in touch. “Call me when you have a few minutes to chat,” he texted Cohen. “It’s about Putin. They called today.”
With the Kremlin involved, Sater and Cohen made up—and got to work arranging travel plans. “I had a chat with Moscow,” Sater texted on May 4, 2016, two and a half months before the Republican National Convention, in Cleveland. “ASSUMING the trip does happen, the question is before or after the convention.”
“My trip before Cleveland,” Cohen responded. “Trump once he becomes the nominee after the convention.”
“Got it, I’m on it,” Sater said. The next day, he followed up. “Peskov would like to invite you as his guest to the St. Petersburg Forum, which is Russia’s Davos. It’s June 16–19. He wants to meet there with you and possibly introduce you to either Putin or [Russian prime minister Dmitry] Medvedev, as they are not sure if one or both will be there. This is perfect. The entire business class of Russia will be there as well.”
“Works for me,” said Cohen.
Sater set the stage for Trump’s attorney. “Not only will you sit with No. 1 or No. 2, but the whole biz community is there. I’ll be running around setting nice $100 mill deals. And you will come back and the whole campaign team can kiss your ass. Keep this very, very close to the vest, otherwise half a dozen idiots will try to jump on your coattails. If it goes great, you are a hero. If it doesn’t, all you did was go to an economic forum to check out business. Bro, this is why you got me working in the shadows. I will make sure you are clean as a whistle either way.”
On June 13, Sater sent Cohen an invitation to the St. Petersburg International Economic Forum, which was set to begin three days later.89 Cohen seemed excited about the trip until, suddenly, something changed.90 He arranged to meet Sater and explained that he couldn’t go to Russia after all.91 But he did not tell his boss upstairs that the project was over, since there was a chance it could be revived in the final months of the campaign.92
• • •
JUST AS SATER was trying to arrange business meetings in Russia, a representative for Emin Agalarov, whose version of a Trump Tower in Moscow had sputtered out more than a year earlier, got back in touch about a different kind of meeting. “Emin just called and asked me to contact you with something very interesting,” the representative told Donald Trump Jr. in an email. “The crown prosecutor of Russia met with his father Aras this morning and in their meeting offered to provide the Trump campaign with some official documents and information that would incriminate Hillary and her dealings with Russia and would be very useful to your father. This is obviously very high level and sensitive information but is part of Russia and its government’s support for Mr. Trump—helped along by Aras and Emin.”
The president’s son responded minutes later. “If it’s what you say, I love it, especially later in the summer.”93
It remains unclear whether Donald Trump knew about this particular meeting. Michael Cohen, however, had his suspicions. “I remembered being in a room with Mr. Trump, probably in early June of 2016, when something peculiar happened,” he later testified before Congress. “Don Trump Jr. came into the room and walked behind his father’s desk, which in and of itself was unusual. People didn’t just walk behind Mr. Trump’s desk to talk to him. And I recall Don Jr. leaning over to his father and speaking in a low voice, which I could clearly hear, and saying, ‘The meeting is all set,’ and I remember Mr. Trump saying, ‘Okay, good. Let me know.’ What struck me as I looked back and thought about the exchange between Don Jr. and his father was, first, that Mr. Trump had frequently told me and others that his son Don Jr. had the worst judgment of anyone in the world. And also that Don Jr. would never set up any meeting of significance alone, and certainly not without checking with his father. I also knew that nothing went on in Trump world, especially the campaign, without Mr. Trump’s knowledge and approval.”94
For his part, Don Jr. said he never told his father. He did, however, tell his brother-in-law, Jared Kushner, and Paul Manafort, who had moved on from propping up a corrupt Ukrainian politician and was now heading Donald Trump’s electoral machine. On June 9, 2016, Trump Jr., Manafort, and Kushner all gathered inside Trump Tower to meet with a Russian attorney, her translator, and two of Agalarov’s representatives who had previously worked with the Trumps on the beauty pageant and the stalled deal. The Russian lawyer, who had maintained ties to the Kremlin, claimed that the billionaire Ziff family had dodged taxes and laundered money in the United States and Russia, and that the Ziffs had funneled money to the Hillary Clinton campaign or Democratic National Committee.
Don Jr. asked how the money could be traced to Clinton. The lawyer said she could not track the money once it entered the United States, and instead changed topics to something called the Magnitsky Act, an obscure 2012 law that enabled the United States to levy sanctions against Russian officials. This, it seemed, is what the lawyer really wanted to talk about. Bored, Kushner emailed his assistants, asking them to call him mid-meeting so that he would have an excuse to walk out. Don Jr. explained that he couldn’t help the Russian lawyer, since his father was not yet in power. The meeting ended after about 20 minutes.
The only person who might have gotten anything out of this bizarre encounter was Vladimir Putin. No, the Russian president did not get Trump insiders to agree to alter the Magnitsky Act. But if the Agalarovs passed on their emails to the Kremlin—a representative did not respond to inquiries about whether they did—then Putin would have had even more compromising material on Trump. He also would have had confirmation that the Trump family would “love it” if a hostile foreign power were to dig up dirt on Clinton. Good news for Putin, since his government had already done so.
In July 2016, Republican insiders worked on revisions to the party platform ahead of the Republican National Convention.95 They started with the platform from 2012, when the Republican nominee was Mitt Romney, who at the time was derided for naming Russia as America’s biggest foe. Trump, on the other hand, had praised Putin time and time again: “Putin has been a very strong leader for Russia”96; “He’s making minced meat out of our president”97; “He said Donald Trump is a genius.”98
One delegate proposed amending the platform to offer support for “providing lethal defensive weapons to Ukraine’s armed forces.” A Trump campaign official, who had been instructed to be a mostly passive observer in the platform discussions, nonetheless decided to tweak the language on that particular amendment, replacing it with a watered-down pledge for “appropriate assistance.” The Trump campaign official later told special counsel Robert Mueller’s investigators that was the only change he remembered the campaign requesting.99
On June 14, 2016, news broke that Russia had compromised the computer network of the Democratic National Committee.100 And on July 22, 2016, document database website WikiLeaks began releasing thousands of internal emails.101 They were damning. Party leadership, which was supposed to be neutral in the Democratic primary, had ripped Bernie Sanders in private emails. “He isn’t going to be president,” said DNC chairwoman Debbie Wasserman Schultz in one message.102 Two days after the emails came out, she announced her resignation.103
On July 27, 2016, Trump strode out to a podium at Trump National Doral, his Miami golf resort. One reporter posed a question about whether Trump was going to tell Putin to stay out of American politics. “What do I have to get involved with Putin for?” Trump said, turning his palms up in disbelief. “I have nothing to do with Putin. I’ve never spoken to him. I don’t know anything about him, other than he will respect me. He doesn’t respect our president. And if it is Russia—which it’s probably not, nobody knows who it is—but if it is Russia, it’s really bad for a different reason. Because it shows how little respect they have for our country, when they would hack into a major party and get everything. But it would be interesting to see. I will tell you this: Russia, if you’re listening, I hope you’re able to find the 30,000 emails that are missing.”104
Apparently, the Russians were listening. Within about five hours, officers inside Russia’s military intelligence agency began targeting Clinton’s personal office for the first time, according to the Mueller report.105
On October 7, 2016, a month before the election, The Washington Post published a 2005 video of the Republican nominee bragging about his behavior with women. “You know, I’m automatically attracted to beautiful—I just start kissing them,” Trump says in the video. “It’s like a magnet, just kiss. I don’t even wait. And when you’re a star, they let you do it. You can do anything. Grab ’em by the pussy. You can do anything.”106
Dozens of Republicans denounced their party’s nominee. Even Trump’s own running mate, Mike Pence, stopped answering Trump’s phone calls, according to The New Yorker.107 But in the darkest hour of President Trump’s campaign, Putin was there for him. Not even an hour after the release of the tape, another batch of Russia-hacked emails went public on WikiLeaks, exposing internal emails from Clinton campaign chairman John Podesta. They were even more damaging, revealing embarrassing lines from speeches Clinton had given to Wall Street banks and showing her campaign received advance notice about a CNN town hall question.
For Trump, the counterpunch from WikiLeaks surely helped, but it didn’t solve all concerns. There were rumors among Trump’s associates that additional tapes existed—not in the hands of a news organization but in the hands of Russians. Trump had done something compromising, the rumor went, and people connected to the Agalarovs—who brought Trump to Russia for the 2013 Miss Universe contest—had it all on tape.
Nine days before the 2016 election, Giorgi Rtskhiladze, who had corresponded with Cohen about one of the Trump Moscow proposals that stalled out quickly, resurfaced. “Stopped flow of some tapes from Russia but not sure if there’s anything else,” he texted Cohen. “Just so you know.” Rtskhiladze later said he heard the tapes were fake, but he did not mention that to Cohen, who told Trump about the supposed tapes.108 Even if the tapes did not exist, it’s hard to imagine that the conversation did not leave Trump wondering whether Putin held yet one more thing over his head.
• • •
IN THE WEE hours of the morning on November 9, 2016, Hillary Clinton called Donald Trump to congratulate him on becoming the 45th president of the United States. Shortly thereafter, Trump’s press secretary, Hope Hicks, got a call from a Washington, D.C., number, according to the Mueller report. She picked it up but could not make sense of what the person on the other end of the line was saying. Hicks did, however, catch the words “Putin call.” She told whoever it was to send her an email.
The next day, she received a message purportedly from Vladimir Putin, offering Trump congratulations on the victory. “Can you look into this?” Hicks said in a message to Jared Kushner. “Don’t want to get duped but don’t want to blow off Putin!” She eventually concluded that the message was worth passing along, and five days later, the Russian president was on the phone with Trump and his aides, including future national security adviser Michael Flynn.109
The Trump-Putin relationship faced an early hurdle in December 2016, when outgoing president Barack Obama announced a new round of sanctions to punish Russia for its interference in the elections.110 The Russian ambassador to the United States, Sergey Kislyak, texted Flynn. “Can you kindly call me back at your convenience?”
Flynn was vacationing in the Dominican Republic at the time, a sea away from most of Trump’s advisers, who were stationed with the president inside Mar-a-Lago, in Palm Beach, Florida. He called K. T. McFarland, who was set to serve as Flynn’s deputy in the new administration.111 Flynn got the message that the Mar-a-Lago crowd did not want the Russians to escalate things any further.112
He hung up, dialed Kislyak,113 and asked him to play it cool.114 The next day, Putin announced that Russia would not retaliate against the Obama sanctions.115 “Great move on delay (by V. Putin),” Trump tweeted. “I always knew he was very smart!”116
Two weeks later, The Washington Post revealed Flynn’s phone call with Kislyak.117 Flynn asked McFarland to call the paper and deny what had happened, according to the Mueller report. She followed those orders—knowing that what she said was not true as she said it. Flynn later lied to Vice President Mike Pence about the call as well, and on January 24, 2017, Flynn lied to the FBI—committing a federal crime by doing so. The whole time, of course, the Russian government knew the truth, which meant that America’s national security adviser was compromised.
After Flynn’s lies finally fell apart the next month, he was asked to resign. He walked into the Oval Office and gave Trump a hug. “We’ll give you a good recommendation,” the president said. “You’re a good guy. We’ll take care of you.”118 Flynn ended up pleading guilty to lying to the FBI.119 But he later sought to withdraw that plea,120 and in an unusual move, Trump’s Department of Justice asked a court to dismiss the case, despite the fact that Flynn had already admitted to the crime.
Trump’s associates started spinning the Russia story almost as soon as it emerged. Two days after Flynn resigned, Trump friend Phil Ruffin sat inside the first-floor restaurant of the Trump International Hotel, holding a newspaper packed front-to-back with Russia.121 “This stuff about him having financial investments all over Russia—that’s just pure crap,” Ruffin said. “I went to Russia with him. We took my airplane. We were having lunch with one of the oligarchs there. No business was discussed.”122
The next month, on March 20, 2017, FBI director James Comey walked into the Longworth House Office Building, past clicking cameras, and took a seat before the House Intelligence Committee. Wearing a gold-striped tie and plenty of hair gel, he briefly thanked his hosts, then shifted in his seat. “As you know, our practice is not to confirm the existence of ongoing investigations, especially those investigations that involve classified matters. But in unusual circumstances, where it is in the public interest, it may be appropriate to do so, as Justice Department policies recognize. This is one of those circumstances.
“I have been authorized by the Department of Justice to confirm that the FBI, as part of our counterintelligence mission, is investigating the Russian government’s efforts to interfere in the 2016 presidential election. And that includes investigating the nature of any links between individuals associated with the Trump campaign and the Russian government—and whether there was any coordination between the campaign and Russia’s efforts.”123
That announcement set Washington ablaze, and a month and a half later Comey was back before Congress, this time facing the Senate Judiciary Committee, which was probing for answers. Senator Richard Blumenthal asked Comey, “Potentially the president of the United States could be a target of your ongoing investigation into the Trump campaign’s involvement with Russian interference in our election, correct?”124
Comey put his hands up and winced. “I just worry—I don’t want to answer that because that seems to me unfair speculation. We will follow the evidence.”
President Trump was not happy. Eating dinner at one of his New Jersey clubs the following Friday, alongside his son-in-law Jared Kushner and policy adviser Stephen Miller, he announced that he wanted to dismiss the FBI director. As Trump drafted a termination letter on the spot, Miller took notes, according to the Mueller report. “Dear Director Comey,” the letter began, “While I greatly appreciate your informing me, on three separate occasions, that I am not under investigation concerning the fabricated and politically motivated allegations of a Trump-Russia relationship . . .”125
The following Tuesday, May 9, 2017, Comey was standing in an FBI office in Los Angeles when he saw news of his firing flash across a television. Comey thought someone was pulling a prank on him by messing with the TV monitor. But then he got an email from his assistant, which included a scanned letter from the president of the United States.126 It was true: he was gone.
One day later, Trump met in the Oval Office with Russia’s ambassador and foreign minister. “I just fired the head of the FBI,” he told them, according to the Mueller report. “He was crazy, a real nut job. I faced great pressure because of Russia. That’s taken off.”127 In fact, it was not.
A week later, in the very same room, Trump sat with top White House lawyer Don McGahn, Attorney General Jeff Sessions, and Sessions’s chief of staff, Jody Hunt, who was taking notes. In the middle of the meeting, according to those notes, Sessions got a phone call. He stood up, walked by the presidential seal on the carpet, and left the office.
Deputy Attorney General Rod Rosenstein was on the line. He told Sessions about Robert Mueller’s appointment as special counsel, charged with investigating efforts to influence the 2016 election. Sessions, a slight, 70-year-old man who had served as Alabama’s senator for 20 years before joining the Trump cabinet three months earlier, walked back into the Oval Office and delivered the news to his boss.
Trump slumped back in his chair. “Oh my God,” he said, letting it sink in. “This is terrible. This is the end of my Presidency. I’m fucked.”128
3
The Takeover
INAUGURATING AMERICA’S BILLIONAIRE IN CHIEF
On January 11, 2017, just nine days before taking office, Donald Trump hosted his first news conference as president-elect. A crowd of reporters gathered inside Trump Tower, next to a bank of elevators. Future White House power players Steve Bannon and Kellyanne Conway, Jared Kushner and Stephen Miller milled about. When the elevator doors finally opened, out walked Donald Trump himself.1
He had a stern look on his face, which made sense, given the circumstances. The previous day, BuzzFeed News had released the infamous Steele dossier, a report prepared by former British intelligence officer Christopher Steele alleging a vast conspiracy between the Trump campaign and Russia.2 At the time, there were few answers—but plenty of questions. Had the Russians really hacked the 2016 elections? Did the Kremlin actually have business ties to the incoming president? And did Putin truly hold compromising information on Trump?
Incoming press secretary Sean Spicer took the microphone first. “It is frankly outrageous and highly irresponsible for a left-wing blog that was openly hostile to the president-elect’s campaign to drop highly salacious and flat-out false information on the internet just days before he takes the oath of office.”
Vice President–elect Mike Pence stepped up next. “The irresponsible decision of a few news organizations to run with a false and unsubstantiated report, when most news organizations resisted the temptation to propagate this fake news, can only be attributed to media bias, an attempt to demean the president-elect.”3
They had a point. The dossier was certainly salacious and undoubtedly unverified. It said Michael Cohen had held a secret meeting in Prague,4 a city he had never visited.5 And it claimed, apparently without solid evidence, that Trump had once paid prostitutes to defile a Moscow hotel room where the Obamas had slept, by performing a “‘golden showers’ (urination) show in front of him.”6 Spicer and Pence responded like most politicians would—they went into spin mode. They ignored damning facts, pointed out false claims, and made the strongest statements they possibly could while generally staying within the boundaries of the truth.
Donald Trump took a different approach. “I have no deals that could happen in Russia,” he said, “because we’ve stayed away.”7 To Trump, the line between spinning and lying never mattered all that much. Life was a series of sales pitches: He was self-made! He would save Atlantic City! He was one of the best bets on Wall Street! None of it was true, but all of it was convincing, at least to enough people that Trump got what he wanted. Now, days before taking the Oval Office, he was focused on his latest pitch: that his business was going to be independent from his presidency.
That was the original point of the press conference, before the dossier hijacked the news cycle. “I will be holding a major news conference in New York City with my children,” Trump tweeted in November 2016, “to discuss the fact that I will be leaving my great business in total in order to fully focus on running the country in order to MAKE AMERICA GREAT AGAIN! While I am not mandated to do this under the law, I feel it is visually important, as President, to in no way have a conflict of interest with my various businesses. Hence, legal documents are being crafted which take me completely out of business operations. The Presidency is a far more important task!”8
By lying about his dealings in Russia, Trump was trying to stay on message. But his potential conflicts of interest went well beyond Moscow. He also had loans from banks facing regulatory oversight.9 Deals with federal contractors.10 Payments from foreign countries.11 Even two separate leases with the U.S. government.12
Never before had someone assumed the presidency with such a large business, reaching into so many different areas. Federal law gives most officials no choice but to get rid of conflict-prone assets upon entering the government. For everyone in the executive branch, it is a crime to take official actions on specific issues that will clearly affect personal holdings.13 Everyone, that is, besides the president and the vice president, who are exempt from the statute. Trump’s predecessors acted like the rule applied to them anyway. Jimmy Carter put his peanut farm in a blind trust.14 Ronald Reagan, Bill Clinton, and both George Bushes did the same with their investments.15 Barack Obama invested his into benign index funds.16
Other laws do apply to the president, like the U.S. Constitution. It bans receiving “emoluments” from foreign governments without the consent of Congress.17 But the precise definition of an emolument—a payment or benefit—is somewhat murky. Does money flowing through a private business like Trump’s count as an emolument? Ethics experts said yes.18 Trump’s legal team said no.19
That was enough for the president-elect to make his decision. “What I’m going to be doing,” he announced from the podium inside Trump Tower, “is my two sons, who are right here, Don and Eric, are going to be running the company. They are going to be running it in a very professional manner.”20 Rather than sell his business, he was merely putting his heirs in charge, something a lot of tycoons do when they reach their seventies.
Watching the announcement on a TV in his office, Walter Shaub, the top ethics official in the executive branch, felt his heart sink. He had tried, without success, to get Trump’s team to engage on ethics matters for weeks. “When we heard there was going to be this press conference, ever the optimist, there was a small part of me that dared to hope somebody had gotten through to him and he was going to do the right thing, Shaub says. Instead, the president revealed his plan to delegate rather than divest. Shaub decided to speak out, assuming it would cost him his position.21 “Stepping back from running his business is meaningless from a conflicts-of-interest perspective,” he said in a speech at the Brookings Institution that day. “The presidency is a full-time job, and he would’ve had to step back anyway.”22
Donald Trump had left little doubt about who was ultimately in charge of his business. “I hope, at the end of eight years, I’ll come back and say, ‘Oh, you did a good job,” he said at the close of the press conference, his sons looking on. “Otherwise, if they do a bad job, I’ll say, ‘You’re fired.’”23 And with that, the billionaire in chief walked offstage.
• • •
MORE THAN TWO centuries earlier, Alexander Hamilton pondered what might happen if an American president were too focused on money. “An avaricious man might be tempted to betray the interests of the state to the acquisition of wealth,” he wrote in Federalist no. 75. “An ambitious man might make his own aggrandizement, by the aid of a foreign power, the price of his treachery to his constituents.”24
Foreign powers were eager to influence the United States in revolutionary times, just as they are today. In 1785, King Louis XVI of France gave Benjamin Franklin 408 diamonds, set in a snuffbox, as a gift upon his departure from the embassy in Paris.25 America’s original constitution, the Articles of Confederation, prohibited presents from foreign heads of state.26 But Franklin got special permission from Congress to keep the diamonds anyway.27
Two years later, he and his fellow revolutionaries convened inside Philadelphia’s Independence Hall for the Constitutional Convention. They tore up the Articles of Confederation and crafted a new founding document. One rule that stayed on the books? The emoluments clause. “No person,” the new constitution reiterated, “holding any office of profit or trust under [the United States], shall, without the consent of Congress, accept of any present, emolument, office or title, of any kind whatever, from any king, prince or foreign state.”28
Following rules is harder than making them. Four years after the Constitutional Convention, Thomas Jefferson received a snuffbox of his own from the French court. Rather than hand it back or ask Congress if he could hold on to it, Jefferson came up with a secret plan, detailed in Zephyr Teachout’s Corruption in America. He instructed one of his aides to extract the diamonds, sell them, then place the proceeds in his personal account. He used the money to pay off embassy debts.29
How much does a box of diamonds distort someone’s thinking? It’s impossible to know. Franklin and Jefferson themselves probably could not answer that question. But their actions leave room to wonder whether the gifts impacted their view of the world. When the masses rose up against King Louis in 1789, Jefferson initially expressed his support for the people,30 which made sense, given that the French Revolution had echoes of the American Revolution. But years later, Jefferson seemed to change his mind, concluding that France was not in fact prepared for the transition from “despotism to freedom.”31
America’s next generation of leaders had to contend with a different type of corruption, one of their own making. After taking office in 1829, Andrew Jackson decided to reward his supporters by doling out government jobs.32 It was a questionable governing model, but a successful political one. For the next half century or so, that’s how America functioned. Voters offered support, financial and otherwise, and politicians repaid them with jobs.33 Eventually, unqualified officials filled the ranks of every department, and the federal government turned into a giant spoils system.34
President James Garfield got elected in 1880 and quickly fell victim to the sort of jealousies that such a system could produce. A man named Charles Guiteau expected an appointment, but it never came. So Guiteau went to a Washington, D.C., train station on July 2, 1881, clutching an ivory-handled pistol.35 When Garfield walked into the building, Guiteau approached from behind, raised the gun, and fired two bullets into the president.36 Garfield collapsed on the floor and died 79 days later.37 The murder inspired reform. In 1883, Chester Arthur, who had been Garfield’s vice president, signed the Pendleton Act, which in essence required certain government jobs to go to people who actually knew what they were doing.38
That helped end the spoils system, but it spawned a new problem. Since politicians were unable to raise big money from job seekers, they needed a new source of campaign funds.39 In stepped America’s business titans. In 1896, William McKinley’s campaign manager, a wealthy railroad industrialist named Mark Hanna, leaned on his fellow members of the upper crust.40 Andrew Carnegie, John D. Rockefeller, and J. P. Morgan handed over at least $250,000 apiece,41 totaling the equivalent of almost $23 million today. The McKinley campaign printed 200 million pamphlets42 and spent five times as much money as the campaign of his competitor, William Jennings Bryan.43 On November 3, 1896, Americans went to the polls, and McKinley emerged the victor, with 51% of the vote to Bryan’s 46%.44 A week later, Hanna walked into the Republican Club of New York City and the room burst into applause. “If I have succeeded,” he told the crowd, “it is because I brought the business interests under the one banner.”45
One of the people sitting in the room that night was the president of New York’s board of police commissioners, a 38-year-old named Teddy Roosevelt.46 Five years later, after Roosevelt made his name fighting in the Spanish-American War, he became McKinley’s vice president.47 When another assassin killed McKinley, in 1901, Roosevelt turned into the 26th president of the United States of America.
Big political change often happens when the leader of one party crosses his base and embraces an opposing viewpoint. That’s what Roosevelt did, going after the very same monopolists who had propelled his party to power. He signed the nation’s first major campaign finance law, banning corporations from making political donations.48 Additional legislation soon followed, capping the amount candidates could spend on House and Senate races.49 The influence of the tycoons began to fade. “The first requisite of successful self-government,” Roosevelt declared, “is unflinching enforcement of the law and the cutting out of corruption.”50
The framework Roosevelt championed endured for nearly seventy years, when Richard Nixon’s downfall sparked a new wave of legislation.51 Congress created the Federal Election Commission, an agency that tracks how campaigns handle their money,52 as well as the Office of Government Ethics, which reviews how officials invest their personal funds.53
When Gerald Ford took over as president in 1974, he appointed former New York governor Nelson Rockefeller to the vice presidency. Although Rockefeller never stood for election as vice president and only served in the office for two years, his financial arrangement is the closest parallel we have to Donald Trump’s situation. Like Trump, he was exempt, as vice president, from the conflict-of-interest statute.54 And, like Trump, he brought an enormous fortune with him into office.55
Rockefeller held far less power than Trump. His fortune, worth $218 million (equal to $1.1 billion today), stemmed from the work of his grandfather, oil baron John D. Rockefeller Sr.56 By the time Nelson Rockefeller was tapped to be vice president, he still held interests with serious potential for conflicts, including a $28 million stake in Exxon (equivalent to $146 million today) and $20 million in IBM ($103 million today).57 Since both companies were so enormous, Rockefeller’s stakes offered no level of control. Nonetheless, his wealth caused a stir in Washington, even among his fellow Republicans. “The whole subject is not whether he has millions of dollars,” said conservative senator Barry Goldwater. “It’s whether or not he’s used these millions of dollars to buy power.”58
In response, Rockefeller opened his books to Congress, sharing seven years’ worth of income tax returns. He testified on Capitol Hill, explaining that he wanted to be sure everyone got a full picture of his finances. He promised to put his holdings into a blind trust. And in the end, he leaned on his reputation, forged through decades of public service. “The abstract questions about private wealth and the power of the presidency come from finally to a direct personal question about my being in the line of succession: Am I the kind of man who would use his wealth improperly in public office?” Rockefeller said. “Or, more generally and more importantly, would my family background somehow limit and blind me, so that I would not be able to see and serve the general good of all Americans? I think the answer is no.”59
Since Rockefeller left office, billionaires have figured out a multitude of ways to circumvent the law and pour money into politics. For decades, as New Yorker journalist Jane Mayer describes in the book Dark Money, industrial barons David and Charles Koch funneled money into right-leaning think tanks, advocacy groups, and conservatively minded university programs. Much of the cash traveled through private foundations, providing an additional benefit beyond influence. According to the tax code, the Kochs could write off their donations as charitable expenditures, saving millions of dollars per year.
Michigan tycoon Richard DeVos, who cofounded multilevel marketing giant Amway, also gave away big sums. Working around campaign laws that limited the amount a donor could give to an individual candidate, DeVos and his family made big gifts to broad causes. These sorts of donations, known as “soft money,” came under scrutiny in the 1990s, because they allowed people like DeVos to gain the sort of influence that Teddy Roosevelt and others had so carefully tried to weed out at the beginning of the century.60 DeVos’s daughter-in-law, Betsy, decided to publicly defend her family’s practices in a tongue-in-cheek op-ed published in Roll Call. “I know a little something about soft money, as my family is the largest single contributor of soft money to the national Republican party,” she wrote in 1997.
“I have decided,” she added, “to stop taking offense at the suggestion that we are buying influence. Now I simply concede the point. They are right. We do expect some things in return. We expect to foster a conservative governing philosophy consisting of limited government and respect for traditional American virtues. We expect a return on our investment; we expect a good and honest government. Furthermore, we expect the Republican party to use the money to promote these policies, and yes, to win elections. People like us must surely be stopped.”
Hoping to strike another blow to campaign finance restrictions, the DeVos family donated to a little-known nonprofit called the James Madison Center for Free Speech. Led by a lawyer named James Bopp, the James Madison Center helped fight campaign finance restrictions around the country through litigation.61
In 2009, one of Bopp’s clients, a nonprofit named Citizens United, faced off against the Federal Election Commission in the U.S. Supreme Court.62 Amid the 2008 campaign, Citizens United released a movie denouncing Hillary Clinton, which it feared would lead to punishment because of campaign-finance rules. The nonprofit took the matter to court, saying it should be able to market the film. And in 2010, the Supreme Court agreed. In addition, the court rejected limits on how much corporations could spend in elections.63
“We had a 10-year plan to take all this down,” Bopp told The New York Times shortly afterward. “And if we do it right, I think we can pretty well dismantle the entire regulatory regime that is called campaign finance law.”64
Citizens United, combined with a subsequent ruling, allowed companies and individuals to put unlimited sums into federal elections.65 The Roosevelt-era reforms, which had lasted roughly 100 years, disappeared. The Gilded Age was back, and this time there were even more tycoons, with more money. In the 2010 election, held ten months after the Citizens United ruling, $93 million flowed into so-called super PACs, groups that allow donors to pump endless sums into elections.66
Today, $93 million seems rather quaint. Ten individuals—six of whom tend to support Democrats and four of whom usually give to Republicans—collectively invested more than $1 billion into the American political system from 2010 to 2018, according to an analysis of data released by the Center for Responsive Politics.67 Then the 2020 election began. In a matter of months, Michael Bloomberg shelled out more than $1 billion promoting his own campaign and bashing President Trump.68 Tom Steyer spent $317 million doing the same.69 Even the people at the center of the arms race agree it makes no sense. “The corporations have bought our government,”70 cried Steyer, who has personally pumped more than a half billion dollars into the political system since 2010.71 “I’m against very wealthy people attempting to or influencing elections,”72 added Sheldon Adelson, the biggest donor on the right.73
Rather than view the problem as a barrier, candidate Donald Trump spotted opportunity. Since he was so rich, he reasoned, his own piles of cash would shield him from the influence of other big-money interests. “I don’t need anybody’s money,” he said on June 16, 2015, the first day of his campaign. “I’m using my own money. I’m not using the lobbyists. I’m not using donors. I don’t care. I’m really rich.”74
It was a message Trump carried all the way to the White House. “Today we are not merely transferring power from one administration to another, or from one party to another—but we are transferring power from Washington, D.C., and giving it back to you, the people,” he said in his inaugural address. “For too long, a small group in our nation’s capital has reaped the rewards of government while the people have borne the cost. . . . That all changes starting right here, and right now, because this moment is your moment. It belongs to you.”75
To figure out who was really going to hold power during the Trump administration, however, all you needed to do was look at the people with the best seats at the inauguration, sitting onstage with the president. There was Adelson, a casino king worth an estimated $30 billion. Next to him was Linda McMahon of WWE, former bankroller of Donald Trump’s foundation and soon-to-be head of his Small Business Administration. A few seats down from her was Woody Johnson, owner of the New York Jets and future ambassador to the United Kingdom. Three billionaires—investor Carl Icahn, New England Patriots owner Robert Kraft, and Las Vegas legend Steve Wynn—had spots in his same row. Oil tycoon Harold Hamm, tech titan Peter Thiel, and real estate mogul Steven Roth—all billionaires—sat one row behind them.76
Betsy DeVos, the same person who admitted that she expected a return on her political investments, was there, too, poised to become the next secretary of education. Her net worth, including assets held by her husband and children, stood at an estimated $2 billion, making DeVos the richest appointee to a historically rich cabinet.77 Other members included Secretary of Commerce Wilbur Ross ($600 million), Treasury Secretary Steven Mnuchin ($400 million), and Secretary of State Rex Tillerson ($325 million).78
Positioned along the aisle, with one of the clearest views of the president, sat Tom Barrack, executive chairman of investment firm Colony Capital and an old friend of Trump’s. Back in 1988, while working for Texas billionaire Robert Bass, Barrack had sold Trump the Plaza Hotel for roughly $407 million,79 in that deal that Trump admitted made no financial sense. Three decades later, Barrack agreed to serve as chairman of the 58th Presidential Inaugural Committee, the organization that would pay for events at Trump’s inauguration.
Barrack had not lost his touch for squeezing money out of rich guys. He got more than 25 billionaires to pony up funds, raising $107 million in total.80 “They all want to kiss the rear of whoever wins the election,” says Richard Painter, who kept a close eye on inaugural fund money while serving as George W. Bush’s chief ethics counsel. The money coming in can raise suspicions, as can the money going out, especially if it goes to people in the government. “It’s a potential problem that every decent ethics lawyer knows is a huge issue,” adds Painter. “The problem with Trump [is] they never really had an ethics lawyer.”81
Coal billionaire Chris Cline donated $1 million to the inaugural festivities. Obama-era policies had been harming the coal industry for years, but Trump promised to shake things up. A trust connected to fellow coal magnate Joseph Craft III pitched in another $1 million. Craft’s wife, Kelly, ended up getting nominated to be ambassador to Canada, then later promoted to U.S. ambassador to the United Nations.82
Another $250,000 came from Kelcy Warren, cofounder of pipeline giant Energy Transfer.83 His company’s Dakota Access pipeline had been thrown into limbo thanks to a fight with the Standing Rock Sioux Tribe. Trump was ready, as one of his first acts in office, to write a presidential memorandum expediting approval of the project.84 Shares of Energy Transfer, therefore, jumped 17% the day after the election, boosting Warren’s personal fortune an estimated $440 million.85 Why wouldn’t he chip in $250,000, or 0.06% of that haul, to celebrate?
Three brokerage tycoons—Thomas Peterffy of Interactive Brokers, Marlene Ricketts of TD Ameritrade, and Charles Schwab of, well, Charles Schwab—pitched in as well.86 Rising interest rates and hope of deregulation helped push stock in the three firms up by more than 10% before Trump even took office, boosting their families’ fortunes by an estimated $1.1 billion (Peterffy),87 $700 million (Ricketts),88 and $1.3 billion (Schwab).89 As an extra touch, Trump picked another member of the Ricketts family, Todd, to be deputy secretary of commerce. Ricketts later withdrew his name, with a spokesperson citing potential conflicts of interest.90
It’s not easy to spend $107 million on a celebration that lasts just a few days, but with these kinds of guests, the money disappeared quickly. On January 17, 2017, Barrack91 had a dinner inside the Andrew W. Mellon Auditorium in Washington, D.C.92 A stream of black cars rolled up, depositing men in tuxes and women in ballroom gowns. The guest list included at least 19 billionaires, as well as congressional leaders like Mitch McConnell and Kevin McCarthy, plus ministers from the United Arab Emirates, Qatar, and Saudi Arabia.93 The setting suited the clientele. Attendees walked into a space with marble floors, gold finishes, and soaring columns made of crushed clamshells.94
Such scenes played out around the capital all week, often roped off to the public. Behind the barricades surrounding the Trump International Hotel, for instance, Trump’s foreign business partners got to spend time together. On a couch below a giant American flag, Indonesian billionaire Hary Tanoesoedibjo texted fellow billionaire Hussain Sajwani of Dubai. Eventually they met up, and the two developers of far-flung Trump properties snapped a photo together in the lobby of the recently opened Trump building, just down Pennsylvania Avenue from the White House.
Joo Kim Tiah, Trump’s partner on a hotel in Vancouver, also booked a room there—though he might have had second thoughts about his selection, given the raucous celebration unfolding downstairs. He had an early flight the next morning and finally had to ask the hotel staff if they realized what time it was. “I’m sorry, Mr. Tiah, we can’t turn the music down,” a worker responded. “This is once in a lifetime.”95
No question about that. The man staying in the presidential suite, after all, was the president-elect himself. Not far away, his friend, business partner, and fellow billionaire Phil Ruffin took up quarters in another room, paying $18,000 a night. “We had a great suite,” Ruffin says. “It wasn’t worth $18,000 a night.”96
Bills like that added up quickly. Documents for the Trump hotel showed revenues in January 2017 hit $6 million, 99% above internal expectations.97 That allowed the business to turn a one-month profit of $1.6 million, when it had been expecting to lose $600,000. In addition to all the money coming directly from billionaire buddies, $1.5 million reportedly flowed from the 58th Presidential Inaugural Committee, headed by Barrack.98 That suggests that at least 25% of the revenue that Trump’s hotel generated in January 2017—his first month in office—came from the president’s own political donors, many of whom were big businessmen and some of whom were just everyday supporters trying to help out with the inauguration.
All of this could have been legal if the inaugural fund paid fair market rates. But it’s not clear that it did. Stephanie Winston Wolkoff, one of Melania Trump’s associates, who was helping to organize the inaugural festivities, sounded the alarm.99 “I wanted to follow up on our conversation and express my concern,” she emailed one of Barrack’s top deputies, according to correspondence revealed by ProPublica and WNYC. “These events are in [President-elect Trump’s] honor at his hotel and one of them is for family and close friends. Please take into consideration that when this is audited, it will become public knowledge.”100
• • •
ONE MONTH AFTER the inauguration, I sit across from one of the men in charge of the president’s business, Eric Trump, just down the hall from his brother, Don Jr., at Trump Tower. The man who built the building, Donald Trump, is gone. Sort of.
“My father and I are very close,” Eric tells me. “I talk to him a lot. We’re pretty inseparable. We were before. We worked together every day for the last 10, 12 years, and he’s a big part of my life. At the same time, every time I turn on the TV—including, I can actually bet you right now that if I turn on the TV, let’s just see if I’m right—I will bet you that he will be on that screen in some way, shape, or form. Let’s see if I’m right. Minus if it’s a commercial.” Eric picks up the remote and points it toward a small screen in the corner of his office. It lights up, showing a reporter talking straight into the camera: “A hearing in federal court today could allow hundreds of people who were deported under President Trump’s original—”
“There we go,” Eric says, powering the TV off. “So I won the bet, right? So anyway, I see him up there all day, every day. And I also realize how big of a magnitude the decisions he makes and the things he has on his plate. So, you know, I also minimize fluff calls that you might otherwise have, because I understand that time is a resource, and that resource is important, especially when you’ve got the biggest job in the world.”
But, Eric emphasizes, his father has set out some clear rules to distance his presidency from his business. First, he has promised not to talk with his sons about it. “There is kind of a clear separation of church and state that we maintain, and I am deadly serious about that exercise,” Eric says. “I do not talk about the government with him, and he does not talk about the business with us. And that’s kind of a steadfast pact that we made, and it’s something that we honor. We took the structure of the business very, very seriously. We took the separation of church and state very, very seriously. Not that he had to, because, quite frankly, the president doesn’t have conflicts, but because it was the right thing to do. I’m very sensitive to it, and it’s something that we adhere to.” Less than ten seconds later, however, Eric contradicts himself, conceding that he will in fact update his father on the business. “Yeah, on the bottom line, profitability reports and stuff like that. But you know, that’s about it.” How often will those reports be? Every quarter? “Depending, yeah, depending.” Could be more, could be less? “Yeah, probably quarterly.”
Second, Eric notes, his father has promised to donate all profits from foreign dignitaries to the U.S. Treasury, a way of blunting criticism that he was violating the emoluments clause. “You take the profits and you give that away,” says Eric. Sounds simple, but it’s not. If the Trump Organization is counting its “profits” as the money left after paying off debt, for example, then Trump could still be getting richer from the foreign payments. When asked about how the business plans to calculate “profits,” Eric Trump refuses to answer. “I don’t know,” he says. “The [accountants] have to figure out how it works.” Given that his father is already in office at this point, one would assume that such things had already been figured out. Eric insists that profits—however they are measured—are pulled from all Trump properties.101 But a handful of days ago, Phil Ruffin, who owns a 50% share of the Trump International Hotel in Las Vegas,102 told me foreign dignitaries would not be treated any differently at that property. “They have to pay like everybody else.” Pressed on whether they would then take out profits from those payments, Ruffin dismissed the idea. “They’re not going to do that.”103
Third, the president has committed to doing no new foreign deals while in office. “We’ve strictly said that we weren’t going to do deals overseas,” says Eric. “And we’re not.”104 But they will, selling $3.2 million of land in the Dominican Republic one year later.105 The president will reach other deals with foreigners; he’ll just do it on U.S. soil. The Trump Organization will end up selling a Las Vegas condo, for instance, to a man named Yu Zhang, who will list his address on the deed as “Taiyuan City, China.”106 The president will also sell his $13.5 million mansion107 in Beverly Hills to a company connected to Tanoesoedibjo, the tycoon from Indonesia who was texting inside the Trump hotel during the inauguration.108 And then there’s the lease with the Qataris.
Over the next three years, it will become clear that the plan the Trumps originally laid out is not the real plan. The real plan is for the president to talk finances with his family. The real plan is to collect money from foreign nations. The real plan is to keep striking new deals, with foreigners and Americans who have interests before the government. The real plan is to funnel political money into the Trump Organization. Donald Trump’s real plan, in other words, is to turn the presidency into a business.
4
Presidential Palace
INSIDE TRUMP’S OTHER WASHINGTON, D.C., HOME
It’s December 8, 2019, at the Trump International Hotel in Washington, D.C., and the lobby is appropriately decked out for the holidays. A Christmas tree, 30 feet tall or so, stands in the middle of the room, wrapped in ribbon, adorned with golden balls. Chandeliers dangle from steel beams arching over the room—crystal earrings to complement the rest of the scene. Customers mill about below, sipping $10 beers and $20 glasses of wine while their eyes wander the room.
I’m seated in the corner, on the bottom floor of BLT Prime, the lobby restaurant, long known as the only D.C. establishment where President Trump has ever dined out.1 A waiter comes by to check in. “You’re going to see someone tonight,” he says, taking in the atmosphere. “The Presidential Ballroom is booked tonight. You never know who you’re going to see walking around. I’ve seen the president 10 times since I’ve been here.”2
If he doesn’t show up, it seems likely a crowd of his lieutenants will. After all, the person who booked the Presidential Ballroom for tonight is none other than Attorney General William Barr.3 Jonathan O’Connell and David Fahrenthold of The Washington Post got ahold of the contract for the event, which showed that it would probably provide at least $30,000 in revenue for Trump’s hotel.4 O’Connell is here, too. He paces over to BLT and peers inside to see if he recognizes anyone. I spot him and introduce myself. We make small talk and wonder who else is going to show up for the party.
There are plenty of people all dressed up—in evening dresses and power suits—but none of them are cabinet members. Outside is a group of middle-aged women who came for the festivities, but they are clearly uninvited guests. “Shame!” they yell at cars pulling up to the entrance. “You’re complicit!” “Your grandchildren will be ashamed one day!” There are just enough of them to hold up the letters they fashioned for the occasion, which spell out “Disbar Barr” on lighted placards. Not exactly the most heartwarming Christmas lights, but they make a statement. So do the passersby. One car honks in support, and the ladies let out a cheer. A pedestrian, meanwhile, shouts, “Four more years!”
“In prison!” one of the protesters counters.
A few feet away stands a hotel security guard, dressed in a black suit and red tie. He’s a young guy, barely old enough to grow facial hair. I ask him about his job. The protesters—who appear at least twice his age—mock him as he’s answering. “I’m working hard,” he says. “It’s hostile, you know. Everybody is doing their job, you know. At least, I have a family to look after. I have a job, you know. That’s what I think about.” He tells me that previous protesters came into the hotel and destroyed property, then pulls up a YouTube video appearing to show just that. “A lot of people are getting employed here, you know,” he says.
Since the ballroom is set aside from the lobby—and I still haven’t seen the attorney general—I start wondering whether Barr entered through a more discreet entrance. I walk around to the back of the hotel and find a couple of workers on a smoke break. “There is no party tonight at the ballroom,” one of them tells me. I head back into the hotel and ask a couple of waiters in the lounge. They tell me they aren’t sure whether there is a party or not. The hallway that leads to the ballroom includes a sign forbidding anyone but hotel employees from walking farther. Confused, I spot the security guard who had been standing outside and ask whether there is, in fact, a party in the Presidential Ballroom after all. “We cannot let anyone know what’s going on,” he tells me. “We’ve got to keep it private. That’s our policy.”
The official policy at the president’s hotel is to not disclose who is there. Confusion seems to be the point. Hoping to make sense of what’s going on as the night is winding down, I station myself outside of the hotel, with a view of the doors closest to the Presidential Ballroom, expecting to see a parade of well-dressed officials pouring out. They never come. Finally, I walk up to the doors—this set does not include a sign forbidding people from entering—and notice that one is ajar. I walk inside and head to the Presidential Ballroom.
An interior door opens into an immaculate space, with gold-accented walls and another set of crystal chandeliers. The room is entirely empty. Chairs are stacked on top of one another, and the place looks perfectly clean, as if no one has been inside all day. I come across a worker on the way out, who seems confused about what a random wanderer is doing near the Presidential Ballroom. He tells me there has been no one in the space tonight: “Should be empty.”
Turns out, Barr’s party got called off,5 rescheduled for another night, presumably when journalists and protesters wouldn’t be staking out the place. And so, on a Sunday night in the heart of the holiday season, the president’s ballroom sits vacant.
Ask most people who follow the news about President Trump’s Washington, D.C., hotel, and they’ll tell you it’s a cash cow—or at least was before the coronavirus crisis—hauling in money from influence seekers. The truth, as this night shows, is more complicated. Just because you turn the presidency into a business doesn’t mean you turn it into a good business. Protesters aren’t great for any hotel. Nor are stressed-out staff members. A close examination of the president’s cash-flow situation at his hotel in Washington, which has remained shrouded in secrecy throughout his presidency, suggests a more troubled financial picture than was previously understood. The truth, it seems, is that the presidency made the Trump hotel less of a cash cow and more of a money pit.
Donald Trump has always been just as likely to blow money on hotels as make money on them. Take his reported $407 million purchase of New York’s Plaza Hotel in 19886—“not economic,” as Trump admitted at the time.7 Four years later, the hotel, burdened by the hefty debt load Trump took on at the place, reportedly filed for bankruptcy.8
Familiar territory for Trump. His first corporate bankruptcy came in 1991,9 after he sold $675 million10 in junk bonds to finish construction of a lavish hotel and casino, the Trump Taj Mahal, complete with onion domes and waitresses outfitted in Indian costumes. A year after opening, the Trump Taj Mahal filed for bankruptcy.11 In 1992, two other Atlantic City hotel-casinos, Trump’s Castle12 and Trump Plaza,13 exited bankruptcy. Then there was Trump’s public company, which combined14 the three Atlantic City properties. Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts declared bankruptcy in 2004,15 changed its name16 to Trump Entertainment Resorts, then filed for bankruptcy once more in 2009.17 In total, that adds up to six bankruptcies, all involving hotels.
Scarred by his near collapse, Trump pursued new methods of building. He created skyscrapers that serve as part hotel, part condo complex, where investors can buy units as second homes and, when they aren’t in town, leave Trump to manage them as hotel rooms. The condo-hotel model worked in New York18 and Vegas19 but proved unsuccessful in Chicago. Trump also began charging other developers to use his name on their buildings or run operations on their behalf.20 Several of Trump’s licensing and management ventures failed.21 His partners and investors were left to deal with the consequences, while Trump walked away unscathed after pocketing varying fees. Such projects spread the Trump name to Panama,22 Hawaii, Toronto, and Vancouver.23 With little risk involved, they also served as perfect training grounds for the Trump kids, Don Jr., Eric, and Ivanka, who flew around the globe working the deals. “I think it’s more my siblings’ baby than it is his,” Don Jr. said in a 2016 deposition, when asked about his father’s involvement in the hotel ventures. “He gets involved more in the deals where we have heavy equity investments, as opposed to where we are a hotel manager and operator.”24
Deals such as the Washington, D.C., hotel.25 Ivanka initially spotted the opportunity.26 Built between 1892 and 1899,27 the Trump hotel, formerly the Old Post Office Building,28 is a magnificent structure, the second-tallest in D.C., behind only the Washington Monument.29 In 2011, the federal government, which had been operating the building and losing millions of dollars annually on it,30 solicited offers from private operators interested in redeveloping the place.31 Ten companies threw their names into the ring, including Hilton,32 but the Trumps won the bid.33 They committed to invest $200 million to convert the building into a hotel as part of a lease agreement with the federal government.34 After doing a series of licensing and operating deals, Trump was back in the hotel game as a big-time equity holder, and once again he was throwing around serious money.
The project turned into a full family affair. Ivanka worked with D.C. officials.35 Don Jr. handled the leasing. Eric pitched in as well, though his role was less clear.36 Each of the three kids took a 7.5% stake,37 making the hotel the most consequential Trump Organization asset in their personal portfolios.38 It was still obvious who the boss was—Donald Trump took the other 77.5% for himself.39 “I’m very much involved in the details,” he said in a 2016 deposition of his own. “I was involved in the design of the building and the room sizes and the entrances and the lobby and the marble and the bathrooms and the fixtures and the bars. A lot of things. I mean, you know, I’m involved very much with the hotel. The important projects I get very much involved.”40
That involvement came with a unique set of risks. When Trump announced he was running for president, for example, he famously opened with a string of controversial comments. “When Mexico sends its people, they’re not sending their best,” he told a crowd assembled inside Trump Tower, adding, “They’re sending people that have lots of problems, and they’re bringing those problems with us. They’re bringing drugs. They’re bringing crime. They’re rapists. And some, I assume, are good people.”41
Trump’s business partners fled. Macy’s, which had sold Trump-branded shirts and cologne, ended its partnership. So did mattress maker Serta.42 Univision refused to air Miss USA, one of Trump’s beauty pageants.43 The fallout extended to the Washington hotel, where Spanish chef José Andrés was planning to open a new restaurant.44 “Getting crushed over DJT comments about Latinos and Mexicans,” one of Andrés’s staffers, Kimberly Grant, wrote in an email to Ivanka. “Need your help.”
The candidate’s daughter forwarded the message to an executive in the Trump Organization, David Orowitz, who responded, “Ugh, this is not surprising and would expect that this will not be the last we hear of it.” He also offered up a suggestion. “At least for formal, prepared speeches, can someone vet going forward?”45
These were early days, when not even everyone inside Trump’s company understood how unscripted he would be as a politician. Andrés pulled out, and shortly thereafter, fellow chef Geoffrey Zakarian, who was preparing to create a second restaurant inside the hotel, followed suit.46
Around the same time, Trump’s hotel managers began looking for people to hire. They found a wellspring of workers through, of all things, a program that helped asylum seekers find work in the United States.47 “They were fantastic employees and looking for work,” says Merrick Dresnin, who headed up human resources for the hotel in 2016 and 2017. “That’s basically how we found a lot of great guest-service folks.”48
The dissonance between candidate Trump’s rhetoric and businessman Trump’s actions was not lost on the workers inside the hotel. “There were a lot of immigrants,” says Beatrice Dumitrache, who moved from Romania and got a job in the United States at Trump’s hotel. “To me, it did not seem okay compared to how Trump always says we need to build the wall.”49
On October 26, 2016, the Trump family took a detour on the campaign trail and visited their new hotel for a grand opening. “Two years ago, when we promised the city of D.C. that Trump would be coming to Pennsylvania Avenue in 2016, we had no idea what we were foreshadowing,” said Ivanka Trump. “This is an important moment for our family and our company, and it wouldn’t be possible without the hard work and support of this visionary man. So without further ado, let me introduce my father, Donald J. Trump.”
The Republican nominee for president took the microphone. “We have built one of the great real estate companies of the world,” Trump said. “But it seems very insignificant compared to what we’re doing now, and as soon as we’re finished cutting the ribbon, I’m off to North Carolina, New Hampshire, and back down to Florida.” The D.C. hotel, in all its splendor, served as the perfect backdrop for the presidential campaign. “Today is a metaphor for what we can accomplish for this country,” Trump said. “Same kind of thing. This building is a historical landmark, a true American original. It had all of the ingredients of greatness, but it had been neglected and left to deteriorate for many, many decades.”50
Thirteen days later, while Trump watched the results roll in near his home in New York, a sea of supporters packed the lobby of his Washington hotel. One of Trump’s hotel managers, who asked not to be named because he signed a confidentiality agreement with the business, went to bed at midnight—exhausted. The party was nowhere near done. “When I woke up at 4 a.m. or 3 a.m., I turned on the TV,” recalled the manager. “I said, ‘Oh my gosh. Life is going to change.’”51
• • •
WASHINGTON, D.C., is full of monuments to presidents, but none quite like the Trump hotel. Never before has an American president pre-built a place for his admirers, opened it right around the time he took office, then charged attendees to enjoy the space while he served in office. A bottle of chardonnay from the Trump winery in Virginia goes for $68. A seafood platter called the Trump tower, which includes a one-pound lobster and a dozen oysters and clams, runs $120. Non-Trump-themed items are just as pricy. An order of the lobster mac and cheese costs $35, and a hamburger goes for $26. The only free thing on the menu? The ever-present cocktail of money and power, which anyone can absorb simply by peering around the lobby.
From the moment Donald Trump won the election, his presidency has complicated things at the hotel. For starters, there’s the lease itself, written in clunky legal language, which appears to prohibit elected officials from being a part of the deal. “No member or delegate to Congress, or elected official of the government of the United States,” one provision begins, “shall be admitted to any share or part of this lease, or to any benefit that may arise therefrom; provided, however, that this provision shall not be construed as extending to any person who may be a shareholder or other beneficial owner of any publicly held corporation or other entity.”
Shortly after the election, lawyers inside the General Services Administration started talking about whether Trump would be violating the lease from the start of his presidency. Eleven days after the inauguration, on January 31, 2017, Don Jr. and Eric met with GSA officials. An officer inside the agency, Kevin Terry, pushed for the president to divest. That did not happen.
Instead the Trump team argued that there was no issue with the lease, for two main reasons. First, Trump had signed on to the agreement before becoming president. Second, he held his interest through an entity, not directly. The Trump Organization asked the GSA for a certificate saying it was in compliance with the lease. And on March 23, 2017, the agency issued one.
How could Trump be in compliance with the lease when he had retained his interest in the hotel? And what about the fact that he was accepting foreign money there, potentially in violation of the U.S. Constitution? The GSA launched an internal investigation. After conducting more than two dozen interviews and reviewing over 10,000 documents during a 16-month inquiry, the investigators determined that no one had improperly pressured the GSA, but the agency had screwed up. Its lawyers agreed that the president might be violating America’s founding charter, but they decided to ignore the issue. Their negligence was costly, according to the investigators, leaving an unresolved controversy hanging over the country. “GSA, like all government agencies,” the report stated, “has an obligation to uphold and enforce the Constitution.”52
In the meantime, lawsuits had piled up—from competitors,53 congressmen,54 and local governments55—all alleging that Trump was violating the Constitution. Three years into Trump’s presidency, the litigation was still working its way through the courts.56 America’s justice system moves slowly, something Donald Trump knows well from years of battling lawsuits in business.
To stem criticism that the president was violating the Constitution by accepting foreign money, Trump’s legal team claimed he would give the U.S. Treasury all hotel profits from foreign governments.57 After initially declining to detail how, exactly, the business would calculate such profits, the Trump Organization eventually submitted its methodology to the House Oversight Committee,58 conceding that it was not really trying to track all foreign government money. “To fully and completely identify all patronage at our properties by customer type is impractical in the service industry,” explained a Trump Organization document, “and putting forth a policy that requires all guests to identify themselves would impede upon personal privacy and diminish the guest experience of our brand. It is not the intention nor design of this policy for our properties to attempt to identify individual travelers who have not specifically identified themselves as being a representative of a foreign government entity on foreign government business.”59
The policy, in other words, was “don’t ask, don’t tell.” As long as foreign officials did not identify themselves as representatives of another country, they could go ahead and pay the president. For the year of 2017, the Trump Organization donated $151,470 to the U.S. Treasury,60 and the following year the president’s business reportedly upped the donation to $191,538.61 That would be real money to a small company, but not much for the D.C. hotel, for which it represented roughly 0.3% of revenues.62
• • •
THE FIRST SIGN that Donald Trump is coming to the hotel on any given night is often the dogs sniffing around63 in the afternoon. “Oh, and the management are all stressed out,” explains a waiter inside the hotel.64 At some point, the hotel goes on lockdown, thinning out the crowd, according to Beatrice Dumitrache, who served as a hostess at the hotel from 2017 to 2018.65
When the president walks in, his entourage in tow, everyone erupts in applause. He heads to BLT Prime, passing through a lobby full of supporters.66 “He actually talks a lot,” says someone who works at the restaurant.67 Trump tends to eat upstairs, where he can enjoy the splendor of his hotel lobby, shimmering chandeliers and all.68 “You know,” says the staffer, “one of the last things I heard him say was—he stood right there and he yelled, ‘Don’t worry, we’re going to get that wall built!’”69 Once seated, Trump is known to order pure Americana: steak70 followed by apple pie.71
“People got really, really excited,” says Michel Rivera, who worked behind the bar at the hotel. “And people got really, really drunk afterward. So it was like a celebration. Every single time he came in, we were like, ‘Well, we are going to make money tonight.’” People who usually stayed for one or two rounds of drinks—a sensible choice, given the prices on the menu—instead might stick around for four or five. “I felt like I was in a nightclub the days that he was there,”72 says Rivera.
Trump visited his hotel more than two dozen times during his first three years as president, according to NBC News.73 He’s not the only one traveling back and forth between the hotel and the White House. Three top officials—Treasury secretary Steven Mnuchin, small business administrator Linda McMahon, and National Economic Council director Gary Cohn—all reportedly took up residence in the building as the Trump administration was settling into D.C.74 The president’s personal lawyer, Rudy Giuliani, and his onetime press secretary, Sarah Huckabee Sanders, stopped by enough that the staff got to know them.75 “They were regulars,” says Dumitrache. “They would come once a week, I would say.”76
Lesser Trumpers followed. Congressmen,77 campaign surrogates,78 Fox News personalities.79 Most of these visits would have gone unnoticed if not for the tireless efforts of Zach Everson, a travel journalist who wrote a few stories about the hotel, then got obsessed with the place. Everson scours Instagram and Twitter day after day to see who has stopped by the Trump hotel. He publishes his findings in a newsletter, 1100 Pennsylvania.80 As of February 2020, Everson had spotted more than two dozen Trump cabinet members at the hotel, along with 32 of the 53 Republicans serving in the Senate and countless members of the House of Representatives.81
The politicians don’t always pick up their own tabs. The Beltway is awash in political money, which donors from all over the country funnel into campaigns. Over the past few years, Trump acolytes have refunneled thousands of those dollars to the president via his hotel. While some members of the House Oversight Committee were actively examining the hotel,82 its highest-ranking Republican, Jim Jordan of Ohio, spent more than $20,000 of campaign funds83 on food and drink there, according to Federal Election Commission filings.84 Mark Meadows, another Republican on the committee, whom Trump later tapped to be his chief of staff, distributed more than $10,00085 of campaign money at the hotel and BLT Prime.86 Congressman Greg Pence, the brother of Vice President Mike Pence,87 shelled out more than $40,000 of campaign donor money88 at the Trump hotel.89 The Republican National Committee spent over $400,00090 there. In total, the president’s hotel collected more than $2.6 million from campaigns and committees during Trump’s first three years in office.91
“It’s such an unbelievable shock to the system,” says Walter Shaub, the ethics official who spoke out against Trump’s financial arrangement from the get-go. “I think with the onslaught of daily crises and scandals and norm breaches, we forget how extraordinary it is that the president has this hotel, and how atrocious it is that members of Congress who are supposed to be conducting oversight have had fundraisers there and spent campaign money there.”
There’s an old Washington, D.C., myth that in the mid-1800s, President Ulysses S. Grant lit up enough cigars in the lobby of the Willard Hotel that influence peddlers began hanging around there to push him on one issue or another, prompting Grant to coin the term “lobbyist.”92 Two centuries later, the number of lobbyists has multiplied,93 and today the president has his own lobby. No surprise that lobbyists like to hang around there. There is even, reportedly, a regular gathering of them,94 dubbed Trump First Tuesdays.
Then there were the foreign officials, whose visits put Trump at risk of violating the Constitution. The prime minister of Malaysia stopped by while in town to visit the president.95 The government of Kuwait hosted its independence day celebration at the Trump hotel.96 So did the Philippines.97 The leader of Romania visited, according to Dumitrache.98 A Russian ambassador did, too.99 And a top aide of the Ukrainian president.100 The Saudi government spent at least $270,000, according to federal disclosures.101 In all, Everson counted representatives of 31 foreign governments who had visited the Trump hotel as of February 2020.102
“We had to be on our perfect behavior when that was happening,” says Dumitrache, noting that dignitaries from one country or another visited at least once a month. “They would print us a piece of paper, showing us which country it is, where exactly they are staying, what is the reason [for] their visit. So if the person would make contact with us, we would know exactly what to say to them.” The reasons for the stays varied, according to Dumitrache. There were officials there for summits, others for embassy visits, some for meetings with Trump.
“They just told us to treat them as VIPs because that’s what they were,” Dumitrache says. “One day I told one of my managers, I said, ‘Right, but we’re a five-star hotel. Isn’t everybody supposed to be treated as a VIP, even if they don’t spend the money that a VIP does?’ And they said, ‘Yeah, but when it’s someone like that, you have to treat them extra special.’”103
• • •
BUSINESS WASN’T WHAT IT SEEMED. By law, officials serving in the executive branch must list the “income” that their assets produce in a financial disclosure report.104 For officeholders with stocks and bonds, it’s a simple task that amounts to listing dividends, interest, and capital gains.105 The rules for real estate assets are more complicated. Filers can list “rent”—in other words, revenue—under the column labeled “income amount.” But revenue and income suggest very different things. Presented with a form asking for both rent106 (a big number) and income (generally a much smaller number), Trump listed the big one. In 2017, the first full year his D.C. hotel was open to the public (and the first year Trump served as president), he disclosed $40.4 million of revenue at the property. That figure ticked up slightly the next year, to $40.8 million.107
Reporting on the disclosures, several reporters referred to those numbers as “income” instead of revenue, creating the false impression that Trump was personally pocketing $40 million a year at his other palace on Pennsylvania Avenue. “Trump made $40.8 million last year from a hotel,” shouted one headline.108 “The president’s income from his company’s hotel in Washington, D.C., topped $40 million last year,” began another story.109
Some outlets, like The Wall Street Journal, The Washington Post, and The New York Times, were more careful to distinguish between revenues and profits.110 But even those newspapers appear to have made a different mistake (which I also previously made at Forbes).111 A closer examination of the federal guidelines shows that officials holding real estate can list the amount of rent attributable to them personally, rather than the total amount produced by the property.112 In other words, even though Trump lists hotel revenue of $40.8 million on his disclosure, that’s not necessarily the total revenue of the hotel. It could just as easily be 77.5% of the total revenue, proportionate to Trump’s personal interest in the property.
Ivanka Trump listed $3,952,480 of hotel revenue on her filing, from her 7.5% share of the revenue.113 Ivanka’s disclosure points to $52,699,733 in revenue, which matches her father’s figure—if he disclosed only his 77.5% share of the revenue. That suggests the true revenue of the hotel is a number never previously reported: $52.7 million.
If figuring out the revenue at Trump’s hotel is challenging, pinning down its profits is nearly impossible. But there are clues. Under the Trump Organization’s lease with the federal government, it submits detailed financial information—including profits—to the General Services Administration, which is supposed to keep those filings confidential.114 In August 2017, however, the GSA accidentally published four months of financial data on its website, which The Washington Post then downloaded. After the GSA realized its mistake and removed the documents, the Post released them publicly.115
Most of the coverage at the time focused on the fact that the Trump Organization had blown past its projections for the hotel, hauling in $18.1 million of revenue during the first four months of 2017, 49% above expectations. In addition, the hotel had produced a profit—measured as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization—of $2 million, when it was projected to instead lose $2.1 million.116 It seemed like another indication that Trump was profiting from the presidency.
What virtually everyone, including me, failed to absorb at the time was that $2 million of profit on $18.1 million in revenue is not all that much money. It suggests a profit margin of just 11%—well below the industry average.117 “That seems low for a hotel, for sure,” says Dan Wasiolek, a hospitality analyst at investment research firm Morningstar. “You know, I would have expected that it would be closer to 20%.”118 Even more troubling for the hotel: that underperformance occurred as Trump was first taking office, a time when the property was receiving more buzz than any hotel in U.S. history.
There are more bad signs. In 2019, the Trump Organization put together another document, this time for potential investors interested in purchasing the hotel. The pitch, reviewed by CNN, included the sort of rosy projections one might expect from a company known for its salesmanship. The Trump Organization projected that revenues would jump to $67.7 million in 2020, which, assuming 2018 revenues were $52.7 million, would represent a 28% increase in two years. It also predicted that, when that happened, the hotel would throw off $6 million of annual profits—measured as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization, minus the cost of updates.119 The numbers suggest that, even in an optimistic scenario, the hotel would be running a profit margin of only 9%—even lower than the already unimpressive 11% the hotel produced in early 2017.
Those glimpses give us enough information to reasonably estimate—for the first time—how much money the president has actually made from his D.C. hotel while serving in the White House. Odds are, the profit margins in early 2017 (11%) and those reported on the investor pitch (9%) are higher than the average margins over the past few years. In a good scenario, the Trump Organization might have maintained that performance and turned a bit less than 10% of its revenue into profits each year. That would mean that the hotel produced annual earnings of $5.1 million in 2017 and $5.2 million in 2018, for a total of $10.3 million.120 If the hotel instead ended up with, say, an 8% margin, that would suggest $4.2 million of annual pre-tax, pre-interest profit each year, or $8.4 million total.
One of the few people who has seen the real numbers for the hotel is Brian Friedman, a Washington investor who once offered to buy the place for $175 million from the Trumps. In order to view the books, Friedman signed confidentiality documents saying he would not share the data. But I ran my estimate of roughly $5 million in earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization by him anyway, to gauge his reaction. “Does that sound in the range?” I asked.
“That sounds in the range,” he replied.121
Five million sounds like a lot of money. Until you consider that those profits are before accounting for interest, taxes, depreciation, or amortization. Take just the interest. The Trump Organization borrowed $170 million from Deutsche Bank to renovate the property.122 There is no evidence that Trump has paid down any of the principal on that loan, though it’s possible he has. That makes it difficult to pinpoint exactly how much he is paying in interest, especially since Trump has a variable interest rate on the property. But let’s say the Trump Organization still owes $170 million and paid something like 3.35% in 2017, which would have made it one of the president’s cheaper loans.123 On $170 million of debt, 3.35% interest adds up to $5.7 million in annual payments. Poof—there goes the possible $5.1 million in profits for that year. In 2018, much to the chagrin of the president, interest rates increased,124 likely boosting his company’s expenses.125 An analysis of the president’s financial disclosure report and interest-rate benchmarks suggests the Trump Organization paid something close to 4.2% interest on the hotel loan during his second year in office, or about $7 million. Enough to bury the estimated $5.2 million in earnings.
It’s impossible to be certain without seeing the official numbers, but it sure seems likely that the president is actually losing money on the D.C. hotel—the property that most people have assumed is such a big moneymaker. “He spent a ridiculous amount of money—a hell of a lot more than I thought he was going to spend,” says Friedman. “It’s real money, and he did it. Now, did he do it effectively? Obviously not, because the numbers are what the numbers are.”126
INDEBTED IN D.C.
Before Donald Trump became president, Deutsche Bank handed him $170 million to turn Washington, D.C.’s Old Post Office Building into the Trump International Hotel. In exchange, Trump promised to pay that money back to the German bank, along with interest. A close look at the property’s performance, however, suggests the hotel might not be profitable enough to keep up with those interest payments.
Sources: Profit: Author estimates based on 4 months of financials, reports of investor sales pitch, conversation with prospective buyer. Interest: Author estimates based on analysis of Federal Reserve data, Trump’s financial disclosure reports
• • •
THE TRUMP ORGANIZATION first said that it was open to selling the hotel in October 2019.127 There’s a lot for potential investors to like, if they can get over the poor financials. “The bones are great,” says Friedman, standing atop the perfectly polished floors just outside of the perfectly appointed lobby on a perfectly crisp January afternoon. “Even, like, people talk shit about the chandeliers. They know nothing. They know nothing. Those chandeliers are millions of dollars.”128
It’s a shame more people aren’t around to enjoy them. The doors next to Friedman, with beautiful marble columns on either side, which open out onto Pennsylvania Avenue—one of the most famous streets in America—are completely closed off. A sign warns that an alarm will sound if anyone opens them. Outside stands a string of metal barricades keeping out tourists who might otherwise wander up to the door. None of these blockades used to be here, but, according to a waiter at the hotel, the Trump Organization shut down most of the entrances after protesters stormed the place.129
To a non-Trump owner, that spells opportunity. “I mean, this is it,” Friedman says. “This was all supposed to be, like, retail.” Indeed. This is steps from where Geoffrey Zakarian, the celebrity chef, was supposed to rent space and within eyeshot of where José Andrés was supposed to have his restaurant. “I would bring all of that back,” says Friedman. Including José Andrés. “I would have him invest,” Friedman claims. “He’s going to be a partner.” Peering out over the mostly vacant lobby, Friedman envisions a space with professionals typing away on laptops near fast-casual restaurants like Sweetgreen. Friedman says he wouldn’t need to change much on the upper floors—“the rooms are awesome”—but he would add art.130 “You go to the Four Seasons and there’s Warhols on the wall,” he says.131 “You go to my hotels and there’s art everywhere. There’s no art. Trump has no style.”132
What the Trumps lack in style, they make up for in ambition. Hence the reported $500 million133 they are hoping to fetch for the hotel. If that actually happened, they could pay off the $170 million Deutsche Bank loan, and the president would walk away with $256 million in cash. Ivanka, Don Jr., and Eric would pocket $25 million apiece before taxes. But that scenario is unlikely. The truth is, this hotel—as nice as it is—is not worth a half billion dollars. “Five hundred [million] is not going to happen,”134 says Michael Bellisario, a hotel analyst who works for Baird, an investment bank. Bill Moyer, a Washington, D.C., hotel broker who likes to frequent the property every two weeks or so, agrees that no one is likely to pay that much. “I don’t think they’re going to get the kind of pricing that they were just throwing out.”135 Wasiolek, the hospitality analyst for Morningstar, thinks a buyer might plunk down $240 million for the place if they were extremely aggressive. “Boy, I mean, that seems to be an upper limit, though.”136
There are two primary ways to figure out what a hotel is worth. The first is by applying a multiple to its profits, the earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization. Doing so allows potential investors to see how long it might take them to earn back their money. The nicer the hotel is, the more likely they are to wait a longer amount of time. For a super luxury property like Trump’s, someone might be expected to pay, say, 20 times the cash stream. If it’s throwing off $10 million a year, for example, there’s a good chance someone would pay $200 million for the place. But Trump’s pre-tax, pre-interest profits appear to be more like $5 million. At that level, Trump is asking an estimated 100 times the annual profits. A more realistic seller might ask, say, $100 million for a property that’s producing $5 million a year.
Given its grandeur, however, it’s unlikely the Trump hotel is worth only $100 million, which brings us to the second way of valuing a hotel. Investors often apply a price to each room and multiply that figure by the number of rooms. If you throw out the income approach and look just at the second method, it’s possible to justify more than $1 million per room for Trump’s hotel. Valuing something is an art rather than a science, and seven hospitality experts offered estimates of anywhere from $500,000 to $1.2 million a room for Trump’s property, after being told about its low profit margins. The average was $761,000. Since the place has 263 hotel rooms, that would suggest it’s worth $200 million. That seems to be a fair valuation that takes into account both the income and the price per room. It also comes to $300 million less than what the Trump Organization was asking.137
Standing outside a boxy Mercedes SUV parked across from the hotel, Friedman admits that he doesn’t think his bid for the property will be successful. The problem: he figures Trump’s hotel should be valued similarly to the Mayflower Hotel, which has 581 rooms and which, he says, went for $175 million. He’s skeptical that the Trump family would sell for something like that. “It could go for some crazy, fuck-you number, because that does happen with real estate,” he says at another point. “This is a diamond.”138
Trump knows something about paying stupid money in ego-fueled purchases. Remember the Plaza Hotel? But today, Wall Street isn’t shelling out money like it was in the late 1980s, meaning the most likely purchaser would be a well-established hotel company or a deep-pocketed tycoon139 in the mood for a vanity project. It would be one heck of a way to curry favor with Trump. A $26 hamburger or $400 hotel reservation might not get the president’s attention, but adding a couple hundred million to his bottom line undoubtedly would. “It could be some Saudi sheikh or someone from Iran or something,”140 says Moyer, the D.C. hotel broker. Adds Bellisario, one of the hotel analysts, “You don’t know what two billionaire brothers in London, or some sultan of Brunei, wants to buy a property.”141 Especially when the seller is the president of the United States.
5
Bad Lie
THE TRUTH BEHIND TRUMP’S GOLF GAME
Two and a half months after becoming president, Donald Trump sat inside his exclusive Palm Beach club, Mar-a-Lago, alongside Chinese ruler Xi Jinping, with the lights dimmed low.1 It was a first date, of sorts, between the leaders of the two most powerful countries on the planet.2 Trump was eager to make an impression.
Positioned between his wife, Melania, whose red dress matched his own red tie, and the president of China,3 Trump turned to Xi as they were eating chocolate cake and let him in on a little secret. “Mr. President, let me explain something to you,” Trump said. “We’ve just fired 59 missiles.”4 The rockets were already in the air, flying toward Syria as a message to Bashar al-Assad, the dictator who had recently used chemical weapons against his own people.5 Commerce secretary Wilbur Ross later termed the rocket show “after-dinner entertainment,” joking, “The thing was, it didn’t cost the president anything to have that entertainment.”6
Trump transformed Mar-a-Lago into a one-of-a-kind club, where members could get a glimpse of history along with their dinner. It was a perk that Trump, who took to calling the place the “Winter White House,”7 could never have never imagined when he purchased the property, in 1985, for roughly $10 million.8
Quite an investment. When Trump filed his first financial disclosure report as a presidential candidate, he revealed that revenue at Mar-a-Lago was $15.6 million in 2014 and part of 2015. That number nearly doubled, to $29.8 million on the next year’s report, before peaking at $37.3 million the following year.9 “It’s had a very positive impact,” Trump said in a 2016 deposition, when asked about the effect of the campaign on his business. “The manager told me recently, he said, ‘Boy, it is actually the best year we’ve ever had at Mar-a-Lago.’ And I was looking at the numbers. I said, ‘What do you attribute this to?’ He said, ‘The campaign.’”10
The presidency provided additional opportunities. After the election, word spread that Mar-a-Lago was doubling its membership fee from $100,000 to $200,000.11 Trump reportedly asked four12 club members to serve as ambassadors—to Ireland, Austria, South Africa, and the Dominican Republic—while designating another regular at the club, billionaire Isaac Perlmutter,13 unofficial ruler14 of Veterans Affairs. There’s no doubt that the presidency added a little shine to Trump’s trophy. Today, Mar-a-Lago is probably worth some $170 million, about $20 million15 more than before Trump took office and $160 million more than when he bought the place. A spokesperson for the Trump Organization argues, in predictable fashion, that it’s worth “closer to $500 million.”16
On the surface, Mar-a-Lago seems to symbolize the Trump era, a place as prestigious as it is polarizing. To Trump supporters, it’s a symbol of the president’s business acumen. To his detractors, like former federal ethics chief Walter Shaub, it’s “an embarrassing cash grab.”17 But all the focus on Mar-a-Lago distracts from what’s going on at Trump’s much larger portfolio of golf clubs and resorts.
While Mar-a-Lago generated $23 million18 of revenue in 2018, according to the president’s financial disclosure report, his 15 other clubs19 and resorts received $224 million combined. Taken together, Trump’s clubs and resorts brought in an estimated 25%20 more revenue than the president’s commercial real estate portfolio and nearly five times as much as his D.C. hotel.21 It’s an up-and-down business, though, because all that revenue comes with enormous expenses.
A closer look at income statements from Trump’s golf clubs and resorts—including some that have never been reported on until now—sheds new light on how much profit the president actually manages to squeeze out of those properties. The documents make it clear that, despite Trump’s success at Mar-a-Lago, his overall portfolio of courses and clubs is taking a beating. The same problems troubling the D.C. hotel—including struggles with security22 and a brand that repels as many people as it attracts—have also infected Trump’s clubhouses. Call it the price of the presidency.
• • •
GOLFERS OFTEN LEARN the rules of the game from their fathers, first in the backyard, then on the range, then on the course. Not Trump. He played golf only once with his dad, who was more focused on business than leisure. The younger Trump really got into the sport in college, knocking the ball around with a handful of buddies at a public course not far from the University of Pennsylvania. He ended up joining a legendary club 20 miles north of Midtown Manhattan called Winged Foot. “Golf is an amazing sport for business,” Trump explained in a 2014 interview, adding, “You sort of learn about people’s honesty on the course. You know—do they move the ball around?”23
It’s not difficult to cheat in golf, as anyone who has ever played a round knows. It’s a game of honor; there are no referees. According to people who have played with Trump, he doesn’t have much of it. “We clearly saw him hook a ball into a lake at Trump National in Jersey,” recalled the actor Samuel L. Jackson in a late-night interview in early 2016. “And his caddie told him he found it.”24 Trump thus avoided a one-stroke penalty. Another actor, Anthony Anderson, described something similar in a different late-night interview a month later. “I’m not going to say Trump cheats,” Anderson explained. “His caddie cheats for him.”25
When you own the course, you can play by your own rules. Trump’s first club, minutes from Mar-a-Lago in West Palm Beach, Florida, opened in 1999. That seemed like a good time to invest in golf, as Tiger Woods was dominating the game and captivating a new generation of golfers. But as with investing in any asset class, how much money someone makes in the golf business largely depends on how much they pay to get involved. Trump claimed his first course cost $40 million.26 If so, it was a terrible investment. Today that course, which generated $12.3 million of revenue in 2018,27 is probably worth about $25 million.28 So Trump apparently poured $15 million down the drain.
Undeterred, he kept spending. In 2002, the Trump Organization reportedly shelled out $35 million29 or so for an estate once owned by the car tycoon John DeLorean, before turning it into a 36-hole masterpiece, Trump National Golf Club in Bedminster, New Jersey.30 That same year, Trump paid a reported $27 million31 for a course outside Los Angeles. He dropped another $28 million32 on a club in Colts Neck, New Jersey. “Colts Neck is a lead weight around his neck,” says someone close to the president’s golf business, adding, “The aesthetics of the course were nothing special, but they were Donald’s style. Big, open, surrounded by ostentatious money.”33 Not enough of that money made its way into the club. By 2018, Trump’s course in Colts Neck was taking in just $6.8 million of annual revenue.34 It is now likely worth about half of what Trump paid for it.35
The Great Recession wreaked havoc on the golf industry. Fewer people were willing to pay to duff balls around manicured lawns all day. In a case of unfortunate timing, Tiger Woods crashed an SUV outside of his Florida mansion in November 2009.36 Eventually his personal problems, which included marital infidelity37 and issues with prescription drug use,38 came spilling out into the open, derailing his career—and disrupting the golf industry. The number of people hitting the links dropped 19% from 2005 to 2019, the most recent year on record, according to the National Golf Foundation. Bad news for anyone in the golf business. Given that Trump’s courses are all privately held, it’s hard to get a complete view of how all this affected his portfolio, but golf revenues at his club near Los Angeles dropped 32% from 2007 to 2009 and had still not fully recovered 10 years later, according to city records.39
In the downturn, however, Trump smelled opportunity. In December 2008, he called up Jeff Woolson, a golf course broker at real estate firm CBRE. “He was looking for things to steal,” recalls Woolson. Eventually Trump found what he was looking for. He paid $13 million in 2009 for a course outside Washington, D.C.,40 which is now worth about twice that amount. He scooped up a troubled club in Jupiter, Florida, for $5 million, plus the assumption of liabilities.41 He also got a course near Charlotte, North Carolina, for $6 million42 and reportedly put another $10 million into renovations;43 it’s now worth roughly $25 million.44 “Donald Trump is an excellent distressed golf buyer,” says the source close to his golf business. “That is what he has done best in his life. That is where he has bought properties for dimes or quarters or whatever—change on the dollar—and put some money in and built up the memberships and offered very good service, very good amenities, and done reasonably well with those clubs.”45
By 2012, Trump had built up a portfolio of 10 traditional U.S. golf clubs,46 a mix of bad investments and decent ones. One thing they all had in common? He named every one of them after himself.
• • •
TRUMP ARRIVES AT his courses by car,47 or in some cases, helicopter. “Somebody would meet [him] there with a golf cart,” says George Schwab, who served as a top manager at the Trump National Golf Club outside Washington, D.C., from October 2015 to May 2016. “His own golf cart. Nobody was allowed to touch the golf cart unless he was there.” One day, Trump wanted to inspect the club’s new tennis center. “We would call this the Taj Mahal, because there is no tennis facility in the world that looks like this place,” says Schwab.
Trump was not impressed. “What the hell is this?” he said upon seeing the place, according to Schwab. “Why are these trees only 15 feet tall? I asked for 20-feet-tall trees. And why is this this color?”
One of Trump’s underlings brought him a collection of swatches. “You’d say, ‘Well, Mr. Trump, tell us what color you want and we’ll make sure the next time you’re here, it’s the color you asked for,’” recalls Schwab. “So he would circle it, sign it.
“Next week, two weeks, three weeks later, we would all make the changes,” Schwab goes on. “And he’d come back and start screaming and yelling and swearing at everybody and firing everybody and not paying the [subcontractors] because the trees weren’t 30 feet tall. ‘Well, you asked for 20 feet tall. First you asked for 15, we gave you 15. Then you asked for 20, then we gave you 20. And now you’re pissed off because they’re not 30 feet tall.’
“And then he said, ‘Well the color is not right,’” Schwab recalls. “‘Well, Mr. Trump, here is the swatch. You circled it. You signed it. This is exactly the color.’ But he would never take responsibility for any of these decisions. He would just yell and scream and fire, and then we would have to all scramble to do something different the next week. And that’s over and over and over and over again.”
Schwab had worked at other clubs, but he says Trump’s was different. “You know, I was working with clubs that have boards. So there were multiple people that were involved. And you always had some semblance of reasonable people that are kind of keeping the other board members in line. So you had 12 board members, and you had two or three rogue ones. And the other seven or eight would keep them in line.” That’s not how it worked at Trump’s place. “One guy was just going crazy all the time.”48
Not all of Trump’s former employees remember him the same way—even inside his own clubs, the president can be polarizing. “There was no yelling, no swearing, calling people names or anything,” says a different top manager at the club, who did not feel comfortable speaking on the record. “It was always very cordial.”49
Some of the people working at Trump’s clubs were undocumented immigrants, as The Washington Post and The New York Times have detailed extensively.50 That didn’t mean Trump was pinching pennies. “He puts so much money that didn’t have a return on investment into these clubs,” says Schwab, adding, “Just the amount of money that goes into the fluff is unbelievable. That always impressed me quite a bit. It’s not a good business. But he likes his gold and he likes his fountains.”51
There is no question that Trump’s properties are nice. “You walk in and the places are in fantastic condition,” says Matthew Galvin, CEO of Morningstar Golf and Hospitality. “There’s no tattered carpeting and paint coming off the walls and golf carts that are dying halfway through the round, which happens to everybody else in the industry. He really spends money.” Which is not to say Trump always gets that money back. “I think I have higher return requirements than he probably does.”52
Some rich guys buy yachts, and others blow money on golf clubs. To Trump, the clubs serve as playgrounds as much as businesses—something Schwab witnessed firsthand. One of his responsibilities was to maintain a personal property that Trump owns53 next to the golf club. Everything had to be just the way Trump wanted it. A full tube of toothpaste needed to be sitting in the bathroom at all times. Trump liked to use it only once, according to Schwab, and when he was done he threw it in a corner. Even though there was a garbage can nearby.
He did not hang his clothes up, electing to toss them in the corner as well, according to Schwab. “Stuff just went flying all over the place,” he says. Trump insisted on a big bottle of mouthwash. He used it only once, then never wanted to see it again. The same applied to his toothbrush.54 Then there was the hand sanitizer—critical for a famously germophobic man.55 “There was a specific hand sanitizer that was industrial strength,” Schwab says. “It was the kind of stuff that you would clean equipment with—not your hands.”
The pantry had its own set of requirements. Among them: “a cupboard full of chips and Cokes,” says Schwab. “At the time, he was experimenting with Dr Pepper. He wanted quite a bit of that. Then all of a sudden he didn’t want a Dr Pepper anymore.”56 The other top manager, however, says he doesn’t remember anything like what Schwab describes, insisting that Trump’s house was actually “meticulous” and the president once experimented with Mountain Dew.57
As for alcohol, Trump doesn’t drink.58 He does own a winery, though, so inside the club, Schwab says, he wanted copious amounts of his own wine. “They make you buy all this wine from their winery. And I can’t sell it, so I had to pour it off as banquet wine. I had to pour it off as kitchen wine. I had to do whatever I could to get it out of my inventory. And that always annoyed me as well. I had to buy all this freaking wine. It’s not good wine, either. It’s not good wine at all. So nobody would ever buy it. But I had to buy cases and cases of it.”59
A third former employee, Ian Gillule, recalls Trump’s micromanaging extending to the price that individual members paid to join his clubs. “There are people who joined on the same day at the Trump clubs that paid different prices,” says Gillule, who used to serve as membership and marketing director at Trump National Golf Club in Westchester County, New York. “It was almost like a spinning wheel. There was a group of people that were from a club in Westchester that were let in for no initiation fee, when we were bringing in 25 to 30 people at between $100,000 to $150,000 a year for an initiation fee.”
Trump acted as king, much to the chagrin of Gillule. “To play god and wave a wand over certain groups of people and say, ‘Well, you don’t have to pay,’ while other people are paying for the same product, that doesn’t sit well with me.”60
• • •
DONALD TRUMP HAS always had big ambitions. So, in 2012, he took a major step toward transforming his hodgepodge of golf courses into a legitimate golf empire, buying a property in Miami named Doral,61 which sits on 800 acres,62 includes 643 guest rooms, and generates almost as much revenue as Trump’s other 10 U.S. golf courses combined. “The only reason we were able to buy it for the price we were is that they needed cash,” says Ivanka Trump, who worked on the deal, in an interview with Forbes three years later.
“Desperately,” her father emphasizes.
“They told us that if we couldn’t have a contract in five days, they were going to lose claim of the bankruptcy case,” Ivanka goes on, adding, “So we basically stole it.”
“We bought it for $150 [million], right?” Donald asks.
“A hundred and fifty, yeah,” his daughter responds.
The elder Trump says that the price was originally higher—$175 million. “Before closing, I went to them. I said, ‘This place is a shithouse. You got to cut the price—’”
“We had a contract,” Ivanka says.
“They were dying to make a deal,” Donald explains. “They had to make a deal quickly. We had a signed contract at $175. They cut $25 million off the price.”63
Forget honoring your word—empire building, at least in Trumpland, requires cunning. One month after buying Doral, Donald Trump marched down a cart path in Aberdeen, Scotland, home to another new golf course, flanked by a pair of bagpipers wearing kilts and trailed by his children.64 The Trumps were there, in the land from which Donald’s mother had emigrated, to inaugurate the Trump International Golf Links, Scotland, their first golf property outside of the United States. Attired in a red fleece with a red ballcap, Donald stepped up to the tee as a crowd of photographers clicked away. He wound back, then whipped his driver forward, smacking the ball so cleanly that he barely bothered to watch where it went.
“I think Trump International Golf Links will go down, and already is going down, as the greatest golf course anywhere in the world,” Trump later proclaimed in a promotional video. “I’m honored to have it as part of my legacy.”
In early 2014, Trump added another European property,65 buying a golf course and hotel in County Clare, Ireland, called Doonbeg Golf Club and spending nearly $20 million on the venture by the end of the year. In June 2014, he made an even larger investment, shelling out $66 million for Turnberry, a course on the west coast of Scotland whose history was as rich as its finances were poor. The place had hosted four British Open tournaments, but the year before Trump bought it, Turnberry had lost $10.6 million.66
Hoping to make winners of these four properties—Doral, Aberdeen, Doonbeg, and Turnberry—Trump poured in massive amounts of cash. At Doral, he spent $150 million on the purchase and claimed he put another $150 million into renovations.67 In Aberdeen, he shelled out roughly $70 million.68 At Doonbeg, he burned more than $30 million. And at Turnberry, Trump spent $66 million to acquire the property and $74 million renovating it69—lengthening the championship course, reimagining a famous lighthouse, and unveiling a new ballroom.70 Add it all up and the total comes to more than $500 million—enough to qualify as one of the biggest spending sprees in golf history. It could not have come at a riskier time.
• • •
ELEVEN MONTHS AFTER Donald Trump became president, in December 2017, a tax specialist representing his business walked into a drab government building in Miami and took a place at an L-shaped table.71 Alongside her sat two representatives from the Miami-Dade County Appraiser’s Office, which had assessed the president’s72 Doral resort at a value that the Trump Organization claimed was too high.73 This would have been just another mundane tax hearing if it didn’t involve the president of the United States.
“Do you solemnly swear or affirm the testimony you are about to give is the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?” asked the magistrate officiating the proceeding, according to a video of the hearing obtained through a public records request.
“Yes, I do,” replied Trump’s representative, Jessica Vachiratevanurak, her right hand held in the air.
A half hour later, after the local officials had presented their case, it was Vachiratevanurak’s turn to testify. “Before I dive into the package, I do want to just note I met with representatives at the property.”
“At the property?” asked the magistrate, seeming intrigued.
“Yes,” Trump’s representative responded. “I met with the director of finance, as well as the director of development for all of the Trump Organization. And they mentioned that throughout 2016, because of the political climate, that there have been severe ramifications of the things that were said during campaigning, the comments that were made.”74
Among the ramifications referenced: the Professional Golfers’ Association had announced in 2016 that it was moving the World Golf Championships tournament from Doral to Mexico, of all places, after struggling to secure sponsors.75 “Donald Trump is a brand, a big brand, and when you’re asking a company to invest millions of dollars in branding a tournament and they’re going to share that brand with the host, it’s a difficult conversation,” PGA Tour commissioner Tim Finchem explained, according to ESPN. In the golf world, the move became something of a joke. “Quite ironic that we’re going to Mexico after being at Doral,” Rory McIlroy, one of the biggest stars in the game, reportedly said. “We just jump over the wall.”76 But Trump wasn’t laughing. The property was traditionally packed during the tournament,77 producing a rush of revenue for the real estate mogul. “Losing that event killed Doral,” says Joel Paige, a resort operator who had managed Doral under previous ownership.78
Fallout from Trump’s campaign extended beyond the PGA move. “There have been a multitude of charities who throw annual events at the property, and they have canceled, because, they say, ‘We can’t, in good conscience, be associated with this name,’” explained the Trump Organization representative in the tax hearing. The Trump brand, once an asset, had become a liability—and not just at Doral. “His name is actually being removed from the Trump SoHo hotel,” added the representative. “It was a property that was being regularly frequented by, you know, NBA stars and NFL stars, and now they’re quoted in this article as saying, ‘I’m not going there. I’m not going to support this brand.’ So there have been severe ramifications of the comments that were made throughout the campaigning process and since. The property was definitely impacted by that, and you’ll see in the financials that there is a significant drop in revenue from last year to this year, and it reflects that.”79
Indeed. From 2015 to 2016, as Trump morphed from a fame-seeking businessman from New York to the president-elect of the United States, revenues at Doral dropped 5% to $87.5 million, according to documents the Trump Organization filed with Miami-Dade County officials. Profits (as measured by earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization) fell 10%80 to $12.4 million. In May 2016, a top executive at Doral explained to a room of golf course appraisers, who happened to be at the property for an industry gathering, that the campaign was damaging the resort’s business, according to three people who were there. “At the time there was a lot of talk about comments that Trump had made,” says Jeff Dugas, one of the people in the room. “Nobody was extremely surprised.”
Things got worse after Trump won. Doral lost 100,000 booked room nights following the election, according to someone familiar with the resort.81 For a 643-room resort, 100,000 reservations amounts to five months of fully booked business. Revenues plunged to $75.4 million in 2017, Trump’s first year in the White House. Since the resort prides itself on exceptional service, cutting costs isn’t easy. So profits took an even steeper dive than sales, dropping 66%82 to just $4.3 million. Customers, many of whom hailed from historically liberal-leaning areas like New York City, just weren’t coming like they used to.
The dreariness continued in 2018, when revenues barely budged, hitting $76 million.83 The busy season, which traditionally started in about September, now did not begin until November, according to Matias Magarinos, who worked as a server at a restaurant on the property from October 2018 to August 2019. In the quieter times, according to Magarinos, there were roughly 100 people in the 643-room resort, on average. “It’s bad,” he says. Not the experience, but the business. “It was very well run,” says Magarinos. “I think they just had the bad luck of their owner becoming president.”84
At Trump’s big properties in Scotland and Ireland, business was just as bleak. After purchasing Turnberry for $66 million in 2014, Trump dumped $63 million into renovations over the next two years, while he was running for president, according to documents filed with British authorities.85 In 2017, when the place reopened for its first full year of operations under the Trump banner, just as its owner was settling into the White House, sales ticked up slightly to $20.6 million. A fancier club, however, meant bigger expenses, so Turnberry lost $4 million in 2017, more than twice as much as it had the year Trump bought the property. He bled another $3.5 million in 2018.86 Six years after buying Turnberry, the president has yet to record an annual profit at the legendary club.87
Similar troubles plagued Doonbeg, the Irish golf course and resort that Trump picked up around the same time as Turnberry. He threw $9.2 million88 at the property during the two years he campaigned for president, according to documents filed with the Irish government. Revenues grew, but not enough to make the place profitable. By the end of 2018, the most recent year on record, the Trump Organization’s cumulative losses on the property totaled $12 million.89
Then there was Aberdeen, the Scottish club that Trump labeled the greatest golf course anywhere in the world. Even before Trump got into politics, it was struggling, and the losses continued to mount during the presidential campaign.90 Sales dropped 12% in 2016,91 then another 3% the following year. The Trump Organization, meanwhile, set out offerings92 like corporate and international memberships, which would presumably generate additional revenue, while also allowing another way for people to discreetly pay the president of the United States through his offshore club. But that wasn’t enough to rescue the business. The president’s property slashed its workforce 17% from 2016 to 2018—and still failed to turn a profit.93 By the end of that period, total losses since the year the Trump Organization opened the golf course amounted to $14.1 million.94
Eager to make some money, the Trump Organization laid out plans to build an entire village in Aberdeen, including 500 homes, new retail, and even an equestrian center.95 Selling all that inventory would seemingly violate the president’s pledge to do no new foreign deals while in office.96 But apparently that did not trouble the Trumps.97 They had bigger issues to worry about, like how to turn around their roughly $500 million wager on four golf properties that, in 2017 and 2018, lost an estimated $450,000 collectively.98
• • •
THE PRESIDENCY DOES have its benefits, such as the helicopters. No longer does Trump have to arrive at his courses with just one measly aircraft. Now there’s a parade of them, according to someone who has witnessed the scene in Bedminster. First comes the Black Hawk helicopter, circling the area. Two Sikorsky choppers follow, painted marine green, with UNITED STATES OF AMERICA on their tails. As they descend, the action at the club comes to a virtual standstill. Golfers crane their necks to watch, and guests in the clubhouse peer out the windows for a glimpse. When the helicopters get close enough that wind whips around the club, people gather near the parking lot, just off the bistro, that doubles as a helipad. The landing skids touch down, the blades slow, and out walks the most powerful man in the country, ready to greet his customers. “He’s incredibly engaging, because this is where he’s most comfortable,” says the witness. “His oxygen is adulation. And he clearly thrives on it, and he gets it at these clubs.”99
By March 2020, roughly three years after Trump took office, he had already spent 245 days at his golf courses, according to NBC News.100 The visits were always a show. Doug Rutherford, who worked at Trump’s course in Jupiter, Florida, remembers when the president showed up with Japanese prime minister Shinzo Abe. “There were just people everywhere trying to see him,” says Rutherford, “I guess to be able to say, ‘Oh, I saw the president and I got to shake his hand.’”101
IN THE ROUGH
Sources: Profit: Miami-Dade County public records. Interest: Trump’s financial disclosure reports, Federal Reserve data, author estimates
Trump invested hundreds of millions in golf properties in Miami and Europe shortly before entering politics. Bad timing. Customers fled Doral, the president’s most important golf property. Most of the operating profits in recent years appear to have been wiped out by interest expenses. Meanwhile, the president’s courses in Europe are hemorrhaging money.
Bars represent cumulative losses since 2015.
Sources: Ireland’s Companies Registration Office and Great Britain’s Companies House
Who exactly gets access to the president at his clubs is largely a mystery. No complete list of Trump’s golf club members exists in the public record. Federal disclosures don’t require the president to reveal who is paying him through his clubs. Journalists have not figured out any systematic way to track the money flowing into the businesses, and there is no one obsessing over every movement at the properties, the way Zach Everson does at the president’s Washington hotel. In 2017, reporters at USA Today used data from a golf handicap tracking system and social media posts to get a glimpse of some of the people frequenting the president’s clubs. They found at least 50 business leaders whose companies had received federal contracts, along with a handful of lobbyists and lawyers representing clients like the government of South Korea and the kingdom of Saudi Arabia.102
Unlike most customers at Trump’s clubs, political campaigns do leave a paper trail. In 2017, a pro-Trump congressional candidate named Omar Navarro spent nearly $8,000103 at Trump’s Los Angeles–area club while mounting an unsuccessful104 bid to replace California representative Maxine Waters. The campaign105 of a different long-shot congressional contender, Daryl Kipnis of New Jersey, also hosted a fundraiser at Trump National in Bedminster and shelled out another $8,000, one-third of his campaign’s entire budget.106 Not all the politicians at Trump’s clubs are pretenders. A political action committee supporting former New Jersey representative Thomas MacArthur, who served in Congress from 2015 to 2019, also rented Trump’s Bedminster property, funneling $15,000 to the president’s business.107 Then there was the Republican National Committee. From 2017 to 2019, as Doral’s business was struggling, the RNC provided a boost, spending $860,000 at the place. It spent another $289,000 at Mar-a-Lago.108 The Trump Victory committee,109 a joint fundraising effort between the president’s reelection campaign and the RNC, tossed another $345,000 in Mar-a-Lago’s coffers.110 In all, politicians and their operatives disclosed spending $1.8 million111 of campaign-donor money at Trump’s golf properties and clubs during his first three years in office.
The president got more money from taxpayers. A nonprofit group named Property of the People filed Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests and lawsuits to dig up receipts of government spending at Trump properties. They found that the Department of Defense spent more than $60,000 at Trump International Golf Club in Palm Beach over a four-month stretch. The Department of Homeland Security spent $56,000 at Doral in May 2017.112 Vice President Mike Pence visited his boss’s property in Doonbeg, Ireland. Pence’s chief of staff explained to reporters that Trump had suggested Pence stay there,113 though the president later claimed he had nothing to do with the decision: “People like my product—what can I tell you?”114 The Secret Service, which follows Pence and Trump virtually everywhere they go—including the president’s golf courses—spent $254,000 at Trump properties in just the first five months after the inauguration.115 The Secret Service has not released a full accounting of all the money it has spent at Trump’s properties since he took office,116 but assuming the spending continues at the same rate through the end of Trump’s first term, it will wind up paying $2.4 million to the president’s private business by January 2021.117
“It’s just a flagrant exploitation of the limited Secret Service funds,” says Virginia Canter, a longtime government ethics official who served in the White House during the Clinton and Obama administrations. “The federal government is subsidizing those businesses.”118
Trump’s smaller clubs don’t need much taxpayer help, since they seem to be faring better than the president’s mega-properties, according to a trove of documents, most of which have not been previously reported. From 2014 to 2018, revenues at Trump’s course in Westchester jumped 29%, according to an analysis of records released in a lawsuit.119 At the Trump club outside Los Angeles, golf revenue120 grew 26% from 2015 to 2019, according to local tax documents. At the president’s course in Jupiter, Florida, sales inched up 3% from 2015 to 2018, according to a review of papers filed with tax authorities.121 Even in Democrat-filled New York City, where Trump operates a course that he does not own,122 business finally began to recover in 2019 after three straight years of declines, according to filings obtained through FOIA requests.123 All good news for the Trump Organization, to be sure, but not enough to make up for its troubles in Miami and Europe.
• • •
ONE NIGHT AT the White House, Donald Trump sat in the dining room with acting chief of staff Mick Mulvaney and some members of the administration’s advance team, which scouts locations for events. The conversation centered on where to host the 2020 G7 summit, the annual meeting of world leaders scheduled to take place in the United States in June. The advance team suggested about a dozen possibilities. Trump then offered up his own idea: “What about Doral?”124
With that, the advance team headed to Florida to see if the president’s struggling golf resort could host one of the most important summits in the world. According to Mulvaney, the scouts liked what they saw. “Mick, you’re not going to believe this,” Mulvaney said one of them told him, “but it’s almost like they built this facility to host this type of event.”
The president certainly seemed to think so. A reporter attending the 2019 G7 summit, set on the Atlantic coast of France, had asked Trump if he anticipated hosting the following year’s gathering at his own property. “We haven’t made a final decision,” Trump said, before launching into a full-throated sales pitch, with German chancellor Angela Merkel sitting next to him, expressionless. “It’s a great place. It’s got tremendous acreage. Many hundreds of acres. So we can handle whatever happens. It’s really—people are really liking it. Plus, it has buildings that have 50 to 70 units in them, so each delegation can have its own building. So you’d have the seven various delegations, and they could have their own building.” So would the reporters, Trump pointed out. “They could have buildings for the press. It’s very big. Great conference facility. So we’re thinking about it. They love the location of the hotel, and they also like the fact that it’s right next to the airport, for convenience. And it’s Miami. Doral. Miami. So it’s a great area.”125
In some ways, the president was right. “You couldn’t have picked a better place to hold that thing,” says Joel Paige, who ran Doral before Trump bought it. You certainly could have picked a better season for it. Miami can be stiflingly hot in the summer, which helps explain why the occupancy drops in those months, according to the Trump Organization’s own records.126 But the Trump administration didn’t seem bothered by that. Or the fact that, as Paige puts it, “politically, it just was stupid.”
In October 2019, Mulvaney walked into the White House briefing room and made it official. “We’re going to announce today that we’re going to do the 46th G7 Summit on June 10th through June 12th at the Trump National Doral facility in Miami, Florida.”127 Trump is exempt from the conflict-of-interest statute as president, but he is subject to the domestic emoluments clause of the Constitution, which bars the president from receiving any government compensation other than his salary.128
But Mulvaney insisted that the event would produce no profit for the president. He also claimed Doral would be cheaper than the other options, but he could not explain exactly how the math might work. “I don’t have the numbers in terms of the cost,” he said. Nor did he want to get into the details of how the White House came to its decision. “I don’t talk about how this place runs on the inside,” he added. “So if you ask us—if you want to see our paper on how we did this, the answer is: absolutely not.”
At the very least, the G7 offered Doral a marketing opportunity, noted one reporter in the briefing room. “I’ve heard that before,” Mulvaney responded, adding, “Everybody asks the question: Is it not a huge marketing opportunity? I would simply ask you all to consider the possibility that Donald Trump’s brand is probably strong enough as it is and he doesn’t need any more help on that.”129 Mulvaney did not mention that the Trump brand was, in fact, wreaking havoc on Doral’s finances, as the Trump Organization’s own representative had explained in sworn testimony.
The backlash was immediate, from Republicans and Democrats. On Saturday, two days after the announcement, the uproar had still not quieted down. Trump connected with Mulvaney to discuss a response.130 The reality: there were no good options. So at 9:18 p.m., the president did something he almost never does: he backed down. “I thought I was doing something very good for our Country by using Trump National Doral, in Miami, for hosting the G-7 Leaders,” he tweeted, launching into yet another sales pitch about how great his property is. “It is big, grand, on hundreds of acres, next to MIAMI INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT, has tremendous ballrooms & meeting rooms, and each delegation would have its own 50 to 70 unit building. Would set up better than other alternatives. I announced that I would be willing to do it at NO PROFIT or if legally permissible, at ZERO COST TO THE USA. But, as usual, the Hostile Media & their Democrat Partners went CRAZY! Therefore, based on both Media & Democrat Crazed and Irrational Hostility, we will no longer consider Trump National Doral, Miami as the host site for the G-7 in 2020.”131
The president’s supporters sighed in relief. “He had no choice,” said Chris Christie, the former New Jersey governor who had championed Trump on the campaign trail. “It shouldn’t have been done in the first place. And it’s a good move to get out of it and get that out of the papers and off the news.”132
The morning after Trump’s announcement, Mulvaney appeared on Fox, where Chris Wallace conducted a typically tough interview. “Why did he cave?” asked Wallace.
“He was honestly surprised at the level of pushback,” explained Mulvaney. “At the end of the day, you know, he still considers himself to be in the hospitality business.”133
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All the President’s Tenants
INSIDE TRUMP’S TOWERS
For evidence that the president of the United States is violating the American Constitution,1 all you need to do is walk onto the 20th floor of Trump Tower. It doesn’t seem that difficult at first. The security outside the building, wearing helmets on their heads, pistols on their hips, and rifles across their chests, will wave you inside. So will the Secret Service agents checking bags. But in order to get upstairs, there’s a third level of security: a man in a business suit standing behind a podium. If you don’t have an appointment or an employee badge, good luck getting past him.
He’s there to protect the office of the Trump Organization, sure, but he’s also guarding a presidential secret—one that has been reported on2 periodically but, amid so many other stories, always seems to be forgotten. Past the guard and up the elevators, on the 20th floor of Trump Tower, sits an office for the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China,3 which is majority-owned4 by the Chinese government. It is through this space that China, by way of its state-owned bank,5 pays rent to the president of the United States. Of all the foreign government payments that spark allegations that Trump is violating the Constitution’s emoluments clause, none involve more money than this one.
According to a 2012 debt prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Chinese bank paid $1.9 million of rent a year, as part of a lease that was set to run out on October 31, 2019.6 The timing of that expiration, which landed in the middle of Trump’s first term in office, apparently put the president’s two eldest sons, Eric and Don Jr., in a position to negotiate with the Chinese over how much money they would pay President Trump—while President Trump simultaneously negotiated7 with China as part of his massive trade war.
Like a lot of what goes on inside the Trump family business, the details of those lease negotiations remain murky. They may not have happened at all. Donald Trump claimed, during his 2015 interview with Forbes, that the Chinese had “just extended their lease for another 10 years.” But Trump was on a lying spree that day—seconds later,8 he declared that Trump Tower’s profits were five times higher than they actually were9—so it’s hard to know whether he was telling the truth about the rental agreement.
There’s plenty of evidence suggesting he was not. For starters, Eric Trump later said the lease included an option for two five-year extensions, without mentioning the possibility of a 10-year one.10 Besides, why would a tenant sign a 10-year renewal in 2015 if its agreement did not expire until 2019? In 2018, the bank inked a new deal to rent 99,000 square feet of space in a different skyscraper a handful of blocks away.11 Since the bank’s new space was about five times larger than its old office, it seemed likely that the Chinese would be moving out of Trump Tower.
Instead, they stayed, for some reason electing to maintain two offices in Midtown Manhattan. Representatives of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China did not respond to a half dozen requests for comment. In January 2019, Bloomberg News reported that the bank was merely downsizing its space in Trump Tower, citing “people with knowledge of the matter.”12 If they did downsize, it doesn’t seem to have been by much. “They are keeping a couple of floors,” Eric Trump conceded onstage at a business conference weeks before the original lease was scheduled to expire.13 According to the Trump Organization’s own marketing materials, the floors inside Trump Tower contain roughly 15,000 square feet.14 So by keeping “a couple of floors,” the Chinese bank was apparently staying in most—if not all—of its previously occupied 20,000 square feet. These days, it’s unclear exactly how much the China-owned bank is paying the president. If the rent is the same as it was before, then Trump will collect $7.8 million15 from the bank by the end of his first term in office.
That appears to be enough money to disprove the Trumps’ claim that they are handing over all their profits from foreign governments to the U.S. Treasury. In 2017 and 2018, the Trump Organization donated a reported $343,00016 in profits from foreign governments.17 Over those same two years, however, the Trump Organization collected roughly $3.9 million18 in rent from the Chinese bank. The rent comes with some19 expenses—profit margins at Trump Tower are an estimated 42%. That suggests profits from the deal with the Chinese would add up to about $1.64 million in 2017 and 2018. The Chinese government owns at least 70% of the bank, but even if you count only 70% of those profits as coming from a foreign government, you still end up with $1.2 million. In other words, more than three times as much as the Trump Organization’s donations to the Treasury. And that $1.2 million figure is before accounting for any of the foreign money flowing through Trump hotels in D.C. and elsewhere.
The president’s hotel in Washington, D.C., and his clubs around the world get plenty of attention. But the most important part of Trump’s business is actually his commercial real estate portfolio. Trump’s office buildings, retail spaces, and assorted garages constitute 61% of the president’s net worth, adding up to $1.9 billion altogether. That’s more than five times as much as the president’s golf business, which generates huge revenues but comes with smaller profit margins. And it’s over 10 times as much as his hotel empire, burdened by big expenses and significant debt.20 The commercial properties, with massive margins and relatively light leverage, are Trump’s true moneymakers.
• • •
WHERE THAT MONEY comes from, however, has remained something of a mystery. By law, the president has to disclose every company that pays him, but he does not have to reveal who, in turn, pays those companies.21 That means that Trump, who holds his commercial properties through a web of entities, does not have to disclose who his tenants are—for example, the Qataris in their empty office at 555 California Street. It’s a massive loophole in federal disclosure laws, one that allows the president to accept money from entities all over the world without ever having to tell federal ethics officials who is paying him. Anticipating concerns about conflicts of interest, the Trump Organization set up an ethics plan before the president took office. One of its key tenets: an adviser would review any new deals that came about while Trump served as president. The attorneys who helped put together this plan made it seem like an airtight arrangement. “Written approval of the ethics advisor is required for all actions, deals, and transactions that could potentially raise ethics or conflict-of-interest concerns,” they wrote in a white paper.22
But that wasn’t what happened. According to Trump Organization chief legal officer Alan Garten, Trump’s business did not review potential tenants in buildings where Trump held a minority stake.23 That opened up a massive breach in the ethics pledge, because Trump’s two most valuable assets are minority stakes in office buildings: his 30% ownership of 1290 Avenue of the Americas and 555 California Street.24 “We have no involvement or approval rights over the selection of any of the tenants in those buildings and play no role in the negotiation of any of their leases,”25 Garten explained in an email.
Trump’s 30%26 share of the rent in the two office towers amounts to an estimated $99 million27 annually, or roughly 52%28 of the commercial rent flowing into the Trump Organization. In other words, despite pre-inauguration promises, half of the money flowing through the president’s commercial real estate portfolio does not appear to have gone through any internal vetting process.
It didn’t go through an external one, either, since neither the Trump Organization nor the White House would release a list of the president’s tenants.29 In early 2018, my former Forbes colleague Matt Drange and I started gathering data on who paid the president rent. Some companies were easy to find, like the ones renting space in storefronts at street level. Offices posed more of a challenge, since law firms and investment shops don’t typically plaster their names on the sides of their buildings. At 40 Wall Street, another colleague, Deniz Çam, found a directory of tenants, which was later removed. Eventually we tracked about 75% of the money flowing into the president’s coffers from tenants across the country.30
A good start, but not a comprehensive review. While writing this book, I dug in again, returning to the properties, speaking with tenants, and hunting for additional documents. The biggest breakthrough came in October 2019, when I happened upon a digital book revealing virtually all of the tenants inside Trump’s two hardest-to-access towers, which also happen to be the most important properties, 1290 Avenue of the Americas and 555 California Street. The book had been published on a website called FlipHTML5, which helps companies create digital books, by a user named VNO—the three-letter ticker for Vornado, Trump’s partner in both buildings. I sent the book to Vornado representatives to verify its authenticity; they declined to comment.31 But after corroborating much of its information with calls to tenants and visits to the properties, I used it to help construct a new list of Trump’s tenants—the most complete look at who pays rent to the president ever published. (See page 215.) The Trump Organization did not respond to an offer to review the data. The rent estimates are intentionally conservative, which helps explain why the total adds up to 93% of the roughly $191 million that the president generates in annual rent. By the time Trump finishes his first term in office, he will have collected about $750 million from more than 150 different tenants.
It’s hard to fault the companies for the conflicts of interest this creates. Most are just trying to find places to do business. Many rented the locations before their landlord became president. Two said they did not even realize they were renting from the president until Forbes informed them that they were.32 Instead, the blame lies squarely with the president. By hanging on to his portfolio, he put dozens of companies in the awkward position of asking the federal government for favors while paying the president huge sums of money.
It’s an ethical nightmare. Four foreign government entities—from China, Qatar, India, and the United Arab Emirates—have rented space in Trump’s buildings while he’s served as president. At least 35 tenants33 lobbied the federal government on policy issues. Twenty of those34 pitched the White House or the president personally. Thirty or more35 tenants collected more than $8 billion in federal government contracts from 2018 to 2019 alone.36 At least 1737 faced federal investigations on matters including fraud,38 money laundering,39 and corruption.40 Add it all up and Trump’s tenant relationships create one of the most significant potential conflicts of interest in American history.
• • •
TWO FLOORS ABOVE the Chinese bank,41 the Abu Dhabi Tourism and Culture Authority, a registered foreign agent42 based in the United Arab Emirates, once had an office. An archived screenshot of the authority’s website shows that it listed its address as 725 Fifth Avenue—Trump Tower—on January 27, 2017,43 one week after Donald Trump’s inauguration. The next available archived screenshot, captured in May 2017,44 lists an address at a new space down the street.
On the 46th floor45 of San Francisco’s 555 California Street, in which the president holds an estimated $517 million stake,46 the Bank of India rented 3,800 square feet or so47 for some time. Like the Chinese bank, the Bank of India is also state-owned.48 Assuming49 the Indians paid market rates, they likely handed over about $100,000 a year to the president. The bank, which did not respond to requests for comment, eventually moved out. When I visited the California skyscraper in December 2019, the Bank of India was no longer there. The Qatar Investment Authority, however, had moved in, on the 43rd floor of the skyscraper.50 Its lease appears to have started in 2018, in the middle of Trump’s first term in office.51 Needless to say, it was yet another violation of the Trump Organization’s promise to do “no new foreign deals whatsoever” during Trump’s tenure in office.52
These sorts of relationships, involving money from overseas, are especially alarming to ethics experts. “Congress should be going through the records of the Trump Organization and finding out about any and all contractual commitments, borrowing, and everything else from overseas,” says Richard Painter, President George W. Bush’s chief ethics lawyer. “Where would we have been in World War II if Franklin Roosevelt had various side deals with Germany?”53
It’s not such a far-fetched hypothetical. On the 10th floor54 of 1290 Avenue of the Americas sit the offices of HQ Capital, an investment manager55 for the descendants of Harald Quandt, a German industrialist whose mother married Nazi propagandist Joseph Goebbels in a wedding where Adolf Hitler reportedly served56 as best man. It’s unclear where exactly Harald Quandt’s descendants invest their wealth these days, or how U.S. policy might affect their holdings. A different branch57 of the Quandt family owns a multibillion-dollar58 stake in BMW, the auto manufacturer at the center of Trump’s trade negotiations with the European Union.
Clearer potential conflicts loomed elsewhere overseas. Santander Bank lobbied Congress on a tax agreement with Spain,59 its home country, while renting a corner retail location in 1290 Avenue of the Americas for an estimated $1.8 million a year.60 Axa Equitable Holdings, which paid an estimated $44 million annually61 to lease space inside 1290 Avenue of the Americas, explained in an annual report that it had to disclose the Iran-connected business of its affiliates to the Securities and Exchange Commission, which in turn was required to send notice to the president of the United States. According to the annual report, the president then had to judge whether or not to impose sanctions.62 Even though, in this case, the company involved happened to be paying him millions of dollars in annual rent.
Then there were law firms who served as tenants while lobbying on behalf of various foreign clients, including some with disastrous reputations. Jones Day helped Huawei, the Chinese technology company that Trump labeled a national security risk,63 with issues before the White House64 while also paying the president an estimated $1.5 million a year.65 Venable LLP, a firm renting space66 inside 1290 Avenue of the Americas for an estimated $12.2 million67 a year, lobbied68 the Treasury Department and Congress on behalf of Russian state-controlled bank69 Sberbank, weighing in70 on bills designed to expose corruption around the Kremlin and combat Russian interference in elections. A spokesperson for Venable suggested that connecting its rent payments to its lobbying efforts requires “an incredible leap of logic.”71 Fair enough. But it’s still remarkable that a Trump tenant was apparently pushing Vladimir Putin’s agenda in Washington. And because of lax disclosure laws that leave the details of these transactions secret, it took until now, more than three years into Donald Trump’s presidency, for anyone to notice.
SECRET SKYSCRAPERS
Trump’s best-performing properties are 30% stakes in two anonymously named skyscrapers, 555 California Street in San Francisco, and 1290 Avenue of the Americas in New York City. While the Trump brand has weighed down other parts of the president’s portfolio, rents in these two skyscrapers have soared. Credit Steven Roth, CEO of Vornado Realty Trust, the firm that owns the other 70% of the properties and manages them on a day-to-day basis. After winning the election, Trump named Roth to his quickly scrapped infrastructure council.
Sources: Financial reports released by Trump’s partner, Vornado Realty Trust
Source: Financial reports released by Trump’s partner, Vornado Realty Trust
• • •
TRUMP’S AGREEMENTS WITH American companies proved just as problematic. One month after taking office, the president hosted a group of retail CEOs at the White House.72 He took a seat at a long table, flanked by administration officials and leaders of eight businesses from around the country. To Trump’s right sat billionaire73 Stefano Pessina of Walgreens Boots Alliance, a pharmacy giant that served as the largest tenant inside 40 Wall Street,74 Trump’s tower in the Financial District of New York City. The company paid about $3.2 million a year for retail and office space.
Pessina had come a long way to get to this point. Born in Milan,75 he became a nuclear engineer before getting involved in his family’s struggling pharmaceutical76 business. He proceeded to go on a shopping spree, buying up a reported 1,500 competitors77 throughout Europe to create a European giant called Alliance UniChem. In 2006, Alliance UniChem merged with Boots Group of Great Britain in a blockbuster deal, termed the largest leveraged buyout in European history.78 Eight years later, Pessina began combining Alliance Boots with Walgreens, putting himself in position to become a drugstore giant on both sides of the Atlantic.79 But that wasn’t enough. In October 2015, Deerfield, Ill.–based Walgreens Boots Alliance unveiled plans to acquire Rite Aid for $9.4 billion.
In order to prevent buyout barons from creating monopolies, the Federal Trade Commission analyzes mergers and determines whether they will limit competition. Regulators in the Obama administration had studied the Walgreens–Rite Aid merger for more than a year, but they had not reached a conclusion by the time President Trump took over.80 That left the decision up to an administration whose president was collecting millions of dollars a year from one of the parties asking for approval.
“Good morning, retailers,” Trump said. “One of my favorite subjects—retailing.”81 The president launched into a brief speech touting how his administration planned to help the business community by cutting both taxes and regulations. It seemed as if Trump was particularly aware of the issues Walgreens Boots Alliance was having with federal regulators, which made sense, since the pharmacy chain was lobbying the White House on “competition policy issues,” according to disclosures its representatives filed with the government.82 The president gestured in the direction of Pessina. “You have a very, very big regulatory problem,” he said. “And we’re going to take care of that.”83
Seven months later, the Federal Trade Commission cleared the way for a trimmed-down $4.4 billion84 version of the Rite Aid takeover. The approval process was unusual. The FTC typically has five commissioners who weigh in on such things. But at the time, there were only two,85 in part because Trump had been slow to nominate commissioners. One of the two commissioners disagreed with the move, saying it could limit competition and increase drug prices.86 The other, who served as acting chairman,87 disagreed, which was enough to let the deal move forward. A few months later, the president announced his plan to nominate88 the commissioner who’d sided with Walgreens Boots Alliance, Maureen Ohlhausen, to serve as a federal judge.
It’s difficult to know whether Trump’s business ties to Walgreens Boots Alliance affected any of this. A spokesperson for the pharmacy chain claims that the lobbying on “competition policy issues” did not have to do with the Rite Aid merger.89 Ohlhausen says Trump’s relationship with Walgreens Boots Alliance had no impact on her analysis. “No one at the White House, including the president, ever made his or her opinion on this or any other pending merger known to me.”90 But President Trump has offered his opinion on mergers before other parts of the government. He lamented the FCC’s refusal to approve a Sinclair Broadcast-Tribune Media merger, calling the move “disgraceful.” And he said he was “not going to get involved in litigation” related to a potential AT&T-Time Warner combination but then declared it “a deal that’s not good for the country.”91 They create additional concerns in cases where Trump has a business connection, leaving the American public to wonder whether companies paying the president get special treatment.
Also questionable: the president’s interactions with Wall Street. Two weeks after his inauguration, Trump welcomed to the White House CEO Jamie Dimon, whose company, JPMorgan Chase, pays the president an estimated $2.5 million a year.92 Trump expressed his excitement at hearing Dimon’s thoughts on Dodd-Frank, the landmark legislation intended to rein in the excesses that led to the Great Recession. “There’s nobody better to tell me about Dodd-Frank than Jamie, so you’re going to tell me about it,” Trump said to Dimon at the time. “We expect to be cutting a lot out of Dodd-Frank because, frankly, I have so many people, friends of mine that have nice businesses that can’t borrow money. They just can’t get any money because the banks just won’t let them borrow because of the rules and regulations in Dodd-Frank.”93
The regulations that govern Wall Street go beyond Dodd-Frank. For example, in 2015 Barack Obama suggested94 a rule requiring retirement advisers to prioritize their clients’ financial interests over their own. Sounds simple. For financial firms, however, it posed a challenge, since many of their businesses generate revenue by steering clients toward products with big fees, which may not be best for clients. One of Trump’s tenants,95 Morgan Stanley, lobbied on96 the rule, taking its case straight to the Executive Office of the President—the official name for Trump and the team that surrounds him. The Trump administration issued a review of the rule and postponed its implementation.97 Ultimately, the intervention proved unnecessary. The rule fell apart98 in the courts, allowing financial planners to continue giving questionable financial advice. The Trump administration did, ultimately, end up implementing a different rule99 to try to protect investors from bad advice. A different tenant, JPMorgan Chase, weighed in100 on that regulation.
The administration also went easy on Trump tenants convicted of committing crimes. Before Trump took office, three of his tenants, JPMorgan, UBS, and Barclays, pled guilty to manipulating interest and foreign exchange rates. The Trump administration issued waiver extensions to all three banks, as well as Trump’s lender, Deutsche Bank, allowing them to avoid part of their punishments.101
The potential conflicts reached into other industries as well, with tenants of all types pushing the president on issues big and small, in directions Trump favored and opposed. Columbia University lobbied on fetal tissue research102—a controversial topic for pro-life advocates—while handing an estimated $2.1 million to the president every year.103 Nike lobbied the White House on international trade104 while paying Trump an estimated $13 million105 annually. Blockchain business Ripple Labs weighed in on financial regulations106 while handing Trump roughly $1.2 million a year.107 Even the Girl Scouts, whose New York City council leases space inside 40 Wall Street108 for $600,000 a year,109 lobbied the White House on designating June 2017 “Great Outdoors Month,”110 which President Trump ultimately did.111
• • •
MILLIONS FLOWED FROM tenants to Trump, and billions passed from the Trump administration to the president’s tenants. In 2017, Secretary of Defense James Mattis, a decorated general who served in three wars, traveled to Seattle and Silicon Valley, homes to the largest technology companies in the world.112 Since biblical times, innovation has decided who won and lost battles. David killed Goliath with a sling, the Greeks conquered Persia with catapults, the Europeans took America with guns, and the United States ended World War II with atomic bombs. Mattis returned to Washington convinced that data, cybersecurity, and machine learning would shape the next era of warfare, and he was determined to keep America from falling behind.
So he kicked off an effort to put military data onto a centralized cloud, which would allow soldiers to access more information faster, including in the middle of combat. It was a monumental task, one the U.S. government wasn’t going to handle internally, so the Department of Defense came up with a contract to offer an outside company the chance to do the work—and receive up to $10 billion for doing so.113
TROUBLE AT HOME
Source: SEC filings submitted by Trump’s lenders
Source: SEC filings submitted by Trump’s lenders
As Donald Trump’s political star was rising, his New York City real estate empire was fading. Profits at Trump Tower, Trump Plaza, and Trump International Hotel & Tower all dropped from 2015 (the year Trump declared his candidacy) to 2019 (when he was settled into the White House). Business was better at 40 Wall Street, a skyscraper where Trump had previously lured tenants with discounts. Profits eventually climbed, but they still failed to reach the expectations of Trump’s lenders.
Source: SEC filings submitted by Trump’s lenders, author estimate (2019)
Source: SEC filings submitted by Trump’s lenders, author estimate (2016)
One of Trump’s tenants, Microsoft, which pays an estimated $3.2 million114 a year to rent space inside 555 California Street, put in a bid. From the start, Microsoft seemed like a long shot. Amazon, which had previously won a cloud computing contract from the Central Intelligence Agency,115 was the clear favorite—so much so that a third bidder, Oracle, formally complained that the contracting process was biased in Amazon’s favor.116 Senator Marco Rubio expressed a similar concern: “They put out a contract that only one company in the world could possibly win, and that was Amazon.”117
But Amazon faced an unexpected adversary: the commander in chief. According to a book by Guy Snodgrass, who served as Mattis’s speechwriter, Trump called the secretary of defense in the summer of 2018 and told him to “screw Amazon” out of competing for the deal. Mattis relayed that message to his colleagues, according to Snodgrass. “We’re not going to do that,” the former speechwriter recalled Mattis telling them. “This will be done by the book, both legally and ethically.”118 For his part, Mattis later said he didn’t remember that happening. “I don’t recall anyone trying to direct me what to do with the JEDI contract, and that includes the president,” he told investigators. “I knew he probably wouldn’t like it much if Amazon won, but that frankly wasn’t my concern as long as we did it right.”119
In December 2018, Mattis announced that he was resigning for unrelated reasons, fed up with Trump’s worldview.120 A handful of months after that, Trump told reporters that he had been getting a lot of complaints about Amazon and the Department of Defense. “It’s a very big contract,” the president said, noting that Microsoft, Oracle, and IBM were raising issues. “Great companies are complaining about it. So we’re going to take a look at it. We’ll take a very strong look at it.”121
Five days later, the U.S. Senate confirmed Mattis’s replacement, Mark Esper. Barely one week after Esper became the 27th secretary of defense, he told reporters that he would be personally reviewing the details of the contract.122 Then, in October 2019, he changed tack, announcing, through a spokesperson, that he had recused himself from matters related to the deal.123 Three days later, the Department of Defense announced that it had picked an unlikely winner—Microsoft, a Trump tenant.124
Everything about the process raised red flags, including Trump’s decision to weigh in. Presidents usually stay out of such decisions,125 and although a Pentagon official insisted that the people picking the contractor had done so through an independent process,126 it’s hard to imagine that they missed the public statements of the president. In April 2020, an inspector general issued a report concluding that the officials who picked Microsoft did so without pressure from the top brass inside the Department of Defense. But the inspector general’s office also said it could not complete a full investigation because attorneys inside the administration had told witnesses not to answer questions about their communications with the White House.127
Most of the commentary surrounding the contract suggested that Trump’s antagonism toward Amazon stemmed from the fact that Jeff Bezos, the CEO of Amazon, also owns The Washington Post, which had reported aggressively on the Trump campaign and administration. That’s probably true. But Trump’s possible reasons for favoring Microsoft, which declined to comment for this book,128 go beyond newspaper articles. Not only did Microsoft pay Trump, but Amazon was costing him. The president owns 125,000129 square feet of retail space near Fifth Avenue in New York City—America’s most famous shopping corridor, which has long drawn crowds eager to peruse the aisles at dozens of retailers within walking distance of one another. Amazon challenged all that by creating a convenient online marketplace. As more shoppers go online, fewer go to places like Donald Trump’s buildings, and this drives down rents and real estate values. During Trump’s first year in office, in fact, this effect helped shave an estimated $400 million off the president’s net worth.130
Microsoft, which will pay Trump an estimated $3.8 million in rent by the time he finishes his first term, has benefited from other government contracts as well. Back in 2015, the computer giant had $284 million worth of work with the federal government. That increased to $342 million in 2016, while President Obama was wrapping up his tenure in the Oval Office. It then swelled to $355 million in 2017 and $472 million in 2018. Even before securing the Defense Department’s cloud computing contract, Microsoft was on pace to receive more than $1.5 billion in contracts from the federal government while its landlord served in office.131
The software giant was not a unique case. Trump tenant Columbia University secured nearly $900 million132 in federal contracts in 2019. ICF, a consulting firm, saw its contracting business surpass $500 million in 2018,133 while its landlord served as president. McKinsey, which leases 54,000 square feet of office space in 555 California Street,134 boosted its government contracts 60% from 2016 to 2019.135 In fairness, not everyone picked up additional revenue. Wells Fargo’s $520 million in contracts from 2015 began drying up in 2016,136 the year the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau fined the bank $100 million for secretly opening accounts customers did not need.137 By 2019, Wells Fargo’s federal government business was next to nothing, according to a database that details federal spending.138 But the amount of money still flowing between Trump, his administration, and his tenants is staggering. In total, federal contractors appear poised to pay the president more than $200 million139 in rent by the end of his first term in office. And those same contractors140 will likely collect more than $10 billion in taxpayer dollars.
It would be easy to brush all this aside if Trump’s tenants all had sterling reputations and had never been accused of using money to buy influence. But that’s not the case. More than a dozen Trump tenants faced known federal investigations while their landlord was in office. Inside 40 Wall Street alone, at least six tenants faced141 federal scrutiny. Among them: an engineering firm listed on a debt prospectus142 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as the third-highest-paying tenant inside the building, responsible for $2.2 million in annual rent. In 2018, the Manhattan District Attorney’s Office indicted the firm and its CEO as part of a corruption scheme related to New York City contracts.143 The CEO ended up pleading guilty to first-degree bribery.144 Today, a rebranded version of the firm, dubbed Atane, is still afloat with a slightly smaller lease, paying $1.3 million a year to rent in the president’s building.145
Even Trump’s blue-chip tenants have had issues. Walgreens Boots Alliance, JPMorgan Chase, Santander Bank, Morgan Stanley, Bank of America, Wells Fargo, and Goldman Sachs all paid the president rent while the federal government investigated their businesses. Capital One, which leased the corner space in Trump Park Avenue, faced an anti-money-laundering investigation.146 So did UBS, which leases space in 555 California Street.147
Barclays, which once paid an estimated $2.4 million annually to rent space in 555 California Street,148 handed over149 $6 million in 2019 to settle charges that it had violated the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act by giving jobs to relatives of government officials in Asia in order to curry favor. In July 2019, at the same time that Microsoft was vying for the Defense Department’s cloud computing contract,150 the software giant paid $25 million to settle allegations that its subsidiaries in Hungary, Saudi Arabia, and Thailand had violated the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, funneling money and gifts to government officials.151
Twenty-first Century Fox, the former parent company of Fox News, paid Trump a small sum for engineering space that appears to be connected to an antenna on top of Trump International Hotel & Tower, in New York City.152 Despite all the attention paid to Trump’s cozy relationship with Fox, the deal has flown almost entirely under the radar. Before CNN watchers get too enraged, however, it’s worth noting that the Trump Organization has a similar agreement with that channel for use of an antenna atop the Trump International Hotel in Washington, D.C.153
If it’s hard to keep up with all of this, that’s the point. There is simply too much money flowing between the federal government, President Trump, and private entities to investigate every deal—or the motivations behind it. Federal ethics officials do not even know who the president’s tenants are, much less what they pay or why they pay it. So the money keeps flowing.
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Cashing In
THE BUSINESS BEHIND TRUMP’S 500-PLUS HOMES
December 2016 was a busy time for Donald Trump. Holed up inside Trump Tower, with protesters downstairs and security guarding the doors, the president-elect played host to a parade of political heavyweights. Rick Perry,1 Rex Tillerson,2 and Wilbur Ross,3 all members of the incoming cabinet, stopped by. So did Paul Ryan,4 Speaker of the House. Mitch McConnell,5 Senate majority leader, followed not long after. America’s most prominent business tycoons came, too. Amazon’s Jeff Bezos, Google’s Larry Page, Apple’s Tim Cook. Trump assured them they could call whenever they’d like. “We have no formal chain of command around here.”
Amid the chaos, the Trump Organization continued to function as a real estate business. Its executives, including the Trump children, split their time between political matters and business affairs. On December 14, 2016, for example, Don Jr., Eric, and Ivanka joined a meeting with members of the incoming administration and tech leaders from the West Coast.6 The same day, the Trump Organization, which Don Jr. and Eric were about to take over, reached a deal to sell a Park Avenue penthouse that Ivanka Trump once called home.7 Daddy Trump still owned the property, so the proceeds of the sale went to him.8
All this money and all this power proved irresistible to influence peddlers such as Angela Chen,9 the woman buying the penthouse. Chen runs a business called Global Alliance Associates, which boasts on its website that it uses connections to high-ranking government officials to help companies expand into China: “Influential relationships with key decisionmakers are imperative to enter the Chinese market and are the pillars upon which any sustainable business operation is based.”10
No wonder, then, that Chen was willing to hand over $15.9 million for the apartment.11 On a price-per-square-foot basis, it was the highest price anyone had paid for a unit in the building since 2004, according to an analysis of property records. Never mind that Trump sold an almost identical apartment for $1.8 million less than a year earlier. And never mind that prices in Trump Park Avenue were trending down, not up. Chen paid anyway, at a rate 79% higher than what the next 11 buyers in the building coughed up.12
The presidency now came with a price tag. By hanging on to his assortment of residential properties, Trump ensured that people with enough money to buy a condo or plot of land could pay him huge sums while he served in Washington. During his first three years in the nation’s capital, the Trump Organization struck about 125 separate deals, yielding $117 million for the president.13
DEALMAKER IN CHIEF
When Donald Trump ascended to the presidency, he didn’t stop doing deals. In fact, with his children acting as his emissaries, the president of the United States sold more than 120 properties in the three years after Inauguration Day, collecting well over $100 million.
asset | proceeds |
Four percent stake in Spring Creek Towers (NYC) | $33 million (est.) |
Eleven oceanside lots (Rancho Palos Verdes, Calif.) | $23 million |
One hundred Trump International Hotel Las Vegas units | $16.9 million |
Penthouse in Trump Park Avenue (NYC) | $15.9 million |
Mansion (Beverly Hills, Calif.) | $13.5 million |
Three condos in Trump Parc East (NYC) | $7.5 million |
Warehouse (North Charleston, S.C.) | $4.1 million |
Land (Dominican Republic) | $3.2 million |
Parking in Trump International Hotel & Tower Chicago | $300,000 (est.) |
Residential real estate (Norfolk, Va.) | $150,000 |
TOTAL PROCEEDS: $117 million
• • •
CASH IS CORE to any operating business. And yet, it was the first component of Trump’s empire to feel the effect of his move into politics. The same year he declared his campaign for president, Trump left The Apprentice, a reality television show that shaped the New York real estate player into an international icon. Federal Communications Commission regulations require all presidential candidates to receive equal airtime on non-news programs, which meant that if Trump wanted to comply with federal rules, he couldn’t continue hosting his own non-news program.
It was a significant blow. According to a press release later issued by the Trump campaign, the candidate had received a total of $214 million from The Apprentice between 2004 and 2015, or an average of $19 million a year14—more money than Trump Tower produces in annual net operating income.15 In another hit to Trump’s cash supply, some of his product licensing partners severed ties with him in the wake of controversial comments on the campaign trail, likely costing Trump more than $1 million a year.16
Trump’s forays into television and licensing were unusual for a real estate developer, and they came with big benefits. Chief among them: neither business line included significant expenses. Being a TV star takes time, sure. But it doesn’t take a big capital investment up front, like building a hotel, fixing up a golf course, or purchasing a skyscraper. Licensing deals usually require a couple of site visits, a handful of lawyers, and a famous name, but they don’t come with big costs like construction or maintenance.
Once those two cash streams slowed down to a trickle, Trump was left with his operating businesses, which involve major expenses. A review of documents from Trump’s lenders, local officials, overseas regulators, and the Trump Organization itself suggests that the president’s properties threw off an estimated $150 million of pre-tax, pre-interest income in 2017, the first year he sat in the White House. The next year, that figure hit an estimated $161 million. Two years, $311 million. (For a full property-by-property breakdown, see pages iv–v.)
The amount of money that actually landed in President Trump’s pocket, however, was much smaller. The $311 million number does not include debt payments. During Trump’s first two years in the White House, he spent an estimated $47 million paying down the principal on more than $1 billion of loans.17 In 2017, he also spent an estimated $42 million on interest.18 That figure increased to $43 million in 2018.19 The reason interest went up, even while the Trump Organization was paying down its debt, is that the Federal Reserve raised interest rates, helping increase the cost of the president’s estimated $300 million of variable-interest debt. For every percentage point that Trump’s interest rates increase, the president owes an estimated $3 million in additional money to his banks per year.20
That might help explain why Trump, in defiance of precedent,21 has so brazenly pushed the Federal Reserve to lower interest rates. “The Fed rate, over a fairly short period of time, should be reduced by at least 100 basis points,” Trump tweeted on August 19, 2019.22 Four days later, Trump was fuming. “As usual, the Fed did NOTHING!”23 The president didn’t let up the next month, tweeting that “the Fed should lower rates” while wondering how Fed chairman Jerome Powell, whom Trump had appointed, could see the world differently. “Where did I find this guy Jerome?” the president wondered aloud to his 64 million followers. “Oh well, you can’t win them all!”24 The president struck a less charitable note a few days later. “The USA should always be paying the lowest rate,” he said. “It is only the naivete of Jay Powell and the Federal Reserve that doesn’t allow us to do what other countries are already doing. A once in a lifetime opportunity that we are missing because of ‘Boneheads.’”25 The Fed, he insisted, was holding back the stock market. Trump did not mention that higher rates were also personally costing him a few million.
Take out all those debt payments, and the president’s operating business probably supplied more like $180 million in pre-tax profits in 2017 and 2018. Real money, to be sure, but not a huge cushion for someone living a billionaire lifestyle—with six personal mansions, two private airplanes, and a propensity to pour piles of cash into golf properties.26 Good thing Trump had one more stream of cash outside of his operating business—the constant supply of residential real estate going to the highest bidder.
• • •
SELLING PROPERTY WAS nothing new for Trump. He had been doing so, on a massive scale, since the early 1980s. That was when he built Trump Tower, offering six floors of luxury shopping, breathtaking views of Central Park, and a 60-foot indoor waterfall, luring buyers to 263 pricey condos. Modesty was not one of its features. Before the whole place even opened, Trump took out an advertisement in Forbes, declaring his creation “the most successful real estate development of recent times.”27
Hype sells. Johnny Carson, Steven Spielberg, and Michael Jackson all became neighbors of Trump, who made the top unit his home.28 He claimed the building cost $150 million to construct and that the apartments would provide $268 million in profits, which he would split with his partner Equitable Life.29
From the early days, there were rumors about the origins of that money, and whether some it may have come from illicit industries. “Once the money enters the banking stream through shady banks, it is indistinguishable from other money,” explained a 1986 story in Forbes. “Fully one-third the apartments in Manhattan’s super expensive condominium Trump Tower are owned by foreign corporations, mostly from Panama and the Netherlands Antilles. Yet no one would argue that even one of these apartments is owned by a drug dealer. That’s the point: you don’t know, and not knowing, there is not much the authorities can do.”30
Trump never seemed particularly bothered by this sort of thing. Why would he be? Federal law requires banks to run sophisticated programs to detect money laundering, but it demands less of real estate professionals.31 So Trump just kept on building. He opened Trump International Hotel & Tower, on the southwest corner of Central Park, in 1997. Four years later, he unveiled Trump World Tower on the East Side of Manhattan. Then came Trump Park Avenue, carved out of the old Delmonico Hotel, on 59th Street and Park Avenue.32
In the mid-2000s, when The Apprentice turned Trump into an international star, he began expanding outside of New York City, building new towers in Chicago and Las Vegas. Both projects opened right around the time the global economy was spiraling into crisis. The Chicago deal turned into a mess. Trump defaulted on his debt,33 negotiated a discount from his lenders,34 and ended up holding 177 unsold units, according to a review of property records.35
In Vegas, Trump and his business partner, billionaire Phil Ruffin, talked about filing for bankruptcy but never did. “He and a tax lawyer and myself got on the phone,” Ruffin recalls. “And the tax lawyer said, ‘Look, guys, if you declare bankruptcy, you guys get to charge off $500 million between you.”36 A $500 million loss would allow both men, 50-50 partners, to write off $250 million, which would save them roughly $100 million or so. “Don said, ‘No, no, no. This is not Atlantic City. This is Las Vegas. We’ll sell it. It’ll sell out.’”37
Not quickly, it wouldn’t. By the time Trump was elected president in 2016, eight years after the stock market collapsed, he and Ruffin still owned about 400 units in the building, worth roughly $170 million, according to an analysis of property records. In addition, Trump held the 177 in Chicago, plus 37 apartments38 scattered about New York City. Then there were 34 residential lots39 next to a golf course near Los Angeles, along with six trophy properties in Florida, California, New York, and the Caribbean.40 Add everything up and the incoming president owned nearly $500 million in residential real estate—much of it for sale.41
• • •
NOT EVERYONE WAS interested in buying. On the Caribbean island of St. Martin stands a pristine white palace, with a lawn cut like a fairway and a swimming pool overlooking the sea. To figure out who owns the place, all you have to do is look at the two front doors, which feature twin Trump family crests, in gold.
Shortly after Donald Trump took office, reports began to emerge that he was trying to sell the waterfront estate.42 He had a big price in mind: $28 million. Local real estate brokers thought the property was worth more like $13 million.43 By asking for so much money, the president was essentially inviting anyone to slip him $15 million or so in exchange for . . . well, that wasn’t clear. Trump eventually conceded that he was hoping for too much and slashed the asking price 40% to a more modest, but still optimistic, $16.9 million.44
“I heard Donald Trump’s villa is for sale,” a Chinese billionaire told his real estate broker one day in 2018, digging into a salad over lunch at a nearby marina.
“Yes, it is,” replied the broker, Mario Molinari. “Let me phone and see if I can get an appointment.”
When no one picked up, Molinari threw out another idea. “Let’s go drive up to the property and see if we can get in, if there’s someone around there.”
CONDOS CRASHING
After Trump declared his candidacy for president, the value of condos in Trump Tower, measured on a per-square-foot basis, plummeted. Guess not too many people in liberal-leaning New York liked the idea of being Trump’s neighbor. Things weren’t much better a few blocks away at Trump Park Avenue, where Ivanka Trump and Jared Kushner keep an apartment.
Source: New York City real estate records
Source: New York City real estate records
The billionaire, whose name Molinari refuses to divulge, agreed. So they hopped into Molinari’s Kia Sportage, outfitted with a Century 21 sign on the door, and took a quick drive to the estate. When they arrived, Trump’s property manager was standing outside. She had bad news. “You can’t see it today, because you need to get prescreened,” she told her visitors, according to Molinari.
The Chinese billionaire, presumably annoyed by all the fuss, piped up from the passenger seat. “This is Trump’s house here?” he asked the property manager, knowing full well that it was.
“Yes,” she told him.
“It’s too small for me,” the billionaire sniffed.
With that they drove off.45 As of June 2020, the house was still on the market.
St. Martin wasn’t the only place Trump was having trouble selling property. Take New York City. There may be no president in American history more unpopular in his hometown than Donald Trump. In the 2016 election, he captured just 10% of the ballots cast in Manhattan and 21% of the votes in the outer boroughs.46 Makes sense, then, that most buyers—with a few notable exceptions like Angela Chen—wanted nothing to do with the apartments in Trump buildings.
Other than Chen’s, the president has not sold a single apartment in Trump Park Avenue since he took office, despite putting several on the market.47 Other owners in the building have sold units—at steep discounts. The average price per square foot of condos trading in the building plummeted 32% from 2015, the year Trump launched his presidential campaign, to 2019, his third year in office.48 Meanwhile, the value of luxury apartments across Manhattan actually climbed 15%.49
Similar trends played out inside Trump Tower. Prices fell every year from 2015 to 2018 before ticking up a hair in 2019. By that point, the damage was clear; the average price per square foot for Trump Tower condos was 37% lower than it had been in 2015, according to a review of property records.50 It’s less clear how exactly that might affect the value of President Trump’s penthouse, the only residential unit he’s known to hold in the building today. Dripping in gold, with marble pillars and crystal chandeliers, it’s a place fit for a king. “The Louis XIV décor is extremely specific, appealing to a very limited audience,” explains New York City broker Christine Miller Martin. “However, the location and views are breathtaking. I would expect the apartment to appeal to a wealthy foreign buyer, most likely from the Middle East or Russia.”51 With those types of potential customers, the presidency may actually boost the value of the penthouse.
In other Trump projects, virtually everyone was making money. Shortly after the inauguration, Ruffin spoke over the phone, exuding confidence about the Las Vegas tower. “There is no falloff in business,” he said. “The Trump name is still strong.”52 Certainly stronger in Vegas than in New York. Trump won 42% of the 2016 vote in Clark County, which includes Sin City.53 That wasn’t enough to defeat Hillary Clinton, but it was more than twice the percentage Trump took in his hometown. He also won every other county in Nevada,54 except one along the California state line, where he lost by just 1%.55
During Trump’s first three years in office, he and Ruffin hauled in $34 million selling 100 condo-hotel units in Vegas, according to an analysis of property records—enough to make the tower Trump’s most active real estate project by far. Prices in the building surged 15% from 2015 to 2019. Since the Vegas market remained relatively flat during that time, the increase seems to have as much to do with the big gold TRUMP on top of the building as anything else.
The tower in Las Vegas includes more than 1,200 units, most of which are virtual clones of one another. By the time Trump took office, he and Ruffin had sold about two-thirds of the units and still owned roughly 400 others. Before they offloaded those, however, some of their previous buyers had decided to resell their units. That meant Trump was competing against prior customers to sell the same product. It also meant the Vegas tower turned into a perfect experiment to see how much buyers would pay a random seller versus the president of the United States. Before Trump became the Republican nominee for president, there was little difference. But after July 2016, when he won the nomination, Trump sold his units for an average of 21% more than everyone else in the building, according to a review of property records.
Condos in other locales got similar presidential premiums. Angela Chen’s Park Avenue penthouse provides one example. Two Trump-owned units inside Trump Parc East, a condo building on the south end of Central Park, went for an estimated 15% above the going rate. Add up all above-market selling, and it amounts to an estimated $6 million extra in Trump’s pocket in his first three years as president. Or five times the government salary that Trump so famously donated over the same period.56
A constant cloud of suspicion hung over all the dealmaking, even transactions that would be fairly routine if the president weren’t involved. In 2018, for example, Trump sold a plot of land in the Dominican Republic for $3.2 million,57 ignoring the promise to do no new deals overseas while he served in office.58 The president sold a Beverly Hills mansion for $13.5 million to a company connected to59 Hary Tanoesoedibjo, the Indonesian tycoon, who has said he wants to follow the Trump playbook and become president of his own country.60 Trump sold another 11 oceanside plots in Rancho Palos Verdes, California, at what seems to be fair market value,61 for $23 million. In May 2018, the president sold a 4% stake in Spring Creek Towers, a federally subsidized housing project in Brooklyn, New York. The stake was small, but the amount of money was big—amounting to an estimated $33 million for the president.62 Before Trump got the cash, however, Secretary of Housing and Urban Development Ben Carson had to sign off on the deal.63 That put Carson in an uncomfortable spot. Could he be impartial when considering a proposal that affected his boss so personally? Even if Carson acted properly—and all indications are that he did—there were bound to be questions about whether Trump had somehow benefited from being the boss of the man who approved his most lucrative deal while in office.64
• • •
DESPITE ITS REPUTATION, real estate is theoretically one of the most transparent industries in America. Buy jewelry or furniture and no one keeps any record of it. Buy a property, on the other hand, and local authorities document the purchase for posterity. That should make it easy to follow who is paying the president. And lots of the time, it is. Angela Chen, for instance, listed her name on property records showing her $15.9 million purchase from the president. But not everyone does that.
The most common way to disguise money in a real estate transaction is to funnel the funds through an LLC, or limited liability company. Set up an LLC, purchase the property through that LLC, and voilà—the name of the actual buyer disappears from the records. Usually the concern with LLCs is that they could allow dirty money to enter the banking system undetected. In transactions involving Trump, however, the concerns multiply, given that the recipient happens to be the president of the United States.
It’s not easy to unwind such mysteries. On October 4, 2019, Trump received $2.4 million65 in exchange for a 942-square-foot apartment on the corner of Sixth Avenue and 59th Street in New York City.66 Property records name the buyer as Art Gardens LLC. The listed address for Art Gardens LLC is a three-story beige building in Cheyenne, Wyoming. Dig a little deeper and you’ll find that the same address in Cheyenne is also home to a business called AAA Corporate Services, which specializes in setting up LLCs for other people. There is another clue, though. The second page of the deed lists a different address, one on 45th Street in New York.67 Property records for that address reveal that its owner is another anonymous company, Smile Caribbean LLC.68 Documents filed with the New York department of state, however, show that the address for Smile Caribbean LLC is in Queens.69 The building at that address used to be owned,70 in part, by someone named Xiu Qong Li.
Getting closer. Xiu Qong Li’s name also appears on a deed for a different apartment in the same building, which Trump sold for $2.9 million in March 2019. The buyer in that deal was technically called Koctagon LLC,71 but if you trace the web far enough, Koctagon LLC also connects to the same Queens property in which Xiu Qong Li once held a stake.72 And who is Xiu Qong Li? We don’t know. Perhaps the buyer of the units, or maybe just someone affiliated with the buyer. No one seems eager to offer an explanation. Attempts to reach Xiu Qong Li proved unsuccessful. Neither the Trump Organization nor the White House was willing to clear up confusion about the sales. A lawyer who worked on one of the transactions said she was “not at liberty to disclose” the name of the buyer.73 And letters to the apartments went unreturned. Thus, the mystery endures, and Trump walks away with $5.3 million74 from who knows where.
None of this is particularly novel for Trump, but it is slightly more common now. Excluding a bulk sale to Hilton, Trump sold about 125 units inside his Las Vegas tower between January 1, 2013, and July 19, 2016, when he became the Republican nominee, according to a review of property records. Roughly one third of those condo-hotel units went to LLCs and other shell companies.75 Other sellers in the building sold property to secretive entities at pretty much the same rate. After Trump won the nomination, others continued to sell about 36% of their units to shell companies, while Trump sold to those types of entities about 44% of the time. Once nominated, in other words, the sources of money flowing into Trump’s empire got slightly more secretive than they had been before.
The sales that can be tracked are alarming on their own. But it’s hard to look at the statistics concerning shell companies and say with any level of conviction that those sales are or aren’t a way of funneling corrupt money into the Trump empire. Just as it was impossible in 1986, when Forbes examined the funds flowing into Trump Tower, to determine if any of it was drug money. The stakes are higher, with the recipient sitting in the Oval Office, but the problem is the same. Anonymity is, as it has always been, the point. No one knows, and, not knowing, there is very little anyone can do.
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All in the Family
“NEPOTISM IS KIND OF A FACTOR OF LIFE”
The old Delmonico Hotel stands on the corner of New York City’s 59th Street and Park Avenue, one of the most prestigious intersections in the United States. Donald Trump purchased the building, with its arched windows and brick facade, for a reported $115 million in 2002 and spent another $85 million or so converting it into luxury condominiums.1 Retrofitted with Italian fixtures and marble finishes, he rebranded the place Trump Park Avenue. By the end of 2005 he had sold 91 units for $231 million, according to a review of property records—and still had another 31 units to spare.2 The deal was Donald Trump at his best: recognizing an underperforming asset, dressing it up with some glamour, and selling it to a bunch of big-budgeted buyers.
There was one purchaser, however, who paid a relatively small sum of money. Just months after graduating from the University of Pennsylvania, Ivanka Trump reached a deal with her father for a 1,549-square-foot apartment.3 The price: $1.5 million, or $968 per square foot.4 The other buyers, by comparison, paid an average of $1,667 a square foot, meaning Ivanka got a discount of more than $1 million.5 It’s nice to be the daughter of the developer.
America’s first daughter, who did not respond to a list of questions sent to both the Trump Organization and the White House, started her career outside of her father’s real estate business. She joined another development firm called Forest City Ratner, working as a project manager for its retail division.6 A year into that position, longing for more responsibility, she headed home, where her old man was waiting with an offer to become an executive at the Trump Organization. “Being 24 and 28, respectively, we’re able to do things that we never would be able to do,” Ivanka said in a 2006 interview with her brother Don Jr. “So we cut out years of sort of bureaucratic paper pushing.”7
Inside Trump Tower, Ivanka also became a television star, joining her father onscreen for The Apprentice in 2006. Not long after, she began to develop her own brand. Her father represented successful, strong men. Ivanka, American heiress, wanted to stand for sophisticated working women. “I remember one of my earlier Christmas gifts was a Barbie, and I was devastated,” she said on the set of Conan O’Brien’s late-night talk show in 2007, “because my brothers had gotten Legos and Erector Sets. So to me, this was traumatic, and I wanted that. So I ended up taking my younger brother’s Legos, bringing them into his room, to add insult to injury, locking him out, taking my mother’s superglue—from the 1980s, there was plenty for her nails—and gluing the Legos together in a model of Trump Tower.”8
It was a perfectly crafted tale, one stunningly similar to a story Donald Trump previously told about his brother. “Robert is two years younger than I am,” Trump wrote in The Art of the Deal, “and we have always been very close, although he is much quieter and more easygoing than I am. One day we were in the playroom of our house, building with blocks. I wanted to build a very tall building, but it turned out that I didn’t have enough blocks. I asked Robert if I could borrow some of his, and he said, ‘Okay, but you have to give them back when you’re done.’ I ended up using all of my blocks, and then all of his, and when I was done, I’d created a beautiful building. I liked it so much that I glued the whole thing together. And that was the end of Robert’s blocks.”9
Ivanka Trump is Donald Trump but 35 years younger, with an aristocratic air and a feminist twist. After joining the Trump Organization, she technically worked for her older brother, Don Jr., but they operated more like equals.10 And before long, their father began giving clues about whom he considered his heir or, in this case, heiress apparent. In 2007, when Ivanka was just 25, he added her to the board of Trump Entertainment Resorts—passing over her big brother. Ivanka earned $150,000 a year in director fees from the publicly traded company, the same one her father had been bleeding cash from for years.11 In 2009, days before the business filed for its second bankruptcy in five years, Donald and Ivanka both resigned from the board.12
• • •
TO HER CREDIT, Ivanka Trump is the only one of the president’s children who managed to monetize not just her last name, but also her first. In 2007, she partnered with fellow scion Moshe Lax, whose family traded in the diamond business, to launch an Ivanka Trump–branded jewelry line. Personally, the partnership proved to be fruitful. It was reportedly through Lax that Ivanka met her future husband, Jared Kushner.13 But professionally, it turned into a mess. The state of New York ultimately claimed that Ivanka Trump Fine Jewelry failed to pay hundreds of thousands in taxes.14 Lax also ended up getting sued by the Department of Justice for allegedly working with his family to conduct a number of schemes that helped shortchange the Internal Revenue Service of more than $60 million in taxes.15 Lax denied the allegations and asked the court to dismiss the case.16 As of May 2020, it remained active.17
Ivanka found better partners and expanded into other product lines, leaning on her father’s connections. Marc Fisher Footwear, a Trump Tower tenant, added Ivanka Trump to its roster of brands. Fragrance giant Perfumania, which had previously created a Donald Trump–branded cologne, launched an Ivanka perfume.18 And manufacturer G-III Apparel Group struck a deal to license the Ivanka Trump name for dresses, suits, sportswear, and jeans.19
The G-III partnership seemed to be the most lucrative. In exchange for using her name, the clothesmaker paid Ivanka an estimated 7% of all sales.20 Her role made her closer to a celebrity endorser than a business tycoon, more Michael Jordan than Phil Knight. While G-III handled the nuts and bolts of the business, making sure products landed on shelves, Ivanka served as the face of the brand, promoting it on her oh-so-perfect social media accounts. “Getting all dolled up on the set of my photo shoot for my fall apparel & accessories campaign! #ivankatrump,” she captioned one selfie.21
G-III CEO Morris Goldfarb could not have been more excited about the arrangement. “We believe we can help Ivanka build this into a mega brand,” he told investors in a 2013 earnings call. “The retailer loves it. We believe the consumer is enthralled by Ivanka, who she is, how she acts, and how she dresses. And she will be front and center promoting this brand with us.”22
G-III built a team for the rollout, and merchandise first hit stores in 2013. Macy’s carried it in approximately 100 locations, Lord & Taylor had it in about 95, Bon-Ton put it in roughly two dozen, and Nordstrom slotted it in another 20 or so.23
In 2014, the first full year of production, sales started at an estimated $25 million.24 The very next year, Donald Trump launched his presidential campaign and estimated revenues passed $50 million.25 Much of that increase was a result of the mechanics of firing up a new brand, with smaller launches that develop into bigger sales. But some of it was undoubtedly due to Ivanka’s boost in popularity, which only seemed to increase as her father’s presidential run continued. Goldfarb nodded to the pickup in a December 2015 call with investors: “Ivanka Trump enjoyed stronger recognition.”26
There’s an old legend about Michael Jordan, which the basketball icon has denied but nonetheless offers an important business lesson.27 In 1990, as the story goes, a North Carolina Democrat asked the superstar to back his candidacy. Jordan declined, explaining, “Republicans buy sneakers too.” Ivanka Trump didn’t have the option of steering entirely clear of politics, so she settled for leaving her own policy preferences a mystery. “Like many of my fellow millennials,” she explained onstage at the Republican National Convention, wearing a pink Ivanka Trump dress that she would later promote on Twitter,28 “I do not consider myself categorically Republican or Democrat. More than party affiliation, I vote based on what I believe is right for my family and for my country. Sometimes it’s a tough choice. That is not the case this time.” As the crowd began to cheer, her voice rose to match the noise. “As the proud daughter of your nominee, I am here to tell you that this is the moment, and Donald Trump is the person to make America great again.” Cameras panned to well-dressed older women, standing and smiling. Elsewhere in the arena, a group of men began chanting “Trump! Trump! Trump!” Everyone loved Ivanka.29
Even the Clintons. “I have tremendous respect for Ivanka,” said former first daughter Chelsea Clinton two months before the election.30 Hillary agreed. “I respect his children,” she told an estimated 66.5 million people watching the second-to-last presidential debate.31 “His children are incredibly able and devoted, and I think that says a lot about Donald. I don’t agree with nearly anything else he says or does, but I do respect that.”32
• • •
IVANKA TRUMP APPARENTLY thought her father was going to lose the election. “His daughter called him and said, ‘You’re losing in a landslide, Pop,’” said Phil Ruffin, one of the president’s closest friends, who was with him on election night.33
Days after he won, the president-elect welcomed 60 Minutes correspondent Lesley Stahl into his Trump Tower penthouse—the one he claimed to never show anybody—for his first on-camera exclusive since the victory.34 They set up cameras inside, with two rows of seats. Eric, Don Jr., and Tiffany, Trump’s fourth child, sat in a row behind the president-elect, Melania, and Ivanka.*
“People think that you’re going to be part of the administration, Ivanka,” Stahl said.
“No,” replied Ivanka. “I’m going to be a daughter. But I’ve said throughout the campaign that I’m very passionate about certain issues, and that I want to fight for them.”
“But you won’t be inside,” Stahl asked.
“Wage equality, childcare—these are things that are very important for me,” Ivanka responded. “I’m very passionate about education. Really promoting more opportunities for women. So you know, there are a lot of things that I feel deeply, strongly about. But not in a formal administrative capacity.”
Stahl changed topics. “Let me ask whether any of you think that the campaign has hurt the Trump brand.”
“I don’t think it matters,” Ivanka offered. “This is so much more important. And more serious. And so that’s the focus.”35
But shortly after the close of the segment, which millions of people watched from homes across the country,36 Ivanka Trump’s business sent out a “style alert” to reporters. There was a photo of Ivanka, mid-interview, with her left hand clasped over her right forearm, showing off a golden bracelet. “Ivanka Trump wearing her favorite bangle from the Metropolis Collection on ‘60 Minutes,’” read the text. A second photo featured a close-up of the diamond-edged jewelry, which could be yours, the alert made clear, for just $10,800.37
The backlash was immediate. “Ivanka Trump tries to cash in on Donald’s ‘60 Minutes’ Interview,” read the headline in the New York Post.38 “With Ivanka’s Jewelry Ad, Trump Companies Begin to Seek Profit off Election Result,” proclaimed The Washington Post.39 Donald Trump may have known the presidency would mean a whole different level of media scrutiny, but his children seemed unprepared. Their entire lives, they had watched their father leverage fame for money—and receive praise for doing so. Now, at the height of their own relevancy, they were supposed to resist the temptation.
It wasn’t a lesson they learned easily. Less than a week after the 60 Minutes interview, Donald Trump hosted Japanese prime minister Shinzo Abe inside Trump Tower. Joining the meeting was Ivanka Trump, who knew something about Japan. Less than two weeks earlier, she had applied for a trademark for her business in Japan.40 Which made sense, given that her business had recently reached an agreement41 for a new deal with a Japanese clothing company named Sanei, whose largest shareholder happened to be a bank owned by the government of Japan.42 On January 13, after The New York Times reported43 the connection, Ivanka’s business scuttled the deal.44
In December, Ivanka allowed the Eric Trump Foundation to auction off a coffee date with her as part of a fundraiser. By the middle of the month, the highest offers were north of $70,000, according to The New York Times. One bidder wanted to press the incoming first daughter about her father’s plans for immigration, and another wanted to see what his plans were for Turkey, a country in which the bidder held investments. When the newspaper reached out to Eric, Ivanka’s younger brother said he was still adjusting to the “new world” he was facing. His foundation eventually abandoned the auction.45
• • •
THE DAY AFTER Donald Trump’s inauguration, roughly three million people across the country took to the streets for the Women’s March, one of the largest demonstrations in American history.46 Ivanka Trump, the women’s advocate, was nowhere to be found. It’s hard to demand power when you’re already in power.
Since the moment Ivanka Trump founded her fashion business, her last name had been an asset. Now, in parallel with the troubles going on at her father’s properties, it suddenly became a problem. Within weeks, Nordstrom announced that it was dropping Ivanka Trump apparel from its stores. “We’ve said all along we make buying decisions based on performance,” the company explained in a statement it sent to reporters. “In this case, based on the brand’s performance, we’ve decided not to buy it for this season.”47
The president fumed. “My daughter Ivanka has been treated so unfairly by Nordstrom,” he tweeted. “She is a great person—always pushing me to do the right thing! Terrible!”48 His team joined in the fight. “They are using her, who has been a champion for women empowerment, women in the workplace, to get to him,” adviser Kellyanne Conway said on Fox News. “Go buy Ivanka’s stuff is what I would tell you. I hate shopping, and I’m going to go get some myself today.”49 Single-day sales shot up 219%, according to The Washington Post, which cited e-commerce tracker Lyst. Fanning outrage, however, is not a long-term business strategy. Within a week, the Ivanka Trump brand was back to its baseline.50
• • •
ON FEBRUARY 24, 2017, Eric Trump sat behind his desk inside Trump Tower, headquarters for the multibillion-dollar business he and his brother had just taken over, explaining how he got to where he was: “Nepotism is kind of a factor of life.”51
That is certainly true in business, but it’s not supposed to be the case in government. In 1967, six years after John F. Kennedy appointed his 35-year-old brother, Robert, to serve as attorney general, Congress passed an anti-nepotism law, banning public officials from appointing “any individual who is a relative.” The statute specifically says the law applies to the president, and it names 27 different types of family members who count as relatives—including “daughter” and “son-in-law.”52
Presidents in both parties have tried to bend the rules. Jimmy Carter considered handing his son an unpaid position in the White House before the Justice Department sent a letter saying he couldn’t.53 Bill Clinton gave his wife, Hillary, a leading role in the fight to reform healthcare. Opponents sued, and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia sided with the Clintons, noting that first ladies were allowed to help the president carry out official duties.54
Then came Trump. On January 9, 2017, the president-elect picked Ivanka’s husband, Jared Kushner, to be one of his top aides.55 How did he justify it, given that the statute seems so clear? Well, on January 20, Trump’s first day in office, the Justice Department issued a memo saying that another law, which gives the president broad powers to appoint officials inside the White House, overrode the anti-nepotism statute.56
“That’s a bunch of baloney,” says Richard Painter, George W. Bush’s ethics lawyer. The Department of Justice can issue advice, through the Office of Legal Counsel, but that doesn’t necessarily mean it is the law.57 “They said all sorts of things to make the White House happy. We had torture memos we dealt with. You know, they’ve come up with all sorts of nonsense.”58
Nonsense or not, the new memo freed Trump of the restrictions that had held back his predecessors. So what if Jimmy Carter couldn’t have his son in the White House? On January 22, 2017, Jared Kushner was sworn in as a senior adviser to the president.
Ivanka Trump’s role was less clear. She didn’t have a title at the start of her father’s presidency, but she sure seemed to be in the White House a lot, discussing issues that fit in with her personal brand. “A great discussion with two world leaders about the importance of women having a seat at the table!” Ivanka tweeted on February 13, 2017, captioning a photo of her sitting at the president’s desk in the Oval Office, with her father standing to her right and Canadian prime minister Justin Trudeau to her left.59
The next month, reports surfaced that Ivanka’s role was expanding. She was not an official employee, and she did not receive a salary, but she was getting an office in the West Wing, while beginning the process to obtain an official security clearance, which would allow her to review classified material.60
Richard Painter spoke with Jared and Ivanka’s attorney. If Trump insisted on giving his family members White House jobs, despite the anti-nepotism statute, then they should at least be bound by the same rules as everyone else in the government, he reasoned. Ivanka should be an official employee, and she should disclose her financial holdings.
“I put a huge stink up,” Painter says. “I made that clear. That’s not going to fly. They were trying to say that we’re going to volunteer. And Ivanka is going to sit there volunteering and have a volunteer position, so she shouldn’t have to file a financial disclosure form or worry about financial conflicts. And I just said, ‘No way. This is not junior league West Wing.’” As Painter saw it, Ivanka would not only put the country at risk by operating outside of the rules; she would put herself at risk. “I made it clear to their lawyer that they could end up in jail for that.”61
Donald Trump could have resolved all of this by keeping his daughter out of policymaking, giving her a role more like the one she had described throughout the campaign—and even after the election. But Trump had worked alongside his daughter for 11 years, and he wasn’t interested in stopping. So on March 29, 2017, he appointed her adviser to the president.62 The White House became a family business.
• • •
THE DAY BEFORE the appointment, Ivanka Trump applied for 17 new trademarks with the Chinese government.63 Following in her father’s footsteps, she was planning to hold on to ownership of her business empire, which consisted largely of her name and deals she had signed to let other people use it. Hence the trademarks. The latest requests brought Ivanka’s total number of outstanding applications to at least 41 at the time she took office, according to an analysis of documents accessible through a Chinese government database.64
As a private citizen, it made perfect sense that Ivanka was filing trademark requests. In China, there is known to be an entire cottage industry of trademark squatters who file for rights to names solely to ransom them down the line.65 If Ivanka resisted filing for the trademarks, someone else could have swooped in and profited off her name. Some people had already tried, including one who submitted an application for “i vanka,” complete with a logo of a long-haired businesswoman on the move.66
After the real Ivanka became a government official, the applications created additional headaches. In May 2018, the Chinese government approved seven Ivanka trademarks.67 That same month, President Trump vowed to help a Chinese telecom giant, ZTE, that his administration had previously punished.68 It seems unlikely that any American president, including Trump, would change policy based on whether his daughter got a trademark for an apparel business. But in taking a White House job and holding on to her assets, Ivanka left room to wonder. By April 2019 she had received 41 trademarks from China while in office.69 Of all the trademarks she has received, the ones Ivanka applied for after her father became president got approved about 40% faster than those she requested before the Trumps moved to Washington.70
Similar questions arose around the world. After Ivanka met with the prime minister of Japan, his country approved three trademarks for her business, in less than one third of the time it had previously taken, according to an analysis of data from the World Intellectual Property Organization.71 Canada registered three trademarks following Ivanka’s sit-down with Trudeau. The Philippines, which named Trump business partner Jose Antonio special envoy to the United States just before Trump won the election, approved three more Ivanka trademarks.72
The presidency may have made business run smoother overseas, but Ivanka’s brand was still facing an identity crisis at home. In April 2017, G-III announced Ivanka Trump’s annual sales had ticked up $17.9 million,73 which sounds great until you consider that it grew $29.4 million the previous year.74 Revenues were supposed to be accelerating, not decelerating. But there’s only so much that marketing muscle can do to shape the image of someone whose last name is on the front page of every newspaper day after day. The longer Ivanka stayed in office, the gloomier her financial picture looked. In the 12 months starting September 1, 2017, sales of Ivanka-branded merchandise dropped 48% from the previous year, according to research firm Rakuten Intelligence.75
In the middle of that period, G-III was rethinking its partnership. Ivanka’s licensing agreement was set to expire on December 31, 2018, according to documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.76 Five months before it did, Ivanka announced that she was shuttering her business. The G-III deal, which provided Ivanka with an estimated $16 million over six years, died out with a whimper.77 “The wind-down of it is negligible,” the once exuberant Morris Goldfarb, CEO of G-III, told investors on an earnings call. “We won’t miss a beat.”78
• • •
IVANKA TRUMP SCORED a political victory months after joining the government, as the Trump administration was working with Congress on an overhaul to the federal tax code. Ivanka zeroed in on one particular provision, the child tax credit. At the time, the federal government gave taxpayers a $1,000 discount on their taxes for every child in their family. Partnering with allies in the Senate like Marco Rubio, Ivanka helped double that to $2,000, making good on her promise to fight for women and families in the White House.79 “That’s all she wanted,” President Trump later recounted. “‘Dad? Dad? We have to get that passed, Dad.’ I said, ‘Okay, Ivanka. Okay. Okay.’”80
Donald Trump was focused on other things, including a tweak that would have a bigger impact on his daughter’s financial future than anything in her branding portfolio: he wanted to get rid of the estate tax, which he, like a lot of billionaires, detested.
In simplified terms, the estate tax worked like this: when someone died, the federal government counted up all their assets and took up to 40% of anything over $5.5 million (or $11 million for a couple), leaving the rest to the heirs.81 To get around the law, super-rich people often opt to pass down their fortunes as early as possible. Billionaire Harold Hamm stuck almost all of the stock in his oil business in to an entity called “Harold Hamm Family LLC,” which holds shares for his relatives while allowing Hamm to maintain control.82 Rupert Murdoch did something similar with his shares of Fox, stuffing them into a family trust.83 Before Mark Zuckerberg even had children, he started putting Facebook stock in a special type of trust that rich people often use to limit taxes for their heirs.84
Donald Trump took a different approach, keeping an estimated $3.1 billion of his family’s $3.2 billion fortune for himself.85
It’s a strategy that made no sense, especially since Trump did not have plans to hand his fortune to charity. “I’m of the old school,” he once said. “I’d like to see my children take this great company that I’ve built—and it is a great company—and I’d like to see it go on for a long time.”86 By refusing to pass it down to his kids, however, he was putting that dream at risk. If the president, who took office at 70 years old, passed away, then his heirs would be stuck with an estimated $1.2 billion tax bill. And given that their father had only an estimated $130 million in cash, they would either have to sell some of the big properties they had inherited or else tie themselves down with debt in order to pay it.87
“All of planning, in one which way or another, requires divesting,” says David Cannon, a New York City real estate trusts and estates attorney. “In the end, you got to give it up.” And since Trump refused to give up his assets upon taking office, there’s some consistency in him also refusing to hand over his holdings to protect his heirs from the estate tax.
One key difference between Trump and every other billionaire in America is that once he became president, he was actually in a position to change the law—and therefore transform his unorthodox approach into a sensible plan. So while Ivanka was working on the child tax credit, the president was working on saving her a fortune. He presented his plan to slash the tax as a way to shield small-time entrepreneurs.88 Never mind that a couple could pass down $11 million to their kids tax-free, meaning truly small businesses were safe. “We are also going to protect millions of family businesses by ending the crushing, horrible, and unfair estate tax, also known as the death tax,” Trump proclaimed in September 2017. “That means for those of you with small and family-owned businesses, your family won’t have to sell the business in a fire sale just to pay a very, very high and unfair tax.”89
Assuming Trump passed down his own family fortune evenly between his five children, eliminating the estate tax would have saved Don Jr., Ivanka, Eric, Tiffany, and Barron an estimated $250 million apiece. In other words, it would have been one of the most lucrative deals of Donald Trump’s entire life. For most members of Congress, however, giving a massive tax break to President Trump and his fellow billionaires proved to be too much to stomach.
On December 22, 2017, the final version of the tax bill arrived in the Oval Office, with a modification—though not an elimination—of the estate tax. The new bill raised the amount millionaires could pass down tax-free, from $11 million per couple to $22 million.90 The Trump kids would save just $4.6 million or so, rather than the $1.2 billion they could have protected if the estate tax had been completely wiped out. President Trump benefited from other changes in the tax code as well, though it’s impossible to know exactly how much, since he famously refused to release his tax returns. Two pages of leaked filings from 2005 suggest changes besides the tweak to the estate tax could save Trump $11 million a year.91 Sitting behind the Resolute Desk, with sparkling cuff links, the president grabbed a black marker. “This is something I’m very proud of,” he said. “Great for our country. Great for the American people.”92
Good, but not as good as it could have been, for Ivanka Trump and her siblings. Not that their shot at a huge gift from Washington was entirely gone. In January 2019, Mitch McConnell and two other Republican senators introduced a new bill to repeal the estate tax.93 If it ever makes it to Trump’s desk, there’s no question he will sign it. But even if it does not, Ivanka Trump should have plenty of money.
After all, she is married to Jared Kushner, heir to another rich real estate family. And unlike the Trumps, the Kushners have been careful about their estate planning, which helps explain how, according to financial documents obtained by The New York Times, Jared managed to build up a $324 million fortune by the time he was 35 years old.94 In other words, he had more than six times as much money as Ivanka.95
9
Like Father, Like Son-in-Law
JARED KUSHNER’S WORLD OF CONFLICTS
A month and a half after signing the tax reform bill, Donald Trump sits inside the Oval Office, his back to a marble fireplace. A group of small-city officials and big-money investors are gathered before him, eager to share their thoughts on opportunity zones, a product of the new law that allows businesspeople to get huge tax breaks if they invest in beat-up neighborhoods.
“It’s critically important,” says billionaire Steve Case, who oversees $300 million of venture funds focused on middle America. Erin Stewart, mayor of New Britain, Connecticut, agrees: “This is an opportunity to transform a community like mine.” The president notes that his daughter Ivanka has “been pushing this very hard” and asks her to speak last. “Creating the incentive to bring capital into communities that are currently being overlooked is just a tremendous opportunity,” she says.1
A tremendous opportunity indeed. For struggling neighborhoods, who could use an extra hook to pull in money. For real estate investors, who are always looking for ways to minimize their tax bills.2 And, coincidentally, for Ivanka’s husband, Jared Kushner, whose portfolio was primed to profit off the new law.
Of the more-than 100 assets that Jared Kushner held after taking office, none were more valuable than his stake in a real estate startup he cofounded called Cadre.3 The business functions like Amazon, except the only things for sale are commercial real estate investments, and the only shoppers allowed are rich people.4 Just the kind of folks who might be drawn to a big tax break.
Before the Treasury Department even finished making rules for opportunity zones, in November 2018,5 Cadre launched a product tailored to the new government giveaways, called Cadre Opportunity Zones.6 The next year, Cadre was promoting its tax-friendly investments on Facebook: “Reduce your capital gains taxes with opportunity zones.” It was also touting its early successes: “Cadre has received significant interest in the program and has opened several Opportunity Zone deals for investment.”7
It’s hard to blame Cadre for chasing a good opportunity. That’s what companies do. What high-ranking government officials do, in most cases, is divest their assets. Jared Kushner went with a different approach. Although he got rid of a handful of high-profile properties, Kushner held on to an enormous portfolio, following in the footsteps of his father-in-law.8 By doing so, he put both himself and Ivanka in a risky position. In order to guarantee that they were staying within the bounds of the law, the couple had to recuse themselves from White House business that would clearly affect either of their finances.9 They did not, as Ivanka made apparent in the Oval Office gathering.
The effect: in January 2019, a government watchdog group named Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington asked the Department of Justice to open an investigation into Ivanka Trump’s opportunity-zone efforts. “Government employees should never work on matters affecting their own finances, but Ivanka Trump appears to have done just that,” said the group’s executive director, Noah Bookbinder, in a statement. “Her actions are just the latest example of this administration’s blatant and repeated disregard for ethics obligations.”10
More than a year later, in February 2020, Kushner reportedly sold his stake in Cadre,11 which by then was worth more than it had been when the real estate scion entered the White House.12 Not wanting to leave money on the table, Kushner also secured a so-called certificate of divestiture from the Office of Government Ethics, allowing him to defer capital gains taxes on the sale, in accordance with federal rules meant to encourage officials to get rid of conflict-prone assets.13 Kushner, in effect, managed to both hang on to the asset when he took office, then still get clearance to receive a tax break for ditching it three years later. Representatives for Jared Kushner and the Kushner Companies did not respond to multiple requests for comment.
Few players in Donald Trump’s administration have attracted as much attention, or as much controversy, as Jared Kushner. The president’s son-in-law got a rush of bad press for his stumbles with Cadre.14 He got even more heat for his family’s efforts to rehabilitate a troubled skyscraper, 666 Fifth Avenue. But those controversies are only part of the story. Jared Kushner’s ethical issues go far deeper. Like his father-in-law, Kushner has continued to sell dozens of condos to opaque entities and collect millions in rent from undisclosed tenants.15 More alarming: he has owed money to multiple banks with foreign government ties while serving in office.16
• • •
THE STORY OF Jared Kushner’s rise is also the story of his father’s downfall. Handsome and hardworking, Charles Kushner was the star of his family’s New Jersey business dynasty, started by his own father Joseph Kushner, a Holocaust survivor.17 Charles built up a portfolio of 25,000 apartments and turned into a political heavyweight. In 1997, he hosted President Bill Clinton in his office for a Democratic National Committee reception.18 Five years later, he donated $1 million to the DNC.19
But Charles Kushner wasn’t content merely pumping his own money into politics. Through various partnerships, Kushner diverted others’ funds to politicians as well.20 In 2003, one of Kushner’s former employees sued him in a wrongful termination case, making allegations that Kushner was manipulating the books at his real estate firm and doling out political donations in other people’s names.21 The suit got dismissed, but officials inside the Federal Election Commission were soon closing in on Kushner. In June 2004, they reached a settlement that forced him to pay a $508,900 fine.22
Prosecutors at the Department of Justice also zeroed in on Kushner and found that he was using partnership money for things other than political donations—he used some to pay for private school and some to make charitable donations.23 One of the people talking to the federal authorities during their investigation was Charles’s own sister, Esther. Enraged that his sibling had turned against him, Charles plotted revenge. According to federal prosecutors, he paid $25,000 in cash to a couple of associates and instructed them to find a prostitute to seduce Esther’s husband.24
When neither of the guys found a woman willing to carry out the plan, Charles took things into his own hands, finding someone in New York City, according to the prosecutors. He told her he would pay $7,000 to $10,000 if she slept with his brother-in-law. The woman went to New Jersey, where she approached her target in a diner parking lot, explained that her car had broken down, and asked for a ride back to her motel room. When they got to the motel, she told him he could come inside. He declined, but they exchanged phone numbers.
The next day, the woman was back in touch with Kushner’s brother-in-law, and they met up, according to a criminal complaint detailing the allegations. One of Charles Kushner’s henchmen installed a hidden camera in the motel room. After the woman successfully seduced Kushner’s brother-in-law, the guy who set up the camera got the tape and delivered it to Charles at his office.25
While all of this was going on, the feds were digging deeper on Kushner’s partnership scheme. On May 7, 2004, prosecutors sent letters to people Kushner knew, indicating that they were targets of the investigation. Two days later, Kushner instructed one of his associates to send the compromising video to his sister, Esther, specifically requesting that it arrive at her house before a family party.
Two months after that, federal prosecutors slammed Charles Kushner with criminal charges. He ultimately pleaded guilty to 16 counts of helping to prepare fraudulent and false tax returns, one count of lying to the FEC during its investigation, and one count of retaliating against a witness—for the plot aimed at his family members.26 The prosecutor who signed the bottom of the agreement? Chris Christie, future governor of New Jersey, candidate for president, and adviser to Donald Trump.27
• • •
A JUDGE SENTENCED Charles Kushner to two years in prison, paving the way for his son Jared, just 23 years old when his father pleaded guilty, to take over the family business. The younger Kushner traveled to Alabama most weekends to visit his father,28 until Charles got out of prison on August 25, 2006.29 Within months, the Kushners were eyeing a 39-story tower in the heart of Manhattan, at 666 Fifth Avenue. Buying the tower would send a signal—the Kushner family was back. They bid $1.8 billion, said to be the most anyone had ever paid for an office building in the United States.30
The financing came with complications. First, the banks did not want to hand a big pile of cash to Charles, a guy fresh out of federal prison. So Jared served as cosponsor of the loan, along with a partner of his dad’s, George Gellert. Second, to justify the loan, the banks presumably needed to come up with an appraisal that valued the building at $1.8 billion or more. That didn’t prove to be a problem, either—the appraisers pegged 666 Fifth Avenue at $2 billion.31
The numbers didn’t make much sense. The Kushners were offering a record price, and the banks determined that they were actually underpaying by $200 million. So what if the Kushners would owe more in annual interest than the building was producing in yearly cash flow?32 These were the go-go days before the Great Recession. Barclays, UBS, and others helped dole out $1.75 billion, put part of the loan into a package with a bunch of other debt, then sold it off in pieces to investors. In a document outlining the prospects of the property, the banks predicted its annual profits would soon soar 122% to $119 million a year.
Instead, the economy tanked, leaving the Kushner family stuck with a massive problem. More than 50% of the building’s leases were set to expire by 2010.33 Tenants fled, but the interest payments kept coming.34
No real estate investor wants to sell during a downturn, but sometimes there isn’t much of a choice. In a series of deals, the Kushners offloaded much of the building they had just purchased.35 When the smoke finally cleared, all they had left was a 50% share of the office space and half of the more than $1 billion loan that went with it.36 One thing they never lost: confidence. They got in touch with Zaha Hadid, the legendary architect who designed the aquatic center for the 2012 Olympic Games in London, and she drew up a new plan for 666 Fifth Avenue, according to The Wall Street Journal. Hadid imagined a complete overhaul, which would include reducing the building to its steel frame and tacking on roughly 40 floors to make way for a retail space, an 11-story hotel, and luxury condominiums in the clouds.37
Big plans don’t happen without big money. So the Kushners set off on a worldwide quest for cash, which eventually attracted major headlines. According to Bloomberg News, not many serious people took interest in the project at first. Why would they, given the Kushners’ track record at the property? Once Donald Trump’s political career began to take off, however, investors around the world had a look. A Qatari sheikh named Hamad bin Jassim Al-Thani contemplated putting $500 million from a private fund into the project in 2016. That deal never happened. Higher-ups managing a sovereign wealth fund from South Korea met with the Kushners. Bernard Arnault, the head of the LVMH retail empire and the richest man in France, fielded a pitch. An executive working for Saudi tycoon Fawaz Alhokair thought about investing through Alhokair’s company, before ultimately concluding that the math didn’t add up.38
While the search for suitors continued, Jared Kushner consolidated power inside Donald Trump’s inner circle. Two days after the 2016 election, campaign chief Steve Bannon fired New Jersey governor Chris Christie, the man leading the Trump transition team. “The kid’s been taking an ax to your head with the boss ever since I got here,” Bannon told Christie, according to a book the governor published in 2019.39 Kushner, and his business entanglements, stayed. On November 16, 2016, six days after Christie’s departure, Jared Kushner walked into La Chine restaurant at the Waldorf Astoria hotel, where a table awaited him with $2,100 bottles of wine, according to The New York Times. At its head was Wu Xiaohui, chairman of Anbang Insurance Group, a financial giant known for its murky ownership structure. Anbang was considering investing in 666 Fifth Avenue. Wu raised a glass to Donald Trump, envisioning a bright economic future. But nothing ever seemed to come of it, and the Kushners remained searching for money as Jared moved to Washington.40
Kushner divested his stake in 666 Fifth Avenue and some other assets in 2017. But he did so in an unusual way, reportedly selling interests to a trust controlled by his family members.41 Technically, that got the asset out of his portfolio. But was a scion of the Kushner empire really going to be uninterested in what happened to the family business he seemed poised to one day inherit? In August 2018, just six months before the Kushners’ big loan came due,42 a fund that counted Brookfield Property Partners among its investors swooped in and agreed to lease the building for 99 years, handing over $1.3 billion for the right to do so.43 The largest outside shareholder of Brookfield Property Partners, with a noncontrolling 7% stake, was the Qatar Investment Authority.44 “QIA played no role in Brookfield’s investment decision,” says Kerrie McHugh, a spokesperson for Brookfield.45 Around the same time, however, the Qatar Investment Authority was also building out space inside President Trump’s San Francisco skyscraper.46
• • •
AFTER THE FIFTH AVENUE project went sideways, the Kushners looked back to their home state of New Jersey. Right across the Hudson from Manhattan, in Jersey City, the family decided to construct a luxury residential tower. There would be a 24-hour doorman, sweeping views of Lower Manhattan,47 a sauna, and on-site dry cleaning.48 All of which made it odd that the Kushners partially financed the place with a government program called EB-5, designed to help impoverished areas.49
EB-5 was something of a distant, older cousin to the opportunity zone program. First enacted in 1990, the idea behind EB-5 was to boost the economy by allowing foreigners to invest in job-creating projects. In exchange for putting up $500,000 to support projects in downtrodden neighborhoods, the foreign investors could apply for green cards.50 But the program didn’t really work as expected. Instead of investing in poor parts of town, some developers used maps connecting wealthy neighborhoods, where they put their projects, to rough parts of town, which they avoided.51 They then averaged the economic statistics of the whole area to qualify for the special incentives.52
It was gerrymandering, for profit rather than votes—and it was entirely legal. The Kushners got financing for the Jersey City tower after reportedly drawing their neighborhood in the shape of a fishhook, with their project at one end and a poor neighborhood at the other.53 They raised $50 million from 100 overseas investors.54 Making it extra clear that this was not a rough part of town, the Kushner family reached a deal to brand the place with the Trump name.55
Emboldened, the Kushners also sought out another plot in Jersey City, this one in a middle-class neighborhood named Journal Square. In 2014, the Kushners paid $27 million for the land.56 It sat in a prime location, almost directly on top of a train station that could shuttle commuters to Manhattan in 15 minutes. They laid out plans for twin skyscrapers,57 which would soar over the neighborhood and, presumably, attract wealthy people who didn’t want to pay the prices in Manhattan or Brooklyn but did want convenient access to New York City’s Financial District.
Around the same time that the Kushners were scouring the globe for cash to rescue 666 Fifth Avenue, they were also apparently working with a Chinese company called the Qiaowai Group, as part of an attempt to secure EB-5 financing for the Journal Square project.58 In May 2017, four months after Jared entered the White House, his sister Nicole Meyer showed up at the Ritz-Carlton in Beijing. With more than 100 potential investors in the room, along with reporters from The New York Times and The Washington Post, Meyer emphasized how the project “means a lot to me and my entire family.”59 She explained how Jared used to run the family business but was now serving inside the Trump administration. And a slide flashed on the screen showing a photo of Jared’s father-in-law, Donald Trump, identifying him as a “key decision maker” on the EB-5 program.60
The Kushner Companies later apologized for Meyer’s remarks, saying she had not mentioned her brother as a way of attracting investors.61 Regardless of her intent, the message that this was a Trump-connected property got through to those in the ballroom. “Even though this is the project of the son-in-law’s family,” one attendee told The Washington Post, “of course it is still affiliated.”62 Kushner’s lawyer, when flooded with inquiries about the project, told reporters that Jared had already divested his interest.63 In fact, Kushner held onto “contingent rights,” which, according to a financial disclosure report filed with federal ethics officials, would give him “ownership interests” if certain targets were met.64 On May 8, just after the lawyer issued a statement saying Kushner was out of the project, the president’s son-in-law gave away the contingent interest to a trust held by his mother, a White House spokesperson told The Washington Post.65
Ethics experts shook their heads at all of this, but Charles Kushner, inside the family firm 12 years after he got out of prison, brushed aside any concerns. “You want to know what I think about ethics watchdogs?” he asked two reporters from The Real Deal in May 2018. “Do you really want to know what I think about those jerks?” Absolutely, one of the reporters responded. “I think they’re a waste of time. They’re guys who can’t get a real job, ethics watchdog? Who gets a job—ethics watchdog? Give me a break.”66
• • •
ON THE BANK of the East River in Williamsburg, Brooklyn, rests a white warehouse, with sweeping views of Manhattan, that long ago served as headquarters of wholesale grocer Austin, Nichols and Company. Today it is a luxury building, with a SoulCycle studio and an Italian restaurant, topped with hundreds of residential condos. The apartments run anywhere from several hundred thousand dollars to a few million and come with 12-foot ceilings, oakwood floors, and hand-painted tiles.67 Residents enjoy greenery bursting along the pathways outside and benches overlooking a small beach. It’s an idyllic place.
Jared Kushner and his partners bought the old warehouse for a reported $275 million in 2015.68 As Donald Trump was revving up his presidential campaign, Kushner’s company was signing contracts to sell off condos in the building.69 By the day of the inauguration, as Kushner was preparing to enter the White House, he already had roughly 40 contracts for $48 million, according to a review of property records.70 But those deals had not yet closed, meaning the money wasn’t yet in Kushner’s hands. His stake in the project is relatively small, worth about $1 million, according to an analysis of Kushner’s financial disclosure reports.71 That means he could have presumably divested without much hassle. But he didn’t.
Kushner put himself in an unusual situation. He was serving in the White House while continuing to sell condos to undisclosed buyers—just like his father-in-law. In the two-and-a-half years after he took office, Kushner and his partners sold more than 200 condos for nearly $250 million, according to a review of property records.72 Most of the purchasers were surely run-of-the-mill house hunters, but some were not. For instance, the first three buyers to sign contracts with Kushner’s entity were companies called Gellert Kent One LLC, Gellert Kent Two LLC, and Gellert Kent Three LLC, according to a review of local real estate records.73 The documents list the “sole member” of those entities as George Gellert.74 Four months after the Gellert companies closed on the properties, Donald Trump named George’s son, Andrew, to be ambassador to Chile.75
Did the president appoint someone as an ambassador just because of a few condo purchases? No, the Kushner-Gellert ties run much deeper than that. Remember the Charles Kushner partner who served as co-sponsor on the 666 Fifth Avenue loan? That was George Gellert. Gellert also entered a new business venture, to purchase a New Jersey hotel, with the Kushner family after Trump appointed his son to be ambassador.76 It seems clear that Andrew Gellert—a food executive who speaks “basic Spanish,” according to a State Department write-up77—would not have been picked to serve as ambassador to Chile without his ties to the Kushners. Seven months after Trump tapped Gellert, the president withdrew the nomination.78 Trump would not have been the first U.S. head of state to install a questionably qualified ambassador—his predecessors were also known for awarding such posts to political allies and old friends.79 But he may be the first president to pick such an appointee based on his son-in-law’s business connections.
The ethical problems with the Austin Nichols House, as the Brooklyn warehouse is now called, go deeper. Buyers might be able to curry favor with Kushner by picking up expensive condos, but the debtholders have the real leverage—literally. Their ties can also be kept quiet. Federal officials have to disclose loans made to them personally, but they do not have to say anything about debt their companies owe.80 So, for instance, the $175 million mortgage that Kushner held with his partners does not show up on his federal financial disclosure reports.81 Nor do the filings say anything about an August 2017 split of that loan, which left $50 million of it in the hands of a bank called Mega International Commercial Bank, a wholly owned subsidiary of Mega Financial Holding Company.82
Mega Financial is 26% owned by government entities in Taiwan, and the majority of its board members come from Taiwan’s ministry of finance.83 Meanwhile, Taiwan is locked in a decades-long feud with neighboring China, in which the United States plays a peacekeeping role.84 The loan documents, signed while Jared was in office, specifically name him as one of two guarantors of the debt.85 That means that months after Trump took office, an overseas bank—partially owned by a government with a vested interest in U.S. foreign policy—held leverage over one of the president’s top advisers and closest family members. And thanks to loophole-riddled disclosure laws, none of this has ever been previously reported.
• • •
NOT FAR FROM the Austin Nichols House, in a Brooklyn neighborhood called Dumbo, there is a four-building office complex in which Kushner retained a more valuable stake, which appears to be worth somewhere between $5 and $52 million, based on federal financial disclosures.86 Though the precise value is difficult to ascertain, there is no question that the property is one of Jared’s most valuable assets outside of Cadre. Packed with trendy tenants, the place serves as global headquarters for Etsy, which pays $12.4 million a year in annual rent.87 Other occupants include WeWork ($8.7 million), a charter school ($3.8 million), a design studio ($1.6 million), and a brewery.88 It’s just the sort of up-and-coming scene where a real estate investor can make a fortune.89
Kushner and his partners bought the buildings, along with a fifth space nearby, for $240 million in 2013,90 taking out $249 million in debt for the project from a French outfit called Natixis Real Estate Capital.91 Natixis, in turn, passed that debt on to other banks. In April 2017, the partners filed documents revealing who else owned the debt besides Natixis. One of the lenders, with $27 million of the loan, happened to be Bank Hapoalim, an Israeli institution. That meant Kushner held financial ties to Israel even though he also served as one of President Trump’s top officials working on a proposed peace plan for the country.92
The arrangement posed no legal hazards for Kushner,93 but it did create an appearance issue. “We’ve got enough problems already where the United States is perceived as being biased in the Middle East toward one side,” says Painter. “And then if you send a guy over there who’s actually getting money from one side. I mean, you think how would the Israelis feel if we had somebody we sent over there to be a big negotiator who’s getting a lot of money from some Palestinian bank.”94
The issues did not end there. In 2018, the partners refinanced their four-building complex to make its debt load $480 million.95 One of the lenders on that deal was Citigroup.96 Around the same time Citigroup was helping with the loan, it was also lobbying in Washington on dozens of topics, including the North American Free Trade Agreement.97 Jared Kushner, meanwhile, was working as one of Trump’s top emissaries in the president’s NAFTA negotiations.98
There was more. In February 2018, Ivanka Trump landed in South Korea to attend the closing ceremony of the Winter Olympics. When she wasn’t watching the events, she stopped by the Blue House, South Korea’s equivalent of the White House, to meet with President Moon Jae-in. They had dinner, and Ivanka briefed the head of state on new sanctions targeting North Korea, part of the American response to Pyongyang’s continued nuclear aggression.99 Such briefings are typically done by officials who hold security clearances. At the time, Ivanka was reportedly operating on only an interim security clearance.100
Later that year, Jared Kushner’s lenders filed documents with the Securities and Exchange Commission revealing yet another unusual business connection. The biggest holder of the Dumbo debt, with more than $220 million, had become a series of funds from a Seoul-based firm called Shinhan Financial Group.101 Shinhan had previously gotten caught up in the dispute between North and South Korea, when it suffered a 2013 cyberattack that was rumored to come from Pyongyang.102 Shinhan Financial Group’s top 10 shareholders, according to an end-of-year report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, included the central banks of China (with a 1% stake)103 and Norway (2%),104 as well as the government of Singapore (3%). The largest shareholder, however, with a 9% stake, was a pension fund managed by the South Korean government—and ultimately under the purview of the South Korean president.105
In some ways, it was a similar arrangement as the one that allowed Taiwan to become a lender to Kushner and, if you assume shared marital finances, to his wife Ivanka. Flashy real estate often involves foreign money. It also tends to involve complex transactions, which can allow new lenders to get involved at any moment. In other words, it’s a business perfectly calibrated to create stunning entanglements. Such as the one in South Korea, where Ivanka Trump found herself discussing matters of national security with a foreign leader who held leverage—albeit distant and indirect leverage—over her family’s business.
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Fill the Swamp
TRUMP’S TEAM
Amid all this intermingling of money and politics, it can be easy to forget that one of Donald Trump’s key campaign promises was eliminating corruption in Washington. The slogan came about by accident. “It is time to drain the swamp in Washington, D.C.,” Trump told a crowd in Green Bay, Wisconsin, on October 17, 2016, less than a month before the election. “This is why I am proposing a package of ethics reforms to make our government honest once again.”1 A smattering of people clapped.
Nine days later, however, standing behind a podium in Charlotte, North Carolina, Trump was railing against the “failed elites from Washington who have been wrong about virtually everything” when a supporter yelled out, “Drain the swamp!” Trump smiled. “You’re right about the swamp—say it again,” he instructed the person, prompting a chant to break out: “Drain the swamp! Drain the swamp! Drain the swamp!”2
About two weeks later, thousands of Trump supporters streamed into the New York Hilton Midtown hotel, on Sixth Avenue, around the corner from Trump Tower, to cheer on the man who promised to shake up Washington. A select few reportedly had access to an upstairs section, which included its own room off to the side for an even more exclusive crowd, the VIPs of VIPs.3 People like billionaires Andy Beal, Harold Hamm, and David Koch.4 Phil Ruffin recalls spending time with fellow Forbes 400 members Wilbur Ross, Richard LeFrak, and Carl Icahn. “You know, the usual group of guys,” Ruffin explains.5
As the night rolled on, with Florida, North Carolina, Michigan, and Pennsylvania flashing red, the drinks flowed easily. There was plenty to celebrate. For the billionaires, a Trump presidency meant a friend in the White House. And a friend in the White House meant business opportunities. Icahn took advantage right away, leaving the party around 2 a.m. as financial markets plunged. “Carl left the party and started buying,” Ross later said. “So he was smarter than I was. I stayed at the party. He went and bought and made a billion dollars.”6
The opportunities didn’t end that night. Trump soon started hearing from the tycoons about who to put in his cabinet. Forget draining the swamp—Trump decided to fill it up with friends, some of whom did not even have to take formal positions to wield influence. Consider Hamm, a fracking pioneer who had once reportedly co-chaired the reelection campaign for Oklahoma attorney general Scott Pruitt, a defender of the oil-and-gas industry.7 Trump began considering Pruitt to run the Environmental Protection Agency. For a second opinion, the president-elect reached out to Icahn,8 who owned a large stake in a refinery business that was suffering under federal environmental regulations.9 Icahn spoke with Pruitt “four or five times” and came away impressed. “My hope is that Scott Pruitt is going to really be a breath of fresh air.”10 Pruitt got the nod to become administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency.
Icahn had other suggestions, too. Within days of the election, he sat down for dinner with Steven Mnuchin.11 The two talked tax policy,12 and Icahn determined that Mnuchin, a former Goldman Sachs partner worth an estimated $400 million,13 would be a natural fit for Treasury secretary.14 Trump made the appointment.
Icahn also got his own role, as “special advisor to the President on issues relating to regulatory reform.”15 Following the president’s lead, Icahn did not divest his multibillion-dollar empire.16 There was no question that Icahn had a personal interest in regulatory matters. (“I own refineries—obviously I have an agenda,” he had said during the campaign.)17 Other members of the administration do not share the president’s and vice president’s exemption from the federal conflict-of-interest law, which makes it a crime to take specific actions that will clearly affect personal holdings.18 But the Trump team simply ignored all of that, issuing a press release implying that the regular rules did not apply. “Icahn will be advising the president in his individual capacity and will not be serving as a federal employee,” the statement declared.19
Representatives for Icahn did not respond to a request for comment. But the suggestion seemed to be that, because Icahn wasn’t taking a government paycheck, he did not have to comply with the conflict-of-interest statute. “That was ridiculous,” says Richard Painter.20 Especially since Icahn was, in fact, making money—just not from a government salary. From the night of Trump’s election to the day after Icahn got his new job title, shares in his publicly traded investment firm jumped 33%, far outpacing the 6% increase in the overall stock market and boosting Icahn’s personal fortune by an estimated $2 billion.21
• • •
IT WAS CLEAR from the start that Trump’s own disregard for norms had inspired an ethics crisis across the government.22 Predictable consequences followed. Icahn’s firm received a subpoena from federal investigators probing the investor’s role in the Trump administration.23 In August 2017, Icahn stepped down, submitting an odd resignation letter that seemed carefully drafted to counter claims that he had violated the conflict-of-interest law by saying he didn’t actually do much. “I had no duties whatsoever,” Icahn wrote.24
Pruitt, a pauper compared with Icahn,25 stumbled into his own mess of ethics scandals. His agency spent $43,000 to install a phone booth in Pruitt’s office, a move the Government Accountability Office later determined was against the law.26 He reportedly got a deal to stay for $50 a night in a property partially owned by the wife of a lobbyist whose firm represented companies in the energy industry.27 He also talked to an aide about securing a mattress from the president’s D.C. hotel28 and had her reach out to Chick-fil-A billionaire Dan Cathy to inquire about “a potential business opportunity,”29 later reported to be having his wife become a Chick-fil-A franchisee.30 Pruitt, who says he did not tell an aide to ask about a franchise for his wife,31 resigned in July 2018.32
Trump appointed Tom Price to be secretary of Health and Human Services.33 Price ended up taking 21 trips on chartered, military, presidential, and commercial flights with costs totaling more than $1 million. An inspector general concluded that Price’s office failed to comply with federal regulations.34 Price, who says he wasn’t responsible for selecting flights, resigned as well.35
Interior secretary Ryan Zinke faced at least five investigations. Some of those inquiries proved to be duds, but one of them reportedly prompted the inspector general of the interior department to make a referral to the Department of Justice.36 Zinke, who could not be reached for comment, also left the administration amid controversy.37 Same with Veterans Affairs chief David Shulkin.38
It’s not as if misbehavior was inevitable. Secretary of State Rex Tillerson—who stepped down as CEO of ExxonMobil to enter the Trump administration, with an estimated $325 million fortune39—made a complete break from his former company, selling all of his shares and sacrificing millions of dollars to assume his new role with clean hands. “His ethics agreement serves as a sterling model for what we’d like to see with other nominees,” said Walter Shaub, the top ethics official in the executive branch at the time.40 Trump later got rid of Tillerson, who managed to leave Washington without ever getting caught up in a serious ethics scandal. “As I reflect upon the state of our American democracy,” Tillerson said in a commencement address two months after his ouster, “I observe a growing crisis in ethics and integrity.”41
Private equity tycoon Wilbur Ross also seemed to take conflicts of interest seriously at first. “I intend to be quite scrupulous about recusal and any topic where there is the slightest scintilla of doubt,” he assured senators at his confirmation hearing in January 2017. The message seemed to sink in. “You have really made a very personal sacrifice,” said Democratic senator Richard Blumenthal. “Your service has resulted in your divesting yourself of literally hundreds of millions of dollars in assets so that you could reach an agreement with the Office of Government Ethics. I don’t want to embarrass you or presume, but obviously, of all the billions of dollars in holdings that you own now, you have divested more than 90%.”42
Ross nodded along. His fellow cabinet appointees, including Tillerson, had endured bitter hearings. But not Ross. Republicans lauded his business experience, while Democrats touted his integrity. A month after the hearing, the Senate confirmed Ross easily, in a 72–27 vote.43 At the time, however, no one on Capitol Hill knew the true story of Wilbur Ross. As later became apparent, he was the most ethically challenged cabinet secretary in an administration packed with them. And unlike others who were dogged by scandal, and resigned in response, Ross remains in his powerful position.
• • •
IN 1990, ROSS found himself tangling with a young casino titan44 named Donald Trump. The freewheeling days of the 1980s45 had led to a slew of corporate bankruptcies; Ross, then at the investment bank Rothschild Inc., had built a reputation as one of the top restructuring advisers in the country.46 Regardless of who he was representing, Ross’s clients generally tended to come away with a fair share. “Wilbur, to me, was the master negotiator,” says David Storper, Ross’s former right-hand man, speaking on the record about his old boss for the first time. “Because he could end up picking somebody’s pocket across the table, but they would also end up thanking him for it.”47
The Trump Taj Mahal, in Atlantic City, was descending into bankruptcy,48 which was bad news for Ross’s client, an insurance company holding the casino’s debt. On November 15, 1990, Ross talked with Carl Icahn, who also held about $155 million of the debt.49
Together, Ross and Icahn settled on a plan: the casino would enter into a prepackaged bankruptcy, and Trump would hold on to 50% of the equity. Ross and Icahn presumably could have knocked out the young mogul, but they instead kept him around, leaving Trump quite satisfied: “I think [Ross] is very talented, a fantastic negotiator.”50
Ross collected hefty fees doing this kind of work, an estimated $6 million or more annually, but there was more money to be made. In 1997, while still working at Rothschild, he became a principal rather than a mere adviser, launching a $200 million private equity fund to invest in sick companies. Three years later, Ross bought out the fund and turned it into his own private equity shop—WL Ross & Co.51 At 62 years old, an age at which most financiers are winding down, Ross was gearing up.52 “He was just a workaholic,” says Storper. “I mean, this is a guy that would call me up on a Thursday and be like, ‘Why isn’t the office open?’ And I’m like, ‘Because it’s Thanksgiving.’”53
The hustle paid off. In 2001, Ross’s firm began zeroing in on American steel companies. At first, WL Ross bet against the industry, shorting stocks so that he would make money if they fell. After they did, Ross began betting that he could profit off a resurgence. In Cleveland, he found a steel giant named the LTV Corporation that had recently declared bankruptcy. The company was struggling with a massive pension plan,54 but Ross recognized that he could scoop up assets and leave the federal government stuck with pension liabilities.
To make sure the plan would work, Ross and his colleagues reached out to companies in the auto industry, who assured them that they would buy LTV products. Ross’s team also met with unions, who agreed to loosen up labor restrictions with the understanding that WL Ross would bring back roughly half of the 7,500 jobs that had disappeared after the business went bankrupt.55 And Ross met with officials inside the Commerce Department, concluding that George W. Bush’s administration had to become more protectionist.56
In February 2002,57 a bankruptcy judge approved WL Ross’s plan to buy most of LTV’s assets, for about $135 million, and to assume another $165 million or so in yearly environmental liabilities, while leaving the pension troubles behind. The next week, the Bush administration announced tariffs of up to 30% on steel imports. Ross looked like the smartest man on Wall Street. He combined LTV’s assets with those of several other steel companies, including Bethlehem Steel in Pennsylvania and Acme Steel in Chicago. In 2003, Ross took the whole conglomerate, named International Steel Group, public.58
Securities filings listed Ross as the beneficial owner of 34% of the shares,59 suggesting he was one of the wealthiest people in the country. But most of the money in Ross’s firm actually belonged to investors, rather than Ross personally. A Forbes reporter, apparently failing to distinguish between assets Ross managed and assets he owned, called the private equity tycoon to tell him that he was preparing to add Ross to the magazine’s Forbes 400 ranking, with an estimated fortune of $1 billion.60 It was far more than Ross was actually worth.
But Ross did not bother to correct him. “He said, ‘Yep, fine, thank you,’” the reporter wrote in his notes.61 Storper, who was in Ross’s office at the time, remembers it similarly. “He said, ‘Yeah, that’s right,’” Storper says. “I never thought that he would actually be in the magazine.”62
But there he was, not long after, with $1 billion listed next to his name. Wilbur Ross had snuck his way into the Forbes 400. “He’s one of the easiest new guys I’ve put on [the Forbes 400] in a while,” the reporter wrote in his notes. “Very low-key, said he didn’t really want to be on, but at the same time wasn’t going to fight success. He says he doesn’t want to juice up his numbers at all.”63
• • •
RIGHT AROUND THE time that the list came out,64 Ross got married for the third time, to Hilary Geary, in a wedding fit for a billionaire. Roughly 40 people attended the ceremony in Southampton, the luxurious beach town 85 miles east of New York City. A Manhattan reception reportedly followed two days later, with 300 people celebrating inside the Rainbow Room, a restaurant on the 65th floor of 30 Rockefeller Plaza that once hosted the Astors, the Whitneys, and, naturally, the Rockefellers.65
Ross began to act like something of a Gilded Age industrialist. A man once known for wearing suspenders and mismatched socks,66 he began dressing in stylish suits.67 He collected million-dollar pieces of artwork.68 He flew in private planes. And he threw his weight around in Republican politics. During the 2008 presidential election, Ross pushed his employees to donate money to Rudy Giuliani’s campaign. “He was responsible for our bonuses,” says someone who used to work with Ross, “so we were basically coerced.”69
Ross also bought a new house in Palm Beach, Florida, shelling out $13.2 million.70 One reason rich New Yorkers love Florida: there’s no income tax in the Sunshine State,71 meaning high-income New Yorkers can shield 9% of their annual paycheck from the government.
That meant real money to Ross, who sold his private equity firm in 2006 to Invesco for $100 million up front and the chance to earn another $275 million down the road.72 When traveling, Ross was known for taking Invesco’s private plane, leading to questions about who was picking up the tab for all of those flights.73
Ross could have avoided controversy by just flying commercial, of course, but that wasn’t his style. “He’ll take a chauffeured limousine for a block just to make sure he arrives in a chauffeured limousine,”74 says Asher Edelman, a New York financier who served as inspiration for the character Gordon Gekko in the movie Wall Street.75
Ross’s deceptions grew over the years. By the time Forbes called in 2007, he was likely worth $400 million or so.76 But he kept up the myth, and the magazine put him down for $1.7 billion. In 2016, when Ross was probably up to about $600 million, he said he was at $3.7 billion.77 The same reporter who made the mistake at Forbes ended up leaving the magazine and later worked on a competing list of rich people at Bloomberg, which also listed Ross with an inflated net worth.78 Almost every other media outlet in the country fell in line, falsely touting Ross as a billionaire.
Outside of Ross’s closest advisers, few people saw through the mirage. Investors poured money into Ross’s funds, believing they were putting it in the hands of a billionaire with a magic touch.79 Ross, in turn, charged management fees on the investors’ money. He had figured out, in other words, how to spin fake billions into real millions.80 David Wax, who served as the No. 3 person at Ross’s firm, says, “Wilbur doesn’t have an issue bending the truth.”81
• • •
THERE WERE ALSO ill-gotten gains, according to investors, colleagues, and federal regulators. In 2005, right around the time that Ross started embracing the high life, Peter Lusk, a onetime vice chairman at WL Ross, sued for $20 million, alleging that Ross had deprived him of fees and interests he was promised. That case resulted in a settlement that insiders say cost about $10 million. When asked about the dispute in 2018, Ross replied, “The Lusk case ended with mutual confidentiality requirements.”
A decade after Lusk sued, Ross was back in court, this time defending himself against Storper. In a $4 million suit, Ross’s former right-hand man accused him of stealing his interests in private equity funds, then using phony documentation to try to cover it up. Lawyers for Ross conceded that their client had taken Storper’s interest but said he was allowed to do so under partnership agreements. The parties settled in 2018 for an undisclosed sum.
A third former colleague, Joseph Mullin, sued WL Ross in 2017, saying he had not gotten $3.6 million he was owed.82 “For no reason other than that they were in a position to do so, defendants looted Mr. Mullin’s rightful carried interests and investment profits,” the lawsuit said, “for the personal benefit of Wilbur L. Ross, Jr.”83 WL Ross denied the allegations, and a judge initially dismissed Mullin’s suit on technical grounds.84 But an appeals court overturned that decision in June 2019, leading to yet another settlement.85
Viewed individually, it’s easy to write off any one of these cases as a run-of-the-mill Wall Street squabble. But take them together and a pattern emerges. Ross allegedly had a habit of grabbing assets from departed colleagues.86
They weren’t the only alleged victims. Investors suffered, too. WL Ross promised its investors that it would pay back some fees it collected. But federal regulators concluded that the firm had not given back everything it should have. In 2016, the Securities and Exchange Commission accused Ross’s firm of misleading and defrauding investors over an 11-year period.87 WL Ross did not admit guilt, but it did agree to return $11.9 million to investors and hand over a $2.3 million fine.
In addition, WL Ross’s parent company, Invesco, disclosed another $43 million in reimbursements and regulatory expenses associated with its private equity business in its 2015 annual report.88 Four of Ross’s former colleagues say those payments were also connected to WL Ross.89
The allegations were complicated. For example, the private equity firm was charging investors for money it had lost them, according to five former WL Ross employees and investors. If the firm made a bad deal, it was supposed to eventually calculate its management fees on the diminished value of the investment, rather than on the initial cost. But WL Ross allegedly continued to rack up fees based on the size of the original commitment. The firm was supposedly even charging fees for one investment that had dwindled down to virtually nothing.90
Ross was also allegedly taking fees he got from serving on the board of portfolio companies, according to former WL Ross employees.91 Partnership agreements, however, required him to return some of that money to investors. It seemed typical of Ross’s overall attitude. “He just acts so petty with some of this stuff,” says Storper. “It’s just a game, you know. It’s like, if you can keep something for free, why stick your hand in the pocket? You just think you’ll get away with it.”92
• • •
EVENTUALLY IT DID START to catch up with Ross. By 2016, the SEC was looking at allegations inside the firm, and Ross’s former colleagues were raising concerns about money that seemed to be disappearing from their accounts. WL Ross funds were continuing to languish.93 Even Forbes, which had assigned a new reporter to estimate Ross’s net worth, was getting suspicious about why the private equity mogul was willing to share values for his personal assets but not willing to back up his numbers with hard evidence.94 “I suggest we give another trim,” the reporter wrote in her notes.
Fortunately for Ross, he had a way of alleviating these headaches. Twenty-six years after helping out Trump in Atlantic City, he became a big backer of Trump’s presidential campaign, hosting a fundraiser in the Hamptons and touting the candidate’s trade proposals.95 Trump, in turn, offered him a spot in his cabinet. Moving to Washington seemed a perfect way to leave behind a string of controversies and cement a legacy.
There was just one problem. By joining the government, Ross had to file a public financial disclosure report, listing his assets and liabilities.96 And lying to the government, unlike lying to Forbes, constituted a federal crime.97 So Ross told the truth, disclosing less than $700 million in assets.98
In mid-2017, Forbes’s wealth editor assigned me to update Ross’s net worth estimate for the magazine’s annual list of America’s richest people. I reached out to Ross to ask about why his disclosure showed so few assets when his assistant had told the magazine he had more than $3 billion. On a Sunday afternoon in October, after a 16-hour flight from Asia, Ross called.
He claimed the reason for the discrepancy was that he had moved most of his fortune into trusts for his family. “You’re apparently not counting those, which are more than $2 billion,” he said. “The way the Office of Government Ethics works, anything that is put into a trust of which you have no beneficial control—I mean have no beneficial interest—does not count in the assets that you have to disclose and divest of. So that’s why the assets are somewhat small.”99
Initially persuaded, I asked Ross when he had transferred those holdings. “Oh, a while back,” he said. “Many months ago.” When pressed, he got more specific. “Between the election and the nomination.” Told that he might be removed from the Forbes 400, given that the assets were apparently held by his family members, Ross feigned indifference. “I don’t care if I’m on the list or not. That frankly doesn’t matter. But what I don’t want is for people to suddenly think I’ve lost a lot of money when it’s not true.”
When the story came out, quoting the commerce secretary’s statements about a transfer of billions of dollars of assets to his family members shortly before taking office,100 other outlets picked up on it,101 and the Commerce Department realized it had a problem. A department spokesperson issued a statement directly contradicting Ross’s previous statement, insisting that there had been no multibillion-dollar transfer during that period and saying there must have been a misunderstanding.102
There was no misunderstanding, as an audio recording of the conversation shows. It seems clear that Ross was simply doing what he had done for years: lying about his assets in a way that was difficult to detect. Before finishing this book, I sent Ross a detailed list of questions outlining the allegations against him. “It is not Mr. Ross’ responsibility to correct false statements,” replied an attorney working with the commerce secretary, declining to directly respond to the questions. In light of those comments, however, I reviewed all of my sources once again, including those that supported information I had previously published.
The truth is that after speaking with 21 of Ross’s former colleagues and associates, a clear story emerges, which only starts with Ross’s net worth deceptions.103 “There’s no way you could make that money,” says Storper. “You would be by far, like, the home run king. It wouldn’t be hitting 763 home runs. It would be hitting a million home runs.”104 Why wasn’t Ross content with the amount of money he had?105 Wax, the former No. 3 at WL Ross, offers one explanation: “You’re talking about somebody who is as egotistical as they come.”106
• • •
ROSS’S YEARNING FOR importance quickly became apparent in Washington. One of the first stories about him, published 16 days before the Senate confirmed him as commerce secretary, had nothing to do with governance. “A Palm Beach Power Hostess Prepares for Trump’s Washington,” read the headline in The New York Times. The story focused on Ross’s wife, Hilary, quoting her stepdaughter and close friends, who painted her as something of a bipartisan Jackie Kennedy.
“If any one couple can help socially lubricate the new Washington social scene,” the novelist Jay McInerney told the Times, “it will be Hilary and Wilbur. They’ve always mixed with Republicans and Democrats, like myself, at their dinner table, and we could use some of that spirit more than ever at this fraught moment.”107
The Rosses certainly did seem to socialize a lot, including with some of their old associates in the business world.108 On May 18, 2017, Ross had lunch in the basement of the White House109 with Bill Furman, the CEO of a publicly traded railcar manufacturer called the Greenbrier Companies.110 At the time, Ross also owned a stake in the company.111 He was putting himself in danger of violating the criminal conflict-of-interest law, which generally bars public officials from taking actions that will clearly benefit their own holdings.112
A spokesman for the Commerce Department dismissed those concerns: “There was a purely social lunch with Mr. Furman at which Secretary Ross paid the bill,” he said in a statement. “No items specific to Greenbrier have been before the secretary during his tenure at Commerce.”113 But that was not entirely true. Twelve days after his discussion with Ross, Furman wrote a letter to the Commerce Department, weighing in on a review of steel imports that the commerce secretary was considering.114
In March 2017, Ross had a meeting with the CEO of Chevron, while his wife apparently still held more than $250,000 of stock in the energy company.115 From a legal standpoint, there is no difference if a conflict-producing asset is held by an official or the spouse of an official.116 Ross’s calendars show that the agenda for that meeting included discussing oil and gas developments, tax reform, and trade issues—the sorts of topics that could trigger a criminal conflict-of-interest violation.
About a week after that, Ross had a different meeting, this time with the CEO of Boeing,117 a company in which Ross’s wife apparently held nearly $3 million of stock.118 The inspector general of the Commerce Department seems to be investigating all of this. Policies prohibit confirming or denying the existence of any ongoing investigation, but when asked about fallout from the Chevron and Boeing meetings, a Commerce official named Robert Johnston hinted at a probe anyway: “The matter is under review.”119
• • •
ON OCTOBER 25, 2017, Ross sold his interests in another problematic investment, Navigator Holdings, a shipping company.120 One of Navigator’s largest customers happened to be a Russian petrochemicals giant whose top owners included two of Vladimir Putin’s cronies.121 On October 26, The New York Times reached out to Ross about his connection to Navigator.122
Five days later, Ross opened a short position in the shipping firm,123 setting himself up to benefit if the article—still days from publication—caused the company’s shares to decline. The story came out on November 5, and, while shares did not drop immediately, they did trickle downward over the next week and a half, when Ross closed out his short position, apparently with a small profit.124 Insider trading experts expressed skepticism about whether Ross’s actions were actually illegal,125 but they generally seemed to agree that they were, as Columbia professor John Coffee Jr. put it, “sleazy as hell.”126
The day after Ross shorted Navigator, he filed a new document with the federal government declaring that he had divested everything he promised he would. Above his signature sat an ominous warning: “Any intentionally false or misleading statement or response provided in this certification is a violation of law punishable by a fine or imprisonment, or both.”127
Ross’s filing was, in fact, false. He said he had gotten rid of everything, but he still owned more than $10 million worth of stock in Invesco,128 over $250,000 of stock in Greenbrier,129 at least $50,000 in Air Lease Corporation,130 and more than $1,000 in BankUnited.131
Ross defended himself by saying he simply didn’t realize what he owned. It was an unusual explanation, given that he had made hundreds of millions of dollars by focusing on his assets.132 But it also seemed to be the only explanation that left Ross with some legal wiggle room. Federal law prohibits intentionally making false statements, but unintentionally doing so is not a crime.133
Nor is holding on to conflict-ridden assets that government ethics officials do not fully understand—and therefore do not require officials to divest. One of the interests that Ross kept was a stake in Diamond S Shipping, an international transporter in which he had invested during his time at WL Ross.134 His filings disclosed the stake, but they did not mention that one of the main investors in the company was a Chinese sovereign wealth fund.135 That meant the secretary of commerce had decided to remain in business with China while serving the United States.136
The conflicts got even messier. Ross delegated many of his tasks to a deputy, Wendy Teramoto, who had worked with him at WL Ross, where she remained an employee even after taking a role inside the Commerce Department.137 According to Teramoto’s own financial disclosure report, she served on the board of directors for Diamond S Shipping, the company largely owned by a Chinese sovereign wealth fund, until July 2017138—meaning she apparently had close business ties to China at the same time that she worked a trade deal on behalf of the United States. A lawyer for the company, when asked about the arrangement, replied with three words, “Resigned March 2017,” suggesting that Teramoto’s filing was false.139 Teramoto did not respond to a request for comment. Regardless of when exactly she left the board, there’s no question she played a major role in the China negotiations. “Really a lot of the work was done by Wendy Teramoto, my chief of staff,” Ross said in a television interview trumpeting the agreement.140
The deal seemed relatively friendly toward China, in contrast to President Trump’s hard-line rhetoric.141 Which made sense, of course, given the business ties of the people negotiating it. It’s unlikely that President Trump knew about Ross’s overlapping interests, but he did sense that something was not right. “I can’t believe you made this deal,” he fumed to Ross, according to Bob Woodward’s book Fear. “Why didn’t you tell anybody? You didn’t tell me about this. You just went off and did it on your own.142
“I thought you were a killer,” Trump added. “When you were on Wall Street, you made some of these deals. But you’re past your prime. You’re not a good negotiator anymore. I don’t know what it is, but you’ve lost it. I don’t trust you. I don’t want you doing any more negotiations.”143
• • •
THE PRESIDENT MAY HAVE been angry, but he let Ross keep his position, leaving the commerce secretary to work on other things like overseeing the U.S. Census. It wasn’t a flashy job, but it was an important one. The census, a once-every-decade count of all the people living in the United States, determines how much money the federal government sends to each part of the country, for things like healthcare programs, schools, housing, food stamps, financial aid, highways, and so on.144 Add everything up and the census affects over $900 billion a year145—more money than the entire annual budgets of all but seven countries in the world. The census also decides which parts of the United States have the loudest voices in Washington. Census figures determine how many congresspeople146 come from every area and how many electoral college votes come from every state.147 Put simply, the census is the foundation for understanding who gets power and money.
Shortly after Trump became president, his administration started batting around the idea of adding a question on the census asking respondents whether they were citizens or not. It seemed like a simple question, but Democrats feared it would scare immigrants—documented and undocumented—into not responding to the census, which could push funding and representation more toward Republican-leaning parts of the country. As secretary of commerce, Wilbur Ross had authority over whether to add the question or not.148 Experts did not think it was a good idea. Six former Census Bureau directors wrote to Ross, expressing concerns about adding the new question. The chief scientist inside the Census Bureau explained that the question would have “an adverse impact on self-response and, as a result, on the accuracy and quality of the 2020 Census.”
Lots of people, especially in immigrant communities, would not answer the question, internal Census Bureau data, based on responses from a similar government survey, suggested. In cases where people did respond to a citizenship question, more than 20% of noncitizens lied, claiming they were in fact citizens. Asking for citizenship status was actually an unreliable way of figuring out who was a citizen. A better way to get an accurate count of citizens, according to the Census Bureau’s chief scientist, was not to ask a question but instead to pull records from other parts of the government, like the Social Security Administration, U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services,149 and the Internal Revenue Service.
On March 26, 2018, Wilbur Ross tossed that aside and decided to add the question anyway.150 He said it was necessary in order to properly enforce the Voting Rights Act. “Even if there is some impact on responses,” Ross said, “the value of more complete and accurate data derived from surveying the entire population outweighs such concerns.”151 Never mind that his staff had determined that asking the question could in fact result in data that was less accurate.
Lawsuits and congressional inquiries followed.152, 153 Ross had testified to Congress that “the Department of Justice, as you know, initiated the request for inclusion of the citizenship question,”154 even though records showed that Ross was working to add a citizenship question long before the Department of Justice made its request. In another hearing, a member of Congress had asked Ross whether anyone from the White House had discussed the matter with Ross. He replied, “I’m not aware of any such,” without mentioning that chief strategist Steve Bannon had reached out to Ross in relation to a possible citizenship question.155 It is illegal to lie to Congress.156
When subpoenaed by Congress for additional documentation,157 Ross and Attorney General William Barr, who replaced Jeff Sessions in February 2019,158 refused to hand over documents.159 The House voted to place both cabinet officials in contempt of Congress. Not surprisingly, the Justice Department declined to prosecute them.160
Three federal judges ruled against the Trump administration’s decision to add the question, finding that its Voting Rights Act explanation was merely a pretext.161 The case eventually landed in the Supreme Court, where America’s top justices ruled that the administration could theoretically add a citizenship question, but not under the “contrived” circumstances it was presenting.162 Dishonesty, in other words, thwarted the Trump administration’s plans to add a citizenship question to the census.
Ross’s former colleagues took it all in. They had seen Ross manipulate numbers for years, but this was different from tricking a magazine. Ross now seemed to be lying in regard to the numbers that underpin American democracy. “I almost wish I could just like sit him down and talk to him and say, ‘What the fuck have you done?’” says Storper. “‘How do you wear an American flag pin? I mean, you’re a hypocrite.’”163
11
2020 Money
CAMPAIGN CASH AND CORONAVIRUS COSTS
At some point on Inauguration Day 2017—between the stop at the White House, the parade down Pennsylvania Avenue, and the speech in front of the Capitol—Donald Trump found time to officially declare, with the Federal Election Commission, that he was running for reelection in 2020.1 George W. Bush and Barack Obama had waited more than two years after taking office to file their reelection papers.2 But Trump had a different plan.
During the 2016 election, he spent $66 million of his own money running for president,3 funding most of the effort by himself4 until he secured the Republican nomination and got reinforcements.5 After he won the election, his friend Tom Barrack had helped fill a new pot with $107 million from people pitching in to fund the inaugural festivities.6 Some of that money reportedly ended up at the Trump International Hotel, which was nice for the president.7 But that dried up after the inauguration was over. Trump needed a new pile of cash.
His 2020 campaign, beginning January 20, 2017, provided it. By kicking off the campaign on the first day of his presidency, Donald Trump ensured that he could continue charging for things like rent, legal expenses, food, lodging, and so on. And since he was no longer donating his own money, that meant that by Trump’s third anniversary in office, he had shifted $2 million from his supporters to his business.8
Some of those payments were hard to reconcile. Take the money flowing into Trump Tower Commercial LLC, the entity through which9 the president owns his famous Fifth Avenue tower in New York City.10 From 2017 to 2019, Trump Tower collected $1.3 million from the campaign, more than any other company in the Trump empire.11 In addition, the Republican National Committee, working in concert with the Trump campaign, sent another $225,000 to Trump Tower Commercial LLC.12 Federal filings list the purpose of those payments as “rent,”13 but when asked, the Trump campaign would not say how much space it was renting.
The campaign leased additional square footage a handful of blocks from Trump Tower in another Trump building, yielding more money to the president.14 It’s even harder to make sense of those payments, which flowed through a company named Trump Plaza LLC and totaled $84,000 from 2017 to 2019.15 Trump Plaza LLC controls a property on Third Avenue and 61st Street in Manhattan, with retail space, eight townhomes,16 and 128 parking spaces.17 But it’s not clear what the Trump campaign was renting. There was no sign of the campaign in the retail portion, and a third party appeared to sublease the garage space, leaving just the apartments as possible campaign locations.
Since neither the Trump campaign nor the Trump Organization would explain the reason for the payments, I decided to stake out the side-by-side apartment buildings on 61st Street for 14 hours in November 2018. During that time, I saw seven people walk in or out of the properties. Of the six who were willing to talk, none could explain what the campaign could possibly be renting.18 Neither could a man working behind the desk on the property. “I’ve been here since the beginning,” he said. “If there was any kind of office rented out for campaigning or whatever, I would know about it.”19 A staffer on the 2016 campaign, who did not want to speak on the record, offered one possible explanation, saying people had sometimes used an apartment at Trump Plaza as a landing pad.20 Of course, a hotel—even a Trump hotel—could have presumably served the same purpose. But that would not have necessarily ensured an average of $3,85021 per month for the president.
Yet another Trump company, named Trump Restaurants LLC, also rented space to the campaign. That entity appears to be connected to a handful of eateries in the basement of Trump Tower. I took the escalator downstairs and the only thing that appeared to be run by the campaign was a small T-shirt stand, wedged in between the Trump Grill and Trump’s Ice Cream Parlor. The campaign paid Trump Restaurants LLC an average of $3,00022 per month in rent for what appears to be roughly 60 square feet; that is, about $600 per square foot annually.23 To put that in perspective, Gucci, which rents a Fifth Avenue store upstairs, pays an estimated $46024 per square foot every year. “That’s robbery,”25 said one New York City real estate expert, looking at the T-shirt stand from inside the Trump Tower atrium. Two others said the payments could be justified, given that smaller spaces tend to charge more money per square foot.26
Additional funds went to Trump National Doral, Mar-a-Lago, the D.C. hotel, and so on. One different Trump company collected $259,000 in legal and IT consulting expenses from 2017 to 2019. In January 2019, a business set up to lease Trump’s private jet, named Tag Air Inc.,27 accepted a $2,75028 payment from the campaign. It’s not clear what flight expense that payment covered. Trump tends to get around in a nicer jet these days: Air Force One.
None of this self-dealing should come as a surprise. Donald Trump, after all, learned the ways of life at the foot of Fred Trump, a man whose business model relied on funneling money through related entities to benefit himself. Donald Trump had been siphoning funds in similar fashion for years. Just ask the old shareholders of Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts. Or the donors to the Eric Trump Foundation. Or the people looking after the Secret Service budget. Or Donald Trump himself, who was talking to the press about running for president 17 years before he took office. “It’s very possible,” he said at the time, “that I could be the first presidential candidate to run and make money on it.”29
• • •
BUSINESS, HOWEVER, IS unpredictable. Just because you’re skimming money from one pot doesn’t mean you’re getting richer overall. Trump’s decision to keep his assets while serving as president was a gamble that paid off miserably. In the first year he sat in the White House, his net worth decreased by an estimated $400 million.30 That had as much to do with markets as with politics. Even the president is not immune to declining Manhattan real estate values.31
From 2018 to the start of 2020, the president’s net worth remained steady at $3.1 billion.32 During those years, assets closely aligned with Trump’s name—like Trump Tower and Trump National Doral—suffered.33 Those not branded “Trump” did better, like 1290 Avenue of the Americas, in New York City, and 555 California Street, in San Francisco. Taken together, it all evened out, leaving the president with the same net worth for two years, even as the stock market surged.34
Then came the coronavirus. The Trump administration didn’t think much of it at first, as it was taking hold in China. “I think it will help to accelerate the return of jobs to North America,” commerce secretary Wilbur Ross predicted on January 30.35 The next month, the number of cases in the United States creeped up to two dozen.36 Trump stayed optimistic. “It’s going to disappear,” the president said. “One day—it’s like a miracle—it will disappear.”37 Wishful thinking, both for the country and for Trump’s businesses, especially his hotels and golf clubs, which need people to leave the house in order to make money.
By mid-March, it was clear that the virus was not, in fact, going to disappear. Markets dove 34% as the effects rippled through the economy. Trump’s own fortune plunged by an estimated $1 billion from March 1 to March 18.38 Golf industry insiders worried about how everything would play out as the summer months approached. “If we could open up in a week or two and put all this behind us, this would be a bad memory come August,” said Matthew Galvin, CEO of Morningstar Golf and Hospitality. “But if this persists through April and May and into June, then all bets are off.”39
Hoping to stem the carnage, Congress passed a $2 trillion40 relief package on March 27, 2020, the largest in U.S. history. A key part of that plan was a $349 billion loan proposal called the Paycheck Protection Program. The idea was simple: The federal government would offer businesses loans, and if those businesses kept their employees around for eight weeks, the loans would be forgiven.41 Hotel companies were among the biggest beneficiaries, which should have been good news for Trump.
Instead, his reputation for self-dealing finally caught up with him. Fearing that taxpayer money would end up in the president’s pocket,42 legislators inserted a provision into the bill preventing the Trump Organization—and all other businesses owned by officials in high office—from taking the bailout loans.43 “It’s a shame,” says Merrick Dresnin, who used to serve as director of human resources for the Trump hotel in Washington, D.C. “To a certain extent, I’m glad I’m not there because it would be rough not to have that opportunity because it is going to save some companies. But yeah, I’m not sure what’s going to happen with them.”44
What happened was mass layoffs, which had already started before Congress passed the bill and only increased afterward. They hit Trump’s hotels, clubs, and golf courses in California, Illinois, New York, Florida, Hawaii, Nevada, Virginia, and Washington, D.C. In all, the Trump Organization fired or furloughed more than 2,400 workers.45
Frankie Ortiz, a chef at Trump National Doral, was one of them. “We were busy all the way through the first week of March, when everything hit hard here in south Florida,” he says. “Everybody started canceling events and canceling weddings and everything else. I mean, by March 18, which was the day I was laid off, we had no more events. I mean, events way up until August were canceled.”46
Before long, Trump National Doral—the president’s most important golf property, which generates $76 million47 of annual revenue—shut down with the rest of the country.
• • •
ON JUNE 10, Eric Trump shared some good news with his 3.7 million Twitter followers: “We are incredibly excited to be reopening all hospitality at Trump Doral, Miami on June 18th!” He noted that “the courses are impeccable” and included a couple of links where Trump fans could make reservations.48 President Trump amplified the advertisement, retweeting it to more than 80 million followers while pointing out, “The Trump family didn’t ask the federal government for money to carry this and many other very expensive to carry properties!”49
The presidential promotion, however, didn’t seem to help much. Trump National Doral only booked 38 of its 643 rooms on the day of the reopening, according to two front desk agents. I made one of those 38 reservations.
“Welcome to Trump National,” a masked employee said at the front desk. The resort had installed new safety features, like circular signs on the floor telling guests to stand several feet apart while waiting to check in. There wasn’t much of a wait, though, given the lack of customers. Most of the people on site seemed to be staff.
At the pool, music blared over the speakers—“I Don’t Care” by Ed Sheeran and Justin Bieber—but there were no guests there to enjoy the party. The golf pro shop was similarly quiet. “There’s nobody here,” said an employee walking nearby. Afternoon rains had cleared players off the course, so the resort had apparently decided to call it an early day. I walked all 18 holes of the famous Blue Monster course, which was, as Eric Trump had promised, in impeccable condition. But the only people enjoying it were non-golfers—a couple of joggers ran on the sixth hole, some little kids played in the sand traps on the 11th, and a pair of fishermen cast their lines near the 15th.
In the restaurant near the lobby, I found a handful of people. A group of older guys sat together without masks, drinking martinis and opining on sports and politics. One of them told a bartender that the concerns over the coronavirus were the media’s fault. “They’re trying to beat your boy,” he said. “They’re trying to take Donald down. That’s what it’s all about.” Seconds later, he seemed to allow the possibility that COVID-19 was a real threat, just not one he was too worried about: “If I get it, I get it.”
Amidst all of this, the virus continued to spread across the country. More than 3,000 Floridians tested positive for coronavirus on June 18, 2020, the day of the reopening. It was a state record—though not for long. Two weeks later, Florida was registering 10,000 new cases per day, making it the most infectious state in the nation.50
• • •
DESPITE THE TROUBLES, President Trump projected confidence. “You know, I’m very under-levered and everything, so that’s good,” he told a reporter who asked about the impact the virus was having on his businesses.51 But Trump wasn’t necessarily under-leveraged, at least not at his two most important hospitality properties, Doral and the Washington, D.C., hotel.
The Trump Organization took on $125 million52 in debt at Doral, an amount that it could seemingly service in good times—but only barely.53 In 2017, the Trump Organization generated earnings of just $4.3 million at the resort.54 The next year, business improved, yielding $9.7 million of profits (measured as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization).55 Annual debt service on the property could hit $3 to $3.5 million in 2020.56 Given the state of affairs midway through the summer, it seemed unlikely it would make that much by year-end.
The situation appeared to be even worse at the president’s hotel in Washington, D.C. The Trump Organization had a $170 million57 mortgage against that property. Even with interest rates down, a loan of that size could require $4 to $5 million in annual interest payments. That property seemed to be struggling to produce enough profit to cover its interest expenses in boom times.58 Amidst the coronavirus crisis, it’s probably a safe bet that the place is losing money.
When borrowers can’t pay what they owe, they are left with a handful of options. They can (a) negotiate with lenders, (b) refinance their loans, (c) inject cash from other holdings, or (d) declare bankruptcy. The most appealing solution, from a borrower’s perspective, is to negotiate with lenders. No surprise, then, that the Trump Organization reportedly took steps in that direction in late March, reaching out to Deutsche Bank, which holds the loans on both the D.C. hotel and the Miami golf resort.59
That put Deutsche Bank in an awkward position. If it gave Trump a break on his loans, it would be doing a financial favor to the president of the United States, whose administration happened to be simultaneously pursuing an investigation of the bank. If Deutsche Bank refused to work with Trump and instead left him in a vulnerable position, then it could risk retaliation by the president. It was a nightmarish conflict of interest, involving hundreds of millions of dollars and a president in crisis.
And it wasn’t just Trump’s hotels that were in trouble. The virus had also pushed more people to shop online rather than in brick-and-mortar spaces, like the 125,000 square feet that Trump owns near Fifth Avenue.60 The value of office space took a hit, too, with investors wondering how America’s great work-from-home experiment would affect long-term leases with corporate tenants.
Trump, of course, did not have to be invested in this portfolio of assets. In fact, if he had just liquidated his $3.5 billion fortune at the time he took office, and then reinvested it in a broad-based, conflict-free mutual fund modeling the S&P 500, he would have avoided four years of financial controversies. He might have had to pay a big capital gains tax at the start—since Trump is exempt from the primary conflict-of-interest statute, there is some debate about whether he would have qualified for the tax-dodging benefit meant to ease the pain of divesting for other officials.61
But even if he paid the maximum possible federal and state capital gains tax, there would have still been no issues with the emoluments clause. No decline in his golf business. No concerns about tenants causing conflicts. No worries about who bought his condos. No bad example followed by Ivanka, Jared, or members of his cabinet.
And, with all that money invested in the broader market rather than in his assortment of properties, President Trump would have been an estimated $415 million richer.62
MISSED OPPORTUNITY
After Donald Trump won the 2016 election, he faced a choice about what to do with his business. One option was to sell everything and assume the presidency free of conflicts of interest. Instead, Trump chose to hang on to his assets—and all the trouble that came with them. Setting aside the political ramifications, it was a terrible business decision. If Trump had just sold everything at the start, paid the maximum possible federal and state capital gains taxes, then reinvested in the S&P 500, he would have been an estimated $415 million richer by March 2020.
Source: Forbes research
APPENDIX
WHO PAYS THE PRESIDENT RENT?
TENANT | EST. ANNUAL RENT | PROPERTY |
Gucci | $22 million | Trump Tower |
Equitable Holdings | $13 million | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Nike | $13 million | 6 East 57th |
Neuberger Berman | $9.6 million | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Bank of America | $6.5 million | 555 California |
Cushman & Wakefield | $4.8 million | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Walgreens Boots Alliance | $3.8 million | 40 Wall, 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Venable | $3.7 million | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Morgan Stanley | $3.1 million | 555 California |
Dodge & Cox | $2.9 million | 555 California |
Kirkland & Ellis | $2.9 million | 555 California |
UBS | $2.8 million | 555 California |
Green Ivy Schools | $2.6 million | 40 Wall |
Bryan Cave Leighton Paisner | $2.5 million | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Hachette Book Group | $2.5 million | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
JPMorgan Chase & Co. | $2.5 million | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Linklaters | $2.4 million | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
State Street Bank and Trust Company | $2.4 million | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Enterprise Parking | $2.3 million | Trump Plaza, Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower (NYC), Trump World Tower, Trump Parc |
Columbia University | $2.1 million | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Country-Wide Insurance Company | $2.1 million | 40 Wall |
Goldman Sachs | $2 million | 555 California |
New York Sports Clubs | $2 million | Trump Park Avenue |
Regus | $1.9 million | 555 California |
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China | $1.9 million | Trump Tower |
Fenwick & West | $1.9 million | 555 California |
Hadassah | $1.6 million | 40 Wall |
Thornton Tomasetti | $1.6 million | 40 Wall |
Jean-Georges | $1.6 million | Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower (NYC) |
Work Better | $1.5 million | 40 Wall |
Jones Day | $1.5 million | 555 California |
McKinsey & Company | $1.5 million | 555 California |
Marc Fisher Footwear | $1.4 million | Trump Tower |
Companies tied to Tommy Hilfiger | $1.4 million | Trump Tower |
Atane | $1.3 million | 40 Wall |
Foresters Financial | $1.3 million | 40 Wall |
Harry Fox Agency | $1.3 million | 40 Wall |
Ripple | $1.2 million | 555 California |
IBISWorld | $1.2 million | 40 Wall |
KKR | $1.2 million | 555 California |
Sidley | $1.2 million | 555 California |
LendingHome | $1.1 million | 555 California |
Rahr Enterprises | $1 million | Trump Tower |
TB Alliance | $900,000 | 40 Wall |
The Quad Preparatory School | $900,000 | 40 Wall |
Microsoft | $900,000 | 555 California |
Abbott Capital | $700,000 | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
HQ Capital | $700,000 | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Supercell | $700,000 | 555 California |
Wells Fargo | $700,000 | 555 California |
Nuts Factory | $700,000 | Trump Plaza |
Blue Shield of California | $600,000 | 555 California |
Consilio | $600,000 | 40 Wall |
Girl Scouts of Greater New York | $600,000 | 40 Wall |
Magna | $600,000 | 40 Wall |
TIAA | $600,000 | 555 California |
Cenegenics | $600,000 | 40 Wall |
Santander Bank | $500,000 | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
TD Bank | $500,000 | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Jaffe & Velazquez | $500,000 | 40 Wall |
LERA Consulting Structural Engineers | $500,000 | 40 Wall |
Newman Myers Kreines Harris | $500,000 | 40 Wall |
Foran Glennon Palandech Ponzi & Rudloff | $500,000 | 40 Wall |
Foley and Lardner | $500,000 | 555 California |
Pret A Manger | $500,000 | Trump Parc East |
Upper East Café | $500,000 | Trump Plaza |
Donald J. Trump For President | $500,000 | Trump Tower |
AllianceBernstein | $500,000 | 555 California |
ICF | $450,000 | 40 Wall |
NFP | $450,000 | 40 Wall |
Garrison Investment Group | $400,000 | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Access Intelligence | $400,000 | 40 Wall |
Derive Technologies | $400,000 | 40 Wall |
Rita Gray Center | $400,000 | 40 Wall |
Norton Rose Fulbright | $400,000 | 555 California |
GNC | $400,000 | Trump Plaza |
UN Plaza Grill | $400,000 | Trump World Tower |
Legacy Business School | $400,000 | Trump Tower |
Tubi | $350,000 | 555 California |
Accounting & Compliance Int’l | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
Aegis Capital Corp | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
Bay Crest Partners | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
Camacho Mauro Mulholland | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
Cammack Retirement Group | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
Harris St. Laurent | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
Hidrock Properties | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
ID PR | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
Katz & Rychik | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
PFM | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
Rosenblatt Securities | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
Telstra | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
The Heffner Agency | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
Zaremba Brown | $350,000 | 40 Wall |
Galeries Bartoux | $350,000 | Trump Parc East |
Casa Barilla | $300,000 | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
KNT-CT Holdings Co., Ltd. | $300,000 | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Halperin Battaglia Benzija | $300,000 | 40 Wall |
Bay Club | $300,000 | 555 California |
Mephisto | $300,000 | Trump Plaza |
NCheng | $300,000 | 40 Wall |
United Advisors | $300,000 | 40 Wall |
HMI Capital | $300,000 | 555 California |
EY | $300,000 | 555 California |
Boyce Technologies | $250,000 | 40 Wall |
Neapolitan Express | $250,000 | 40 Wall |
Centerview Partners | $250,000 | 555 California |
Servcorp | $250,000 | 555 California |
DirectView | $225,000 | 40 Wall |
The World Bar | $225,000 | Trump World Tower |
Jajan & Associates | $200,000 | 40 Wall |
Covala Group | $200,000 | 40 Wall |
Paulson Investment Company | $200,000 | 40 Wall |
Symbelle Beauty Spa | $200,000 | Trump Plaza |
Dalbir Singh & Associates | $175,000 | 40 Wall |
Elite Brands | $175,000 | 40 Wall |
Livermore Trading Group | $175,000 | 40 Wall |
Solomon Blum Heymann | $175,000 | 40 Wall |
PCCP | $175,000 | 555 California |
Sushi Nakazawa | $150,000 | D.C. hotel |
Dos Toros Taqueria | $150,000 | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
J’s Cleaners | $150,000 | Trump Plaza |
Staple Street Capital | $150,000 | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
JH Darbie & Co. | $150,000 | 40 Wall |
Piper Sandler Companies | $150,000 | 555 California |
Global Kitchen | $125,000 | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Grandfield & Dodd | $125,000 | 40 Wall |
Hinch Newman | $125,000 | 40 Wall |
LaRocca Hornik Rosen & Greenberg | $125,000 | 40 Wall |
Meridian Equity Partners | $125,000 | 40 Wall |
Metroloft Management | $125,000 | 40 Wall |
Prime Executions | $125,000 | 40 Wall |
Prodigy Network | $125,000 | 40 Wall |
Qatar Investment Authority | $125,000 | 555 California |
Anthony Cristiano | $125,000 | Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower Chicago |
Roberto Bezjon Salon | $125,000 | Trump Parc East |
Teresa’s Brick Oven Pizza and Café | $100,000 | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Collaborative Construction Management | $100,000 | 40 Wall |
Mercury Media | $100,000 | 40 Wall |
Daiwa Capital Markets | $100,000 | 555 California |
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corp | $100,000 | 555 California |
World Zionist Organization | $100,000 | 40 Wall |
Earl of Sandwich | $75,000 | 1290 Ave. of the Americas |
Authentic8 | $75,000 | 555 California |
The Vault Restaurant | $50,000 | 555 California |
The Tsang Law Firm | $25,000 | 40 Wall |
Wellness on Wall | $25,000 | 40 Wall |
World Currency Exchange | $25,000 | Trump Tower |
A Shine and Co. | $5,000 | 555 California |
Poke Bar | $5,000 | 555 California |
The Trump Organization | $0 | Trump Tower |
Just Salad | 1290 Ave. of the Americas | |
Coastal Management | 40 Wall | |
Verizon Communications | 40 Wall | |
Fox Corporation | Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower (NYC) | |
Hopsteiner | Trump Tower | |
NBC | D.C. hotel | |
CNN | D.C. hotel | |
Brioni | D.C. hotel |
Annual rent we can account for: $177 million
TOTAL COMMERCIAL RENT: $191 million
*Note: Estimates for 1290 Avenue of the Americas, 555 California and the D.C. hotel—buildings in which Donald Trump does not own 100% of the equity—represent the rent attributable to the president.
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Starbucks: Starbucks Store Locator, 555 California St., San Francisco, CA, https://www.starbucks.com/store-locator?map=37.787509,-122.346548,5z&place=555%20California%20St,%20San%20Francisco,%20CA,%20USA. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Starbucks Corporation, July 13, 2018, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2017/3A/300964395.xml.
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JPMorgan Chase: Chase Radio City, 51 W. 51st St., New York, NY 10019, https://locator.chase.com/ny/new-york/51-w-51st-st. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC, January 21, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301127627.xml.
Santander: Santander Bank, Branch 1290 Ave. of the Americas, New York, NY 10019. https://locations.santanderbank.com/ny/new-york/1290-avenue-of-the-americas.html. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Santander Holdings USA, Inc., January 21, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301125142.xml.
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Verizon: XO Communications, 40 Wall St., 16th Floor, New York, NY 10005, https://www.xo.com/contact-us/sales/sales-office-locations/new-york. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Verizon Communications Inc. and various subsidiaries, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q2/301045883.xml.
TB Alliance: TB Alliance Contact New York: 40 Wall St., 24th floor, New York, NY 10005, https://www.tballiance.org/contact. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Global Alliance for TB Drug Development (TB Alliance), January 15, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301106262.xml.
Capital One: Capital One, 502 Park Ave., New York, NY 10022, https://locations.capitalone.com/location/branch_46062. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Capital One Financial Corporation, January 21, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301126733.xml.
Fox: Federal Communications Commission, Antenna Lease, TV Intercity Relay License—WCQ510—Fox Television Stations, LLC, Trump International Hotel & Tower, https://wireless2.fcc.gov/UlsApp/UlsSearch/licensePathsSum.jsp?licKey=972519. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, 21st Century Fox, January 22, 2018, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2017/Q4/300934008.xml.
GNC: GNC at Trump Plaza https://www.gnc.com/store-details?StoreID=2564. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, General Nutrition Center, January 17, 2020 https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301110446.xml.
Bank of America: Bank of America locations, San Francisco Main Financial Center & ATM, 315 Montgomery St., San Francisco, CA 94104, US, https://locators.bankofamerica.com/ca/sanfrancisco/financial-centers-san-francisco-16793.html. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Bank of America Corporation, April 17, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2020/Q1/301169480.xml. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, TRGroup (also doing business as ACT—Alliance for Competitive Taxation), July 20, 2018, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2018/Q2/300974132.xml. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-1 Disclosure Form, TRGroup, Inc., April 12, 2013, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2013/RR/300567882.xml.
Jones Day: Jones Day, San Francisco, Address, 555 California St., 26th Floor Tenant at 555 California St., https://www.jonesday.com/en/locations/united-states/san-francisco?tab=overview-b562c134-cdfe-4884-b2c1-c5a82b916e06. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Jones Day, January 21, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301124734.xml.
Microsoft: Vornado Realty Trust, Office, San Francisco, 555 California St., Tenant Profile, Microsoft, https://www.vno.com/office/property/555-california-street/3311899/landing. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Microsoft, July 17, 2017, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2017/Q2/300885784.xml.
Morgan Stanley: Morgan Stanley, San Francisco Complex Office, 555 California St., https://advisor.morganstanley.com/san-francisco-complex. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, January 21, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301127679.xml.
Foley and Lardner: Foley & Lardner LLP, San Francisco, 555 California St., https://www.foley.com/en/offices/san-francisco. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Foley & Lardner LLP, April 20, 2018, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2018/Q1/300953010.xml.
Sidley: Sidley, San Francisco, Locations, 555 California St., https://www.sidley.com/en/locations/offices/san-francisco. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Sidley Austin LLP, January 17, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301109093.xml.
Wells Fargo: Wells Fargo Advisors, San Francisco, CA, Branch, 555 California St., https://home.wellsfargoadvisors.com/001_PCA7. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Wells Fargo & Company, January 21, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301128953.xml.
TIAA: Symphony Asset Management Office, 555 California St., https://www.nuveen.com/en-us/people/investment-specialists/symphony-asset-management. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, TIAA, January 17, 2018, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2017/Q4/300925614.xml.
UBS: UBS Locations, UBS Financial Services Inc. 555 California St., San Francisco CA 94104, https://www.ubs.com/locations/united-states/san-francisco/555-california-street/ubs-financial-services-inc-846.html. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, UBS Americas Inc., January 6, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301103411.xml.
Authentic8: Authentic8, Office Locations, San Francisco, 555 California St., Suite 3360, San Francisco, CA 94104, https://www.authentic8.com/contact-us/. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Authentic8, Inc., January 21, 2019.
Goldman Sachs: Goldman Sachs, Office Locations, 555 California St., 45th Floor, San Francisco, CA 94104, https://www.goldmansachs.com/our-firm/locations.html. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., January 21, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301125366.xml.
EY: EY-Parthenon, Locations, 555 California St., https://www.linkedin.com/company/ey-parthenon. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Ernst & Young LLP (Washington Council Ernst & Young), July 19, 2017, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2017/Q2/300889383.xml.
McKinsey: McKinsey Locations, 555 California St., https://www.mckinsey.com/locations. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, McKinsey & Company, January 21, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301124836.xml.
KKR: KKR Locations, 555 California St., https://www.kkr.com/our-firm/locations. Lobbied the Executive Office of the President, according to this filing. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Company, January 19, 2018, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2017/Q4/300929718.xml.
Ripple Labs: Ripple Careers, 315 Montgomery St., https://ripple.com/company/careers/. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Ripple Labs, Inc., April 20, 2020 https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2020/Q1/301175934.xml.
Blue Shield of California: Vornado Realty Trust, Supplemental Operating and Financial Data, for the Quarter and Year Ended December 31, 2019, 50. Clerk of the United States House of Representatives, LD-2 Disclosure Form, Blue Shield of California, January 17, 2020, https://disclosurespreview.house.gov/ld/ldxmlrelease/2019/Q4/301110772.xml,https://news.blueshieldca.com/2018/03/22/blue-shield-foundation-new-sf-headquarters.
34. Analysis of lobbying reports listed above.
35. The 30 tenants are:
Columbia University: ColumbiaDoctors Midtown, 51 West 51st St., New York, NY 10019, https://www.columbiadoctors.org/columbiadoctors-midtown. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Trustees of Columbia University in the City of New York, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/104cf824-0647-4d9a-199a-89fe3de4bf9e-P/latest. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Trustees of Columbia University in the City of New York, The, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/03aa78e7-78f5-7779-fc3e-8890eeec17ce-P/latest. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Teachers College, Columbia University, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/ba4aadbf-3e8e-0e42-231c-1fa9b6c4f67a-P/latest.
Verizon: XO Communications, 40 Wall St., 16th Floor, New York, NY 10005, https://www.xo.com/contact-us/sales/sales-office-locations/new-york. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Verizon Communications Inc., https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/7c0b8b81-6424-176c-cf87-b06062671a1b-P/latest.
ICF: ICF Company Locations, 40 Wall St., https://www.icf.com/company/locations. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, ICF International, Inc., https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/992f0d92-dfad-d76d-675d-b35f3e49616c-P/latest.
Microsoft: Vornado Realty Trust, Office, San Francisco, 555 California St., Tenant Profile, Microsoft https://www.vno.com/office/property/555-california-street/3311899/landing. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Microsoft Corporation, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/13f1c931-edc1-d2bc-07a6-c809332ae02a-P/latest.
EY: EY-Parthenon, Locations, 555 California Street, https://www.linkedin.com/company/ey-parthenon. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Ernst & Young LLP, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/1ff8dfe9-cd9d-4a69-7e85-0c99196102bd-P/latest.
McKinsey: McKinsey Locations, 555 California St., https://www.mckinsey.com/locations. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, McKinsey & Company, Inc., https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/8507105f-01f7-1eff-2e79-72eb0ca1c157-P/latest.
Wells Fargo: Wells Fargo Advisors, San Francisco, CA Branch, 555 California St., https://home.wellsfargoadvisors.com/001_PCA7. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Wells Fargo & Company, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/741dda66-0b1e-50fb-13de-36849bc84de2-P/latest.
TD Bank: TD Bank Location, 1290 Ave. of the Americas, https://www.tdbank.com/net/absearch/LocationDetails.aspx?branchID=43336. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Toronto-Dominion Bank, The, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/624ea65e-82e8-40af-8292-0ed547b92317-P/latest.
State Street: State Street Office Locations, New York, International Fund Services (N.A), LLC., State Street Bank and Trust Company, National Association, 1290 Ave. of the Americas, 10th Floor, https://www.statestreet.com/about/office-locations.html. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, State Street Corporation, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/fc579aa9-04f0-5671-eca3-ac40cece3e17-P/latest.
Cushman & Wakefield: Cushman & Wakefield, New York, 1290 Ave. of the Americas, https://www.cushmanwakefield.com/en/offices/offices-search#q=new%20york. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Cushman & Wakefield of Washington D.C. Inc., https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/04f337d9-6e18-1137-e2b3-ebcf260017bb-P/latest.
Walgreens Boots Alliance: Walgreens—Store #14485, 40 Wall St., New York, NY 10005, https://www.walgreens.com/locator/duane+reade-40+wall+st-new+york-ny-10005/id=14485. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Walgreen Co., https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/b4ada01a-e703-73a5-5f27-bfbc66a17055-C/latest.
Thornton Tomasetti: Thornton Thomasetti, Locations, New York, Wall St., 40 Wall St., https://www.thorntontomasetti.com/location/new-york-wall-street. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Thornton Tomasetti, Inc., https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/4126336f-d844-0f26-76dd-68a0d6da0db1-P/latest.
Neuberger Berman: Neuberger Berman, Office Locations, Firm Headquarters, New York, 1290 Ave. of the Americas, https://www.nb.com/en/global/office-locations.USASpending.gov [inactive], recipient profile, Neuberger Berman Group LLC, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/5170f055-5598-da10-4122-7d9601e03f55-P/latest.USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Neuberger Berman Investment Advisers LLC, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/09203f48-2618-a89b-3256-085ede1dc339-P/latest.
Bank of America: Bank of America locations, San Francisco Main Financial Center & ATM, 315 Montgomery St., San Francisco, CA 94104, https://locators.bankofamerica.com/ca/sanfrancisco/financial-centers-san-francisco-16793.html. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Bank of America Corporation, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/89397a6a-2e67-286e-b3db-2b4a7ce50ee1-P/latest.
JPMorgan: Chase Radio City 51 W. 51st St., New York, NY 10019, https://locator.chase.com/ny/new-york/51-w-51st-st. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, JPMorgan Chase & Co., https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/1c544118-2827-1d28-4c03-61ae95ffcece-P/latest.
Hadassah, Women’s Zionist Organization for America: Hadassah, Mailing Address, 40 Wall St., https://www.hadassah.org/about/index.html. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Hadassah, The Women’s Zionist Organization of America, Inc, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/1722729e-e45a-90d8-da20-10b9b91e9cc6-P/latest.
Goldman Sachs: Goldman Sachs, Office Locations, 555 California Street, 45th Floor, San Francisco, CA 94104, https://www.goldmansachs.com/our-firm/locations.html. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, The Goldman Sachs Group Inc., https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/ea005464-deb1-d923-d064-0e7a4fac12ef-P/latest.
Equitable Holdings: Form 10-K, Equitable Holdings Inc., Securities and Exchange Commission, 1290 Ave. of the Americas, https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1333986/000133398620000015/eqh201910-k.htm. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, AXA, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/27861b3d-d862-329b-8b97-44e41dec453e-P/latest.
Ibisworld: Ibisworld, Contact Us, United States HQ, New York, T40 Wall St., 15th Floor, New York, NY 10005, USA, https://www.ibisworld.com/contact-us/. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Ibisworld, Inc., https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/75bb2a11-c8a0-c939-0d92-b65194237b23-P/latest.
LERA Consulting: LERA Offices, New York City Headquarters, 40 Wall St., Floor 23, https://www.lera.com/blank. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Lera Consulting Structural Engineers, RLLP, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/885986a9-b8ad-d8e4-6f31-9bf929d33b0b-P/latest.
Norton Rose Fulbright: Norton Rose Fulbright, Location, San Francisco, Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, 555 California St., https://www.nortonrosefulbright.com/en-us/locations/san-francisco. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/85a4bc16-6452-e008-ca51-56288f5c874b-P/latest.
Access Intelligence: Access Intelligence, Contact, Locations, 40 Wall St., 50th Floor, https://www.accessintel.com/contact/. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Access Intelligence LLC, https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/dbc9a66f-149c-18b3-dd79-f710b97a9bd6-P/latest.
GNC: GNC at Trump Plaza, https://www.gnc.com/store-details?StoreID=2564. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, GNC Holdings INC., https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/daf8398f-6b58-9631-da8a-eb5dc53bdd89-P/latest.
Authentic8: Authentic8, Office Locations, San Francisco, 555 California St., Suite 3360, San Francisco, CA 94104, https://www.authentic8.com/contact-us/. USASpending.gov, recipient profile, Authentic8, Inc., https://www.usaspending.gov/#/recipient/20047998-03d6-dc13-3748-3503d4ef255a-P/latest.
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* Before they sat down for the interview, Trump showed Stahl around his office—the massive room with a massive desk and massive windows, all overlooking Fifth Avenue and Central Park. From this perch, he launched into a tirade against the media.
“There were no cameras—there was nothing going on,” Stahl later recalled. “I said, ‘You know, that is getting tired. Why are you doing this? You’re doing it over and over, and it’s boring. And it’s time to end that. You know, you’ve won the nomination. Why do you keep hammering this?’”
“You know why I do it?” Trump responded, according to Stahl. “I do it to discredit you all and demean you all so that when you write negative stories about me, no one will believe you.”